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August 28, 2012

Dear Fellow Herman Miller Shareholder,

I am pleased to report in Fiscal 2012 we significantly improved our operating results, further strengthened our balance sheet, and put in place 
significant building blocks toward our long-term strategic vision. The exceptional talent, creativity, and dedication of our employee-owners, 
channel partners, suppliers, and creative network led to these accomplishments. We are confident that these actions will enable us to create 
value for you and the other members of our stakeholder community. 

We are on the verge of a terrific new era for Herman Miller. Why? Because our customers' worlds are changing. New technologies are resulting 
in dramatic changes in the ways in which people live, learn, work, and heal. The rapid development of emerging economies around the globe 
is resulting in more individuals and organizations believing in, and valuing, good design and high-performance products.  Technology is making 
it increasingly easier to target, reach, and serve a broader audience of potential customers. We believe our heritage, people, and core capabilities 
provide a unique opportunity for Herman Miller to lead in this new era. In many ways, we have been building toward this new reality for several 
years. 

We continue to believe the physical workplace will rise in importance, as the need to capitalize on collective human intelligence becomes more 
pressing. Therefore, we are confident our core value proposition of designing and delivering products and services that improve the productivity, 
health, and comfort of knowledge workers will continue to be relevant for the foreseeable future. At the same time, we are uniquely positioned 
to serve a growing mix of customers, including individuals who use our products in their homes and organizations that use our products in their 
businesses, hospitals, and universities. We serve both small entrepreneurs and large global corporations, increasingly located in countries 
beyond North America. 

To serve this broader mix of customers, we are developing new channels to market that enable us to serve customers how and where they 
want. A robust pipeline of new products and services will allow us to grow in importance and relevance to these customers by solving their and 
their employee's problems. And we are making deliberate investments to broaden the general awareness of Herman Miller and how we create 
a better world for our customers, employees, channel partners, and neighbors. 

Highlights 

This year we recorded sales of $1.7 billion, a 4.5% increase over our sales in 2011 and 30% greater than we recorded at the bottom of the 
“Great Recession.”  We also achieved a 50 basis-point improvement in operating margin and 22% increase in earnings per share-diluted. The 
revenue growth and improved operating margins resulted in cash flow from operations of $90 million. Cash flow from operations included the 
impact of contributing $65 million to our pension plans. Over the past few years we have reduced our level of long-term debt and unfunded 
pension obligations to further strengthen our balance sheet. 
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Given our improved operating results and strengthened financial position, the Board of Directors approved an increase in our quarterly cash 
dividend to $0.09 per share payable in October 2012, the highest quarterly rate in Herman Miller's history as a dividend-paying company. This 
change represents an increase of over 300% from the current dividend payout of $0.022 per share.

We were able to make meaningful progress on a number of important initiatives in our long-term growth strategy. Despite a difficult economic 
climate in Europe, the International team exceeded their goal and grew sales 20% last year. Each of the main regions achieved a year-over-
year increase in sales.  For several years, furniture manufacturer and dealer POSH, headquartered in Hong Kong, has been an ally of ours.  
This year we completed our acquisition of POSH, and we are now carefully integrating the two companies. POSH has a great design heritage 
and distribution system throughout China.

Our Specialty and Consumer business opened an experimental Pop Up Shop last May in SoHo in New York City.  It was a great success in 
launching The Herman Miller Collection, a group of products that includes our designs from the 1940s, 1950s, and 1960s, new designs from 
companies like Magis and Mattiazzi, and new designs under development right now at Herman Miller. We opened a new wood manufacturing 
facility in Hildebran, North Carolina, where Herman Miller and Geiger can innovate, develop, and manufacture reference points for modern craft 
furniture.  Our Specialty and Consumer business grew its sales 18% last year.

Our North American Segment reported flat year-over-year sales. While demand from commercial customers continued to grow, sales to healthcare 
and government customers declined year-over-year. The healthcare industry is wrapped in uncertainties, as hospital CEOs try to navigate the 
new and always changing healthcare realities in the U.S.  Our government business slowed significantly, not surprising given a sluggish economy 
and pressure in Washington to cut expenditures. In addition, we divested of three North American dealers as part of our strategy to build our 
distribution network with independent owner-operators.  

Beyond the numbers, the North American teams made significant progress on a number of fronts. Sales to colleges and universities reached 
a new milestone of $90 million.  This great work results from a multi-year, targeted marketing, knowledge, and selling strategy.  Our Thrive 
Portfolio of ergonomic products recently added 10 new products, and the team's revenue is up 72% from last year. The SAYL chair, designed 
by Yves Béhar, has become a resounding hit worldwide.  This beautiful, comfortable, and surprisingly affordable chair has connected with people 
around the world.  Our Canvas Environments platform continues to evolve.  We added group-based products last year, and Canvas is expanding 
to meet our customers' needs for a simple, flexible, and refined solution to work environments. Our Healthcare team did a great job, despite the 
tough conditions, of combining the Herman Miller and Nemschoff brands last year, and we believe they are far more experienced and 
knowledgeable than our competitors.  Herman Miller has a strong foundation in a market that will regain its footing, and we have a plan to get 
us back on track for profitable growth.
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Change is part of Herman Miller's future

Naturally we cannot predict the future, and we are not perfect. We believe the ideas and values behind Herman Miller serve us in good stead.  
They give us a strong basis from which to serve our customers and communities, as we work to improve the everyday lives of people around 
the world. We also believe, as our former Chairman and CEO Max De Pree said, “We cannot become what we need to be by remaining what 
we are.”  The future for Herman Miller is an exciting one.

Thank you for supporting us with your investment and remaining a part of our community. 

Sincerely, 

Brian C. Walker

President and Chief Executive Officer 
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Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders 

The Annual Meeting of the Shareholders of Herman Miller, Inc. (the “Company”), will be held on October 8, 2012, by means of remote 
communication on the Internet at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/MLHR12, at 10:30 a.m. (EDT) for the following purposes: 
1.  To elect four directors, one for a term of two years and three for a term of three years
2.  To consider and vote upon a proposal to ratify the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm
3.  To vote, on an advisory basis, to approve the annual compensation paid to the Company's named executive officers
4.  To transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment thereof 

Shareholders of record at the close of business on August 10, 2012, will be entitled to vote at the meeting. 
Please note that this year's Annual Shareholders' Meeting will be held via the Internet only. The accompanying proxy materials include 

instructions on how to participate in the meeting and the means by which you may vote your shares of Company stock.

We encourage you to vote your Proxy, at your earliest convenience, by one of the following means: 

By visiting www.proxyvote.com on the Internet 

And if you request paper materials
By calling (within the U.S. or Canada) toll free at 1-800-690-6903; or
By signing and returning your Proxy card

You may also vote at the meeting via the internet by visiting www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/MLHR12 and following the instructions. 
Regardless of whether you expect to attend the meeting through the Internet, please vote your shares in one of the ways listed above. 

By order of the Board of Directors
Daniel C. Molhoek, Secretary to the Board 
August 28, 2012 
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Herman Miller, Inc.

855 East Main Avenue 
PO Box 302 
Zeeland, Michigan 49464-0302 

Proxy Statement Dated August 28, 2012 

This Proxy Statement and the accompanying Proxy, which are being made available to shareholders on or about August 28, 2012, are furnished 
to the shareholders of Herman Miller, Inc. (the "Company," "our" or similar pronouns), in connection with the solicitation by the Board of Directors 
of proxies to be used at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders. This meeting will be held on October 8, 2012, at 10:30 a.m. (EDT). Please note 
that this year's Annual Meeting will be held via the Internet rather than in person. 

How to Participate in the Electronic Meeting 

In order to participate in this year's Annual Meeting and submit your questions during the Annual Meeting, please log on to 
www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/MLHR12. You will need to enter the 12-digit control number received with your Notice or Proxy to enter 
the meeting. 

Solicitation of Proxies and Voting 

Each shareholder, as an owner of the Company, is entitled to vote on matters scheduled to come before the Annual Meeting. The use of proxies 
allows a shareholder to be represented at the Annual Meeting if he or she is unable to attend the meeting via the Internet. 

You can vote by any of the following methods 

• Vote by Internet Before the Annual Meeting Use your computer to access the website listed on the Proxy (or the written Notice mailed to 
you) and, with the Proxy or Notice in hand, record your vote. The deadline for Internet voting is 11:59 p.m. (EDT) on October 7, 2012. 

• Vote by Internet During the Annual Meeting Use your computer to access the website listed on the Proxy (or the written Notice mailed to 
you) and, with the Proxy or Notice in hand, follow the instructions to vote during the meeting.

If you request paper materials you may also 

• Vote by Telephone Call the toll free telephone number provided with your Proxy and, with the Proxy in hand, follow the instructions. The 
deadline for telephone voting is 11:59 p.m. (EDT) on October 7, 2012. 

• Vote by Mail Complete, date, and sign your Proxy. Mail it in the prepaid envelope provided so that it reaches us before October 8, 2012. 

If your Proxy is properly executed, the shares represented by the Proxy will be voted at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders and at any 
adjournment of that meeting. Where shareholders specify a choice, the Proxy will be voted as specified. If no choice is specified, the shares 
represented by the Proxy will be voted for the election of all nominees named in the Proxy and for the proposals described in this Proxy Statement. 

A Proxy may be revoked prior to its exercise by (i) delivering a written notice of revocation to the Secretary of the Company, (ii) executing 
and delivering a Proxy at a later date, or (iii) attending the meeting and voting via the Internet. However, attendance at the meeting does not 
automatically serve to revoke a Proxy. 
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Election of Directors

The Board of Directors of the Company has nominated James R. Kackley, David M. Brandon, Douglas D. French and John R. Hoke III  for 
election as directors. Mr. Kackley has been nominated to serve a two-year term until the 2014 annual meeting of shareholders; the other three 
nominees would serve until the 2015 annual meeting. As stated in our Bylaws, a person may not be elected as a director for a term that expires 
later than the annual meeting after attaining age 72. As such, Mr. Kackley, who is currently 70, is being nominated for a two year term only. Each 
of the nominees previously has been elected as a director by our shareholders, except for Mr. Brandon who was appointed to the Board in fiscal 
2011, and each of the nominees was approved by the Board following the recommendation of our Nominating and Governance Committee.

The latter portion of this Proxy Statement contains more information about the nominees. Unless otherwise directed by a shareholder's proxy, 
the persons named as proxy voters in the accompanying proxy will vote for the nominees named above. If any of the nominees become 
unavailable, which is not anticipated, the Board of Directors, at its discretion, may designate substitute nominees, in which event the enclosed 
proxy will be voted for such substituted nominees. Proxies cannot be voted for a greater number of people than the number of nominees named. 

A plurality of the votes cast at the meeting is required to elect the nominees as our directors. Accordingly, the four individuals who receive 
the largest number of votes cast at the meeting will be elected as directors. Shares not voted at the meeting, whether by abstention, broker 
non-vote, or otherwise, will not be treated as votes cast at the meeting. In an election where the only nominees are those recommended by the 
Board, any director who receives a greater number of votes "withheld" than those "for", will be required to tender his or her resignation under 
the majority voting provisions of our Board Governance Guidelines.  Under those Guidelines, the Nominating and Corporate Governance 
Committee is required to consider the resignation and recommend to the Board whether to accept or reject the tendered resignation.  The Board 
is required to act on the resignation no later than 90 days after certification of the shareholder vote at that meeting.  The Company will publicly 
disclose the Board's decision whether to accept any resignation or the reasons for rejecting the resignation, if applicable. 

The Board of Directors currently consists of eleven directors, of which ten are independent. The maximum number of directors for the Board 
is thirteen. The Amended and Restated Bylaws of Herman Miller, Inc. require that directors shall be divided into three classes, each class to be 
as nearly equal in number as possible. Each class shall hold office until the third succeeding Annual Meeting and until their successors shall be 
duly elected and qualified or until their removal or resignation.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the election of each person nominated by the Board. 

Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

Our Audit Committee has appointed Ernst & Young LLP (Ernst & Young) as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year 
ending June 1, 2013. Representatives of Ernst & Young will be present at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders and available to respond to 
appropriate questions submitted in advance. The Ernst & Young representatives will have the opportunity to make a statement if they so desire. 

Although the submission of this matter for approval by shareholders is not legally required, our Board of Directors believes that such submission 
follows sound corporate business practice and is in the best interests of our shareholders. If our shareholders do not approve the selection of 
Ernst & Young, the selection of this firm as our independent registered public accounting firm will be reconsidered by the Audit Committee. This 
ratification of the appointment of Ernst & Young requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast on this proposal. Unless otherwise 
instructed by you, brokers, banks, and other street name holders will have the discretionary authority to vote your shares on this matter.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the ratification of the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered 
public accounting firm.
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Disclosure of Fees Paid to Independent Auditors 

Aggregate fees billed to us for the fiscal years ended May 28, 2011 and June 2, 2012, by our independent registered public accounting firm, 
Ernst & Young, were as follows: 

Fiscal Year Ended May 28, 2011 June 2, 2012

Audit Fees(1) 1,234,700 1,107,100
Audit Related Fees(2) 3,800 —
Tax Fees(3) 52,385 134,000
Total $ 1,290,885 $ 1,241,100

(1) Includes fees billed for the audit of and accounting consultations related to our consolidated financial statements included on Form 10-K, 
including the associated audit of our internal controls, the review of our financial statements included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, 
and services in connection with statutory and regulatory filings. 

(2) Includes fees billed for audits of employee benefits plans and accounting consultations that are unrelated to the audit or review of financial 
statements. 

(3) Includes fees billed for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning. 

Our Audit Committee has adopted a policy for pre-approving services performed by Ernst & Young and other firms. This policy requires the 
Committee's pre-approval of all services that may be provided by our independent registered public accounting firm and certain audit services 
provided by other firms. The policy authorizes the committee to delegate to one or more of its members pre-approval authority with respect to 
permitted services. All of the services provided by Ernst & Young under the captions “Audit Fees,” “Audit Related Fees,” and “Tax Fees” were 
approved by the Audit Committee under this policy. 

Proposal to Approve, on an Advisory Basis, the Compensation Paid to the Company's Named Executive Officers

Consistent with our Board's recommendation, and as approved by our shareholders, we allow our shareholders the opportunity to vote, on an 
advisory and annual basis, on the compensation of our named executive officers.  As a result, you are asked to vote upon the following resolution 
at this year's annual meeting,

“RESOLVED, that the compensation paid to the Company's named executive officers, as disclosed in the Company's proxy statement for this 
annual meeting pursuant to the rules of the SEC, including the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, the compensation tables and narrative 
disclosure, is hereby APPROVED." 

The Executive Compensation Committee believes that the total compensation paid to the Chief Executive Officer and the other named executive 
officers, as disclosed in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, is fair and appropriate and should be approved by our shareholders. The 
compensation of the named executive officers is designed to vary with the results of the business and to reward consistent improvement in the 
results delivered to shareholders. In fiscal year 2011 the Board and Executive Compensation Committee reinstated the normalized base salary 
and Long Term Incentive compensation awards which had been temporarily reduced during the ongoing recession. In fiscal year 2012 changes 
in the base compensation of each executive officer primarily reflects changes in the benchmarking data for the position. The reduction in the 
variable element of each executive's compensation reflects the fact that the Company did not fully achieve its intended EVA targets for the fiscal 
year. The Executive Compensation Committee believes that the compensation to each named executive officer as disclosed in the Compensation 
Discussion and Analysis is appropriate in the light of the Company's and the officer's performance during the fiscal year. In addition, each of the 
elements of compensation at target has been benchmarked against comparable positions. 

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR this proposal. This vote is advisory and non-binding; however, the Board of Directors and  
Committee will review and consider the voting results in connection with future deliberations concerning our executive compensation program.
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Voting Securities and Principal Shareholders 

On August 10, 2012, we had 58,415,441 shares of common stock issued and outstanding, par value $.20 per share. Shareholders are entitled 
to one vote for each share of common stock registered in their names at the close of business on August 10, 2012, the record date fixed by our 
Board of Directors. Votes cast at the meeting and submitted by proxy will be tabulated by our transfer agent. As of August 10, 2012, no person 
was known by management to be the beneficial owner of more than five percent of our common stock, except as follows. 

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Amount and Nature
of Beneficial Ownership

Percent of Class

BlackRock Fund Advisors 3,694,924(1) 6.33
400 Howard Street
San Francisco, CA  94105
Capital Research Global Investors 3,520,000(2) 6.03
333 South Hope Street, 55th Floor
Los Angeles, CA  90071
The Vanguard Group, Inc. 3,082,688(3) 5.28
PO Box 2600
Vally Forge, PA  19482

(1) This information is based solely upon information as of June 30, 2012 contained in a filing with the SEC on August 13, 2012 by BlackRock Fund Advisors, including notice 
that it has sole voting and dispositive power as to 3,694,924 shares. 

(2) This information is based solely upon information as of June 30, 2012 contained in a filing with the SEC on August 14, 2012 by Capital Research Global Investors, including 
notice that it has sole voting and dispositive power as to 3,520,000 shares. 

(3) This information is based solely upon information as of June 30, 2012 contained in a filing with the SEC on August 13, 2012 by The Vanguard Group Inc., including notice 
that it has sole voting as to 84,300 shares and sole dispositive power as to 3,000,888 shares. 
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Director and Executive Officer Information

Security Ownership of Directors
The following table shows, as of August 10, 2012, the number of shares beneficially owned by each of the nominees and directors, except for 
Brian Walker who is reported in Security Ownership of Management below. Except as described in the notes following the table, the following 
persons have sole voting and dispositive power as to all of their respective shares. 

Name Amount and Nature of 
Beneficial Ownership(1)

Percent of 
 Class(2)

Mary Vermeer Andringa 55,108 0.09
David A. Brandon 5,051 0.01
Douglas D. French 45,391 0.08
J. Barry Griswell 30,009 0.05
John R. Hoke III 18,623 0.03
James R. Kackley 60,407 0.10
Lisa A. Kro 3,263 0.01
Dorothy A. Terrell 34,877 0.06
David O. Ulrich 95,895 0.16
Brian C. Walker see table below
Michael A. Volkema 114,950 0.20

(1) Shares shown for each director include the following number of shares that each director has the right to acquire beneficial ownership under stock options exercisable within 
60 days: 8,903 shares for Ms. Andringa; 28,519 shares for Mr. French; 50,090 shares for Mr. Kackley; 25,183 shares for Ms. Terrell; and 83,415 shares for Dr. Ulrich. 

(2) Percentages are calculated based upon shares outstanding plus shares that may be acquired under stock options exercisable within 60 days.

Security Ownership of Management 
The following table shows, as of August 10, 2012, the number of shares beneficially owned by each of the Named Executive Officers (NEOs) 
identified in the executive compensation tables of this Proxy Statement, and by all directors and executive officers as a group. Except as described 
in the notes following the table, the following persons have sole voting and dispositive power as to all of their respective shares. 

Name Amount and Nature of 
Beneficial Ownership(1)

Percent of 
Class(2)

Brian C. Walker 676,852 1.16
Gregory J. Bylsma 40,051 0.07
Kenneth L. Goodson 29,443 0.05
Andrew J. Lock 148,926 0.25
Curtis S. Pullen 89,721 0.15
All executive officers and directors as a group (22 persons)(3) 1,717,264 2.94

(1) Includes the following number of shares with respect to which the NEOs have the right to acquire beneficial ownership under stock options exercisable within 60 days: 
391,182 shares for Mr. Walker; 31,294 shares for Mr. Bylsma; 16,157 shares for Mr. Goodson; 94,820 shares for Mr. Lock; and 66,177 shares for Mr. Pullen. 

(2) Percentages are calculated based upon shares outstanding plus shares that may be acquired under stock options exercisable within 60 days. 
(3) Included in this number are 931,379 shares with respect to which executive officers and directors have the right to acquire beneficial ownership under options exercisable 

within 60 days. 
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Corporate Governance and Board Matters

Board Governance Guidelines
For many years, our Board of Directors has been committed to sound and effective corporate governance practices. These practices reflect the 
Board's long-standing philosophy that a proper structure, appropriate policies and procedures, and reflective cultural factors provide the 
cornerstone to good governance. The Board documented those practices by adopting our Board Governance Guidelines. These Guidelines 
address director responsibilities, the composition of the Board, required Board meetings and materials, Board committee composition and 
responsibilities, and other corporate governance matters. Under our Guidelines, a majority of the members of our Board must qualify as 
independent under the listing standards of the NASDAQ National Markets requirements. Our Guidelines also require the Board to have, among 
other committees, an Audit Committee, an Executive Compensation Committee, and a Nominating and Governance Committee, and that each 
member of those committees qualify as an independent director under the NASDAQ listing standards. Our Board Governance Guidelines, as 
well as the charters of each of the foregoing committees, are available for review on our website at www.hermanmiller.com/governance. 

The Board Governance Guidelines relating to the offices of Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chairperson state that “the Board believes 
the roles of CEO and Chairperson should normally be separated. If the positions are combined, the Board will closely monitor the performance 
and working relationship between the CEO/Chairperson and the Board and will establish a Lead Director who acts as a liaison between directors 
and the CEO/Chairman and who chairs meetings of the independent directors.” Consistent with our Guidelines, the roles of CEO and Chairperson 
are currently separate. 

The Board's Role in Risk Oversight
The Company's management annually engages in an enterprise risk management process, the key output of which is a series of risk matrices 
that is intended to identify and categorize strategic risks. The matrices also identify (1) those members of senior management who are responsible 
for monitoring each major risk, and (2) whether that risk is reviewed by the Board or a committee of the Board. The development of the matrices 
is facilitated by the Company's Business Risk Group, through discussions with executive and senior management. Management and the Business 
Risk Group annually review and discuss the risk assessment process and results with the Audit Committee, and if applicable recommend what 
risks are being adequately addressed, directly or indirectly, on a regular basis and of what risks should be further discussed with the full Board 
or other committees and the appropriate form and timing of such discussions. 

Under the Company's governance rules the Board of Directors is responsible for evaluating CEO performance, monitoring succession planning, 
reviewing the Company's major financial objectives, evaluating whether the business is being properly managed and overseeing the processes 
for maintaining the integrity of the Company with respect to its financial statements, public disclosures and compliance with laws. The Board 
has delegated the primary oversight for managing the risk with respect to some of these to the various board committees as described in the 
committee charters. 

During the past fiscal year the Audit Committee asked the Company's Business Risk Group to review the Company's compensation policies 
and practices to determine if those policies or practices are likely to have a material adverse impact on the Company. The Business Risk Group 
conducted its review in late 2011 and provided a report to the Committee in April 2012. In conducting its review of the plans the Committee 
considered both the structure of the compensation plans and the presence of risk mitigating features such as  caps, multi-year earning 
requirements, vesting provisions and “clawbacks.” Based on the evaluation the Committee determined that the Company's compensation policies 
and practices are not likely to create a material adverse impact on the Company.

Code of Conduct 

Our Board has adopted a Code of Conduct that applies to all of our employees, officers, and directors. This code also serves as the code of 
ethics for our CEO and senior financial officers. This code is posted on our website at http://www.hermanmiller.com/about-us/who-is-herman-
miller/policies-and-legal-stuff/corporate-code-of-conduct.html. Any changes to or waivers of the code must be approved by the Board of Directors 
and will be disclosed. The Code of Conduct was last updated in December 2009 and there were no modifications or waivers to the code in fiscal 
2012. The Code of Conduct meets the requirements of the NASDAQ listing standards.

Determination of Independence of Board Members 
As required by our Board Governance Guidelines, our Board has determined that each of our directors, other than Mr. Walker, qualifies as an 
“Independent Director,” as such term is defined in the NASDAQ listing standards, and that none of those independent directors has a material 
relationship with the Company. The Board's determination was made as a result of its review of completed individual questionnaires addressing 
the nature and extent of each member's relationship with the Company and taking into consideration the definition of “Independent Director” 
under the NASDAQ rules. Our Board also determined that each member of the Audit Committee, Executive Compensation Committee, and 
Nominating and Governance Committee meets the independence requirements applicable to those committees as prescribed by the NASDAQ 
listing standards, and, as to the Audit Committee, the applicable rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission. 
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Corporate Governance and Board Matters (continued)

Meeting Attendance
Each of our directors is expected to attend all meetings of the Board and applicable committee meetings. The Annual Meeting of Shareholders 
is held via the Internet, and the directors are encouraged to join the webcast. Nine of our directors did so for our 2011 Annual Shareholders' 
Meeting. During fiscal 2012, the Board held four meetings; each director attended at least 75 percent of the aggregate number of meetings of 
our Board and Board committees on which they served. Consistent with the requirements of our Guidelines, the independent members of our 
Board met in executive sessions, without the presence of management, at the conclusion of each regularly scheduled Board meeting.  

Communications with the Board 
Shareholders and other parties interested in communicating directly with one or more of our directors may do so by writing to us, c/o Corporate 
Secretary, 855 East Main Avenue, PO Box 302, Zeeland, Michigan 49464-0302. The Corporate Secretary will forward all relevant correspondence 
to the director or directors to whom the communication is directed. 

Director Nominations 
Our Bylaws contain certain procedural requirements applicable to shareholder nominations of directors. Shareholders may nominate a person 
to serve as a director if they provide written notice to us not earlier than the close of business on the 120th day and not later than the close of 
business on the 90th day prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year's Annual Meeting of Shareholders and, with respect to any special 
meeting of shareholders, not later than the close of business on the 10th day following the date on which the meeting is first publicly announced 
or, if there is no announcement, the 10th day following the date on which the notice of that meeting was first sent to our shareholders. The notice 
must include (1) the name and address of the shareholder providing notice and of the person or persons nominated, including information on 
the securities of the Company held by those individuals, including any derivative securities, the details of which are set forth in our Bylaws, (2) 
a representation that the shareholder is a current record holder and will continue to hold those shares through the date of the meeting and 
intends to attend the meeting in person or by proxy, (3) for each proposed nominee, (a) all information relating to that person that would be 
required to be disclosed in a proxy statement required to be made in connection with solicitations or proxies for election of directors in a contested 
election pursuant to Section 14 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 (including that person's written consent to be named in the proxy 
statement as a nominee and to serve as a director if elected), and (b) a description of all direct and indirect compensation and other material 
monetary arrangements existing during the past three years, as well as any other material relationships between or among the shareholders 
(and beneficial owner, if any) and their respective affiliates and associates and the proposed nominee and his or her respective affiliates and 
associates, including all information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 404 under Regulation S-K, and (4) the completed and signed 
questionnaire from each nominee with respect to the background and qualification of such person and the background of any other person or 
entity on whose behalf the nomination is being made.

Our Nominating and Governance Committee is responsible for reviewing the qualifications and independence of the members of the Board. 
To meet the needs of the Company in a rapidly changing environment, the Board Governance Guidelines explain that the Company requires a 
high-performance board of directors whose members subscribe to our values and meet the specific resource needs of the business. To that 
end, the Nominating and Governance Committee considers a number of factors it deems appropriate when considering candidates for the 
Board; such factors may include experience and knowledge of the Company's history and culture, technical experience and backgrounds such 
as manufacturing, design, marketing, technology, finance, management structure and philosophy, and experience as a senior executive of a 
public company. The Nominating and Governance Committee may consider such factors as race and gender as well as various industry 
experience in annually assessing and reviewing the current slate of directors and potential director candidates as the need arises. The Nominating 
and Governance Committee is responsible with the Board for assessing the appropriate skills and characteristics required of Board members 
in the context of the current make-up of the Board. These factors, and others as considered useful by the Nominating and Governance Committee 
or the Board, are reviewed in the context of an assessment of the perceived needs of the Board at a particular point in time. 

Other than the procedural requirements described above, the Board has not adopted a policy with regard to the consideration of director 
candidates nominated by shareholders. The Board believes that all candidates, by whomever nominated, should be evaluated in the same 
manner and under the same standards. 

Information about the Nominees and Directors 
Certain information with respect to the nominees for election at the Meeting, as well as each of the other Directors, is set forth on the following 
pages, including their names, ages, a brief description of their recent business experience, including present occupations and employment, 
certain directorships that each person held during the last five years, and the year in which each person became a Director of the Company. 
Additional information about each continuing Director is also included that describes some of the specific experiences, qualifications, attributes 
or skills that each Director possesses which the Board believes has prepared them to be effective Directors.
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Corporate Governance and Board Matters (continued)

Nominee for Election as Director For Term to Expire in 2014

Name and Age
Year First
Became

a Director
Principal Occupation(s) During Past 5 years Other Directorships of Public Companies

held during Past 5 years

James R. Kackley, 70 2003 President and Chief Operating Officer, Orion Energy Systems, Inc. -
Orion Energy Systems, Inc. July 2009 to May 2010 Chairman, Board of Directors

Director of various companies Perficient, Inc. -
since May 2002 Chairman, Board of Directors

PepsiAmericas Inc.
Ryerson, Inc.

Mr. Kackley was elected Chairman of the Board of Perficient, Inc. in 2011. He also serves as Chairman of the Board of Orion Energy Systems, Inc. after 
having served as President and Chief Operating Officer. Prior to joining the Board of Directors of Herman Miller, Inc., Mr. Kackley served as the Chief Financial 
Officer for Andersen Worldwide until 1999. He was a Certified Public Accountant and the Managing Partner for Arthur Andersen for a number of its regional 
office groups including Northern Florida and the Midwest Region. Mr. Kackley is a member of the Board of Directors' Audit Committee and the Audit Committee 
of Perficient, Inc. He also served on the Audit Committees of PepsiAmericas Inc., Orion Energy Systems, Inc. and Ryerson, Inc.

Mr. Kackley's financial and accounting expertise, his previous experience as a Certified Public Accountant, and service as a director of other leading U.S. 
companies allows him to provide valuable input to management and the Board of Directors and therefore, the Board recommended him for re-election as a 
director.
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Corporate Governance and Board Matters (continued)

Nominees for Election as Director For Term to Expire in 2015

Name and Age
Year First
Became

a Director
Principal Occupation(s) During Past 5 years Other Directorships of Public Companies

held during Past 5 years

Douglas D. French, 58 2002 Managing Director, Santé Health Ventures Emageon
since June 2007

Mr. French has served as the founding partner of Santé Health Ventures, an early-stage healthcare venture fund since 2007. Prior to joining Santé Health 
Ventures, he served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of Ascension Health, the largest not-for-profit health system in the U.S. Mr. French has 
also served as CEO for St. Mary's Medical Center and St. Vincent Health System, both of midwest Indiana. He has more than three decades of health 
management experience including serving as a director for numerous public and private companies. 

Mr. French's governance experience, as well as his leadership roles and expertise in the health management industry, provides a valuable resource to 
management and led the Board of Directors to recommend him for re-election as a director.

David A. Brandon, 60 2011 Athletic Director, University of Michigan Domino's Pizza, Inc.
since March 2010 DTE Energy Company

Chairman & CEO, Domino's Pizza, Inc. Kaydon Corporation
March 1999 to March 2010 The TJX Companies

Burger King, Corp.
Northwest Airlines

Mr. Brandon is the Director of Intercollegiate Athletics at the University of Michigan, where he has served since March 2010. Prior to that he served as Chief 
Executive Officer of Domino's Pizza, Inc., an international pizza delivery company operating over 9,000 stores in over 60 countries. Mr. Brandon was also 
President and Chief Executive Officer of Valassis, Inc. from 1989 to 1998 and Chairman of its Board of Directors from 1997 to 1998. Mr. Brandon was first 
appointed to the Board on February 18, 2011.
 
Mr. Brandon's 22 years of experience as a Chief Executive Officer of two publicly-traded companies, his experience in global brand management and his 
for-profit and non-profit board service bring a unique perspective to the Board of Directors; accordingly, the Board recommended his nomination for re-election 
as a director.

John R. Hoke III, 47 2005 Vice President, Nike Global Design, None
since January 2010

Vice President, Footwear Design, Converse, Inc.
March 2008 to January 2010

Vice President, Global Footwear Design, Nike, Inc.
July 2003 to March 2008

Since joining Nike, Inc. in 1993, Mr. Hoke has led the communication of Nike's culture of creativity internally and externally. He is currently the Vice President 
of Global Design inspiring and overseeing an international team of designers. Mr. Hoke also serves as a director to several not-for-profit organizations relating 
to art and design. 

Mr. Hoke's design expertise, both domestically and internationally, including his leadership role in a major, global enterprise, brings additional, insightful 
perspective to our Board discussions and decisions. These factors contributed to his recommendation by the Board for continued service as a director.
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Corporate Governance and Board Matters (continued)

Directors Whose Terms Expire in 2014

Name and Age
Year First
Became

a Director
Principal Occupation(s) During Past 5 years Other Directorships of Public Companies

held during Past 5 years

Mary Vermeer Andringa, 62 1999 President and Chief Executive Officer None
Vermeer Corporation since February 2003

Since 1989, Ms. Andringa has been an executive officer of Vermeer Corporation, a leading manufacturer of agricultural, construction, environmental and 
industrial equipment located in Pella, Iowa. Ms. Andringa's tenure with Vermeer Corporation has spanned the gamut of functional expertise from marketing 
to international sales and acquisitions. With over 25 years of manufacturing experience, Ms. Andringa is currently the Chair of the National Association of 
Manufacturers which represents over 10,000 U.S. based manufacturing entities. 

Ms. Andringa's experience as a Chief Executive Officer coupled with her focused efforts on lean manufacturing and continuous improvement initiatives and 
her involvement in international product sales and distribution provides an important resource to management and the Board of Directors.

J. Barry Griswell, 63 2004 President, Community Foundation of Greater Och-Ziff Capital Management
Des Moines since July 2008 Group LLC

Chairman of the Board, Principal Financial National Financial Partners Corp.
Group, Inc. and Principal Life Principal Financial Group,

January 2002 to December 2008 Inc. and Principal Life
Chief Executive Officer, Principal Financial

Group, Inc. and Principal Life
January 2000 to May 2008

Mr. Griswell is the former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Principal Financial Group and Principal Life, a global financial services provider which 
offers a wide range of insurance and financial products and services. With more than 30 years of financial services experience, Mr. Griswell was the President 
and CEO of MetLife Marketing Corporation prior to joining the Principal Financial Group. He is a former director of the Principal Financial Group and non-
executive chairman of its board of directors. Mr. Griswell is currently a director of National Financial Partners Corp and Och-Ziff Capital Management where 
he serves as the chair of the Executive Compensation Committees of both companies . 

Mr. Griswell's financial expertise, governance experience and service as an executive of a publicly traded corporation make him a key contributor to the Board 
of Directors. 

Brian C. Walker, 50 2003 President and Chief Executive Officer Briggs & Stratton Corporation
Herman Miller, Inc. since July 2004

Since 2004, Mr. Walker has served as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Previously, he held other executive leadership positions with 
the Company having served as the Chief Operating Officer of Herman Miller Inc., President of Herman Miller North America and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. 
Walker is a Certified Public Accountant and serves on the Detroit Board of Directors of the Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago. 

Mr. Walker is the only member of Company management on the Board of Directors, which provides an important link to the Company's ongoing business 
operations and challenges. Moreover, Mr. Walker's knowledge of the Company's history and culture, operational and executive leadership roles with the 
Company, accounting acumen and governance experience make him an important contributor to Board deliberations.
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Corporate Governance and Board Matters (continued)

Directors Whose Terms Expire in 2013

Name and Age
Year First
Became

a Director
Principal Occupation(s) During Past 5 years Other Directorships of Public Companies

held during Past 5 years

Dorothy A. Terrell, 67 1997 Founder and Managing Partner, FirstCap Advisors General Mills, Inc.
since October 2010

Venture Partner, First Light Capital
from April 2003 to 2010

President and CEO, Initiative for a Competitive
Inner City from April 2005 to June 2007

Ms. Terrell is the Founder and Managing Partner of FirstCap Advisors, a venture capital and advisory firm committed to helping innovative technology companies 
move successfully through the critical early stages of product and business development. Prior to this she was a Partner at First Light Capital, a venture capital 
fund investing in early stage products and service companies in enterprise software and integration, communications and business-to-business e-commerce. 
Concurrent with her service to First Light Capital, she was President and CEO of the Initiative for a Competitive Inner City, a national not-for-profit organization. 
Ms. Terrell has over twenty years of experience in the technology industry. At NMS Communications she was Senior Vice President of Worldwide Sales and 
concurrently President of Platforms & Services Group. She was also a Corporate Officer at Sun Microsystems, Inc. and President of its subsidiary, SunExpress. 

Ms. Terrell's experience as a senior executive, her knowledge and service in the technology arena and service to other boards makes her an important resource 
as a member of the Board.

Lisa A. Kro, 47 2012 Co-Founder, Managing Director and CFO Famous Dave's of America
Mill City Capital L.P. since April 2010

Managing Director and CFO, Goldner Hawn Johnson & Morrison
September 2004 to March 2010

Ms. Kro, a Certified Public Accountant, is a founding partner of Mill City Capital, L.P., where she is Chief Financial Officer and Managing Director. From 
September 2004 to March 2012, Ms. Kro was the Chief Financial Officer and a Managing Director of Goldner Hawn Johnson & Morrison. Prior to joining 
Goldner Hawn she was a partner at KPMG LLP, an international public accounting firm. Ms. Kro was first appointed to the Board on January 18, 2012. 

Ms. Kro's service in auditing as well as her experience in the finance and capital environments enables her to contribute to a number of financial and strategic 
areas of the Company. Her experience on other boards include service as the financial expert of the audit committee of another publicly traded company 
brings an additional level of oversight to the Company's financial accounting controls and reporting.

David O. Ulrich, 58 2001 Professor, University of Michigan since 1982 None

Dr. Ulrich has served as a professor of Business Administration at the University of Michigan since 1982. He also provides counsel to more than half of the 
Fortune 200 companies, focusing on strategic management and competitive advantage issues as well as human resource management, leadership culture 
and talent. He has published 27 books and hundreds of articles on these and related topics.

Dr. Ulrich's academic research and consulting on strategic management and other business issues provide unique and important talents to the Board.
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Corporate Governance and Board Matters (continued)

Directors Whose Terms Expire in 2013 (continued)

Name and Age
Year First
Became

a Director
Principal Occupation(s) During Past 5 years Other Directorships of Public Companies

held during Past 5 years

Michael A. Volkema, 56 1995 Chairman of the Board, Herman Miller, Inc. Wolverine Worldwide, Inc.
since October 2000 Champion Enterprises, Inc.

Applebee's

Mr. Volkema has been Chairman of the Board of Directors of Herman Miller, Inc. since 2000. He also served as CEO and President of the Company. Mr. 
Volkema has more than 20 years of experience as a senior executive in the home and office furnishings industry. This experience includes corporate leadership, 
branded marketing, international operations, and public company finance and accounting through audit committee service.

Mr. Volkema is a key contributor to the Board based upon his knowledge of the Company's history and culture, operational experience, board governance 
knowledge, service on boards of other publicly held companies and industry experience. 

The Nominating and Governance Committee has not received any recommended nominations from any of our shareholders in connection with 
our 2012 Annual Meeting. Except for Mr. Brandon, who was appointed to our Board in fiscal 2011, the nominees who are standing for election 
as directors at the 2012 Annual Meeting are incumbent directors, and each nominee was recommended by the Committee. Mr. Brandon was 
recommended to serve as a director by the Company's Chief Executive Officer.
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Board Committees 

Our Board has four standing committees. Committee responsibilities are detailed in written charters. These charters are available on our Internet 
website at www.hermanmiller.com/charters. The committees are as follows: 

Nominating and Governance Committee 
We have a Nominating and Governance Committee comprised of Dorothy A. Terrell (chair), David A. Brandon and David O. Ulrich. The Nominating 
and Governance Committee develops and recommends to the Board governance standards and policies and board compensation including 
that of the Chairman of the Board. In addition, the committee identifies and recommends to the Board candidates for election to the Board. The 
Committee met four times during the last fiscal year. 

Executive Committee 
We have an Executive Committee comprised of Michael A. Volkema (chair), J. Barry Griswell, James R. Kackley and Dorothy A. Terrell. The 
Executive Committee acts from time to time on behalf of the Board in managing our business and affairs (except as limited by law or our Bylaws) 
and is delegated certain assignments and functions by the Board of Directors. The Committee met four times during the last fiscal year. 

Audit Committee 
We have an Audit Committee comprised of James R. Kackley (chair), Mary V. Andringa and Lisa A. Kro. Mr. Kackley is qualified as and serves 
as the “Audit Committee financial expert” within the meaning of the applicable SEC regulations. This committee, composed entirely of independent 
directors under the applicable listing standards of the NASDAQ listing requirements, as well as the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002, is responsible for overseeing management's reporting practices, internal controls and risk management on behalf of the Board of Directors. 
The Committee is also responsible for appointing, approving the compensation of, and overseeing our independent registered public accounting 
firm. The Audit Committee met eight times during the last fiscal year. The June 2012 meeting included an annual review of the Committee's 
written charter. 

Executive Compensation Committee 
We have an Executive Compensation Committee comprised of J. Barry Griswell (chair), Douglas D. French and John R. Hoke III. The Executive 
Compensation Committee recommends to the Board the annual executive incentive plan and the annual remuneration of our Chief Executive 
Officer and President, approves the annual remuneration and executive incentive plan for the other executive officers, approves the grants of 
employee stock options and other equity awards, and acts as the administrative committee for our employee stock option and long-term incentive 
plans.  A description of the Committee's processes and procedures for the consideration and determination of executive and director compensation 
is set forth under the caption “Compensation Disclosure and Analysis -The Executive Compensation Committee” below in this Proxy Statement. 
The Committee met four times during the last fiscal year.

Executive Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
No member of the Executive Compensation Committee is or has been an officer or employee of the Company or had any relationship that is 
required to be disclosed as a transaction with a related party except as noted under Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions. In 
addition, no current executive officer of the Company has ever served as a member of the Board of Directors or Compensation Committee of 
any other entity that has or has had one or more executive officers serving as a member of our Board of Directors or Compensation Committee. 
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Report of the Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee's purpose is to oversee the accounting and financial reporting processes of the company; the audits of the 
company's financial statements and management's assessment of the company's internal controls; the qualifications of the public 
accounting firm engaged as the company's independent registered public accounting firm; and the performance of the company's internal 
auditors and independent registered public accounting firm. The Committee's function is more fully described in its charter, which the 
Board has adopted and is available on the Company's web site at http://www.hermanmiller.com/content/dam/hermanmiller/documents/
investors/audit_committee_charter.pdf. The Committee reviews the charter on an annual basis. The Board annually reviews the NASDAQ 
listing standards definition of independence for audit committee members and has determined that each member of the Committee meets 
that standard.
Management is responsible for the preparation, presentation, and integrity of the Company's financial statements, accounting and financial 
reporting principles, internal controls, and procedures designed to ensure compliance with accounting standards, applicable laws, and 
regulations. The Company's independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, is responsible for performing an 
independent audit of the consolidated financial statements and expressing an opinion on the conformity of those financial statements with 
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Ernst & Young LLP is also responsible for auditing and providing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. 
We have reviewed - and discussed with management and Ernst & Young LLP - the Company's audited financial statements for the year 
ended June 2, 2012, management's assessment of the effectiveness of the company's internal controls over financial reporting, and Ernst 
& Young LLP's evaluation of the Company's internal controls over financial reporting.
We have discussed with Ernst & Young LLP the matters required to be discussed by the Statement on Auditing Standards No. 114, The 
Auditor's Communication with Those Charged with Governance (which superseded Auditing Standards No. 61, Communication with Audit 
Committees Concerning Independence, as amended.) 
We have received and reviewed the written disclosures and the letter from Ernst & Young LLP required by the applicable requirements of 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding Ernst and Young LLP's communications with the Audit Committee regarding 
independence and we have discussed with Ernst & Young LLP their independence including a consideration of the compatibility of non-
audit services with their independence. 
Based on the reviews and discussions referred to above, we recommended to the Board of Directors that the financial statements referred 
to above be included in the Company's Form 10-K Report for the year ended June 2, 2012, and we selected Ernst & Young LLP as the 
independent auditor for fiscal year 2013. The Board is recommending that shareholders ratify that selection at the annual meeting.

James R. Kackley (chair) Mary Vermeer Andringa Lisa A. Kro
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Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Executive Summary of Fiscal 2012 Compensation
In fiscal 2012 the Company continued its recovery from the “Great Recession” as it achieved increased sales and improved operating results. 
Sales in fiscal 2012 totaled $1.7 billion, an increase of 4.5% over fiscal 2011. Operating earnings in fiscal 2012 improved 11.6% from the prior 
year level. The company's diluted earnings per share in fiscal 2012 of $1.29 was 21.7% above the prior year level of $1.06.  The Company also 
completed its acquisition of the POSH companies in China. At the 2011 annual shareholders' meeting more than 90% of the votes cast on the 
advisory vote on executive compensation proposal were in favor of our named executive officer compensation, as disclosed in our proxy 
statement. Our Board of Directors and Executive Compensation Committee (Committee) reviewed these voting results and determined, based 
upon the significant level of support, that no fundamental changes to our executive compensation program are necessary at this time. The 
Committee believes that the performance of the executive compensation programs during 2012 was consistent with our compensation philosophy 
and objectives as described below and is appropriate in light of the Company's overall performance. 

Overview of Compensation Program
The Committee is responsible for establishing the executive compensation programs at Herman Miller, Inc. The Committee seeks to ensure 
that the compensation paid to the Company's corporate officers is fair, reasonable, competitive and consistent with our compensation philosophy.

The Company is required to provide information regarding our compensation policies and decisions for our President and Chief Executive 
Officer (CEO), Chief Financial Officer (CFO), and the three other most highly compensated executive officers. We refer to our CEO, CFO and 
the other highly compensated executive officers, for whom disclosure is required, collectively as our “Named Executive Officers” or “NEOs.” 
This Compensation Discussion and Analysis (CD&A) is intended to provide information regarding, among other things, the overall objectives of 
our compensation program and each element of compensation provided to the NEOs. 

The Executive Compensation Committee
The Committee is comprised of three directors, each qualifying as an independent director under NASDAQ's listing requirements. The Board 
has determined that each member of the Committee also meets the definition of independence under Herman Miller's corporate governance 
guidelines and further each member qualifies as a non-employee director for purposes of Rule 16b-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934. 

The Committee's primary functions are to oversee the compensation philosophy and strategy, to determine or recommend the compensation 
of Company officers, including the NEOs, and to act as the Administrative Committee for the Company's key executive compensation plans. 

The Committee is responsible for recommendations to the full Board with respect to all aspects of the annual compensation of the Company's 
President and Chief Executive Officer. The Committee, based upon recommendations from our CEO, approves the annual compensation for 
all other corporate officers covered by Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 including the NEOs (Corporate Officers). Our President 
and Chief Executive Officer establishes the base salary of all other Company executives. The Committee establishes any performance objectives 
for the Economic Value Added (EVA®) Incentive Cash Bonus Plan and the equity-based compensation plans, which cover the President and 
Chief Executive Officer, Corporate Officers, and executive employees of the Company. 

The Committee does not set or recommend compensation for the Board of Directors. The Nominating and Governance Committee is 
responsible for reviewing, and recommending to the Board of Directors, the amount and form of payment of director compensation.

Compensation Philosophy and Objectives
Our compensation philosophy, as formulated by management and endorsed by the Committee and by our Board of Directors, is to allow for an 
appropriate level of compensation risk and a corresponding compensation reward within a range that bears a relationship to the competitive 
market, to the responsibilities of the employee and to the performance of the employee and the Company.  Consistent with this philosophy, the 
key objectives of our executive compensation program are to:
• Link a material portion of executives' total annual compensation directly to the Company's performance
• Reinforce our values, build corporate community, and focus employees on common goals
• Align the interests of executives with the long-term interests of shareholders 
• Attract, motivate, and retain executives of outstanding ability. 

The compensation program is intended to provide executives, who are judged to perform their duties at a proficient level, with compensation 
that approximates the market median compensation for their position based upon the data provided by Pay Governance (as described later in 
the Benchmarking of Compensation section). The compensation program is also intended to have the portion of a Corporate Officer's 
compensation determined by the Company's performance increase as the responsibility and authority of the Corporate Officer increases. The  
Committee believes that the compensation program, through the use of base salary, annual incentive cash bonus and long-term incentives,
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Compensation Discussion and Analysis (continued)

operates in a manner consistent with these objectives and rewards performance that generates both consistent and long-term enhancement of 
shareholder value. The compensation program and its various elements are described in more detail in the section entitled Elements of the 
Compensation Program. 

External Consultants
The Committee has the authority and sole discretion to select independent compensation consultants, legal consultants and other advisors to 
provide it independent advice. During fiscal 2012, the Committee retained Pearl Meyers and Partners as independent compensation consultants 
to the Committee. Pearl Meyers was not permitted to provide other consulting services to the Company. The independent services, which Pearl 
Meyers provided to the Committee, included reviewing the elements of compensation of the President and Chief Executive Officer, as well as 
the other Corporate Officers and comparing those elements to the Company's compensation philosophy and objectives and to market practices 
for such compensation. Pearl Meyers concluded that the compensation program established for those officers is consistent with the Company's 
compensation philosophy and objectives and with market practices. 

The Company, in fiscal 2012, with the approval of the Committee, retained Pay Governance to provide marketplace compensation data and 
compensation consulting services to management and, from time to time, other specialized work as may be required, such as conducting a 
review of retirement or other benefit programs. For fiscal 2013 the Company, with the approval of the Committee, has retained Meridian 
Compensation Partners, LLC to provide such consulting services.

Benchmarking of Compensation
To ensure that executive compensation is competitive in the marketplace, the Committee uses marketplace compensation data to compare our 
compensation programs to general market pay practices. The Committee chose to benchmark fiscal 2012 compensation levels against industrial 
companies in general because it minimizes the potential volatility of market pay data due to changes in database/survey participation or mergers/
acquisitions; lessens the impact that a single entity can have on the overall data; provides a more consistent result; and better reflects the market 
in which the Company competes for executive talent. The Committee believes the competitive market for executive talent in which the Company 
operates is the general corporate talent market, not just the office furniture or West Michigan talent markets.  

Pay Governance provided the Committee with benchmarking data, market practices and trends to provide appropriate context for the 
Committee's deliberations. Our CEO makes recommendations to the Committee regarding the compensation package for each of the Corporate 
Officers (other than himself). The CEO's recommendations are based on the Pay Governance information, his evaluation of the individual's 
performance, the Company's performance and other factors. The Committee's approval of the CEO's recommendations as to the compensation 
of Corporate Officers (other than the CEO) is based upon the Committee's review of the information from Pay Governance relative to market 
pay, advice from Pearl Meyers and their own judgment, including their judgment on the relative performance of both the Company and its 
executives. Based upon these same factors relative to the CEO's performance, the Committee makes a recommendation to the full Board for 
the CEO's compensation. The Board of Directors determines all aspects of the compensation of the CEO. 

Pay Governance used the following survey sources when analyzing fiscal 2012 market competitiveness pay levels of Corporate Officers; 
Towers Perrin Executive Compensation Database, Watson Wyatt Top Management Compensation Report, and the Mercer Executive Database 
(collectively these are referred to as “Published Survey Data”). The Published Survey Data is used to determine competitiveness of base pay, 
cash incentive bonus and long term incentive awards. Pay Governance uses a regression analysis and aging to make allowances for time 
differences in the data and to align the data so that it is representative of companies having revenues equivalent to the operations managed by 
our individual Corporate Officers. The entities within the comparator groups were not disclosed to the Company.

Pay Governance compares the base salary, target total cash and target total direct compensation of each Corporate Officer to the 25th, 50th 
(market median) and 75th percentile of the Published Survey Data for a comparable benchmark position. Each of the compensation elements 
is explained in more detail below. Positions are benchmarked based upon comparability of responsibilities and the annual revenues of the 
operations managed. 

The Committee annually reviews executive information provided by Pay Governance which reflects the components of and total direct 
compensation to the NEOs and also information relating to the other elements of compensation including payments under severance or change 
in control obligations. The Committee uses this information to help it determine that the Company's compensation program is consistent with 
market norms and with our compensation philosophy and the objectives referenced above. 
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Compensation Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Elements of the Compensation Program

Our Corporate Officer compensation package includes five distinct elements:
1. Base Salary
2. Annual Executive Incentive Cash Bonus
3. Long-Term Equity Incentives
4. Retirement and Health Benefits 
5. Perquisites and Other Executive Compensation Plans

The first two elements form an executive's total cash compensation and the first three elements form an executive's total direct compensation 
package. It is the Company's goal to align the compensation packages with prevailing market rates. The alignment is accomplished primarily 
through adjustments to each Corporate Officer's total direct compensation. 

Each element of total direct compensation is benchmarked to the prevailing market; however, globally, in certain circumstances local practices 
related to long-term incentives and bonuses may be significantly different than those applicable to the Company as a whole. In those 
circumstances, the Company emphasizes consistency in the application of its long-term incentive programs and adjusts base and bonus so as 
to maintain total direct compensation in an amount that is consistent with the Company's compensation philosophy. The compensation program 
is intended to provide executives who are judged to perform their duties at a proficient level with a total direct compensation package that 
approximates the market median compensation for such position based upon the data provided by Pay Governance. However, because of the 
performance based nature of the Annual Executive Incentive Cash Bonus and the Long-Term Equity Incentives, actual compensation of the 
NEOs may vary from market rates, from year to year.

The Committee determined that the total direct compensation (base salary, target incentive cash bonus and target long-term incentive grant) 
for each NEO for 2012, and as approved for fiscal 2013, is within the benchmarked range, given the NEO's respective performance, position 
and the Company's performance.

Base Salary

The CEO evaluates each of the Corporate Officers annually and makes recommendations to the Committee for base salary. The base salary 
of the CEO is set by the Board of Directors. In general, but subject to individual circumstances, base salaries reflect market rates for comparative 
positions and the NEO's historical level of proficiency and performance.  The base salary of NEOs assessed by the CEO and the Committee 
to be proficient, is generally targeted at the market median of the Published Survey Data. The base compensation of NEOs with less experience  
would generally be below the market median and those judged to be performing at a level higher than proficient  would generally be above the 
market median. The Committee in each circumstance uses its judgment and experience in setting the specific level of base salary relative to 
the general market median data.
Base Salary in Fiscal 2012 
The Board and the Committee granted general merit increases for fiscal 2012 to the Company's employees including most of the NEOs. The 
Committee and Board of Directors on July 18, 2011, approved the following base salaries of the NEOs for fiscal 2012. 

• The Board of Directors set the base salary of Brian C. Walker, President and Chief Executive Officer at  $740,000 (a 2.8% increase) which 
reflects the Board's determination that Mr. Walker had made a significant contribution in achieving the Company's continued improvement in 
operations and in the implementation of the Company's long term strategy. 

• The Committee set the base salary of Gregory J. Bylsma, Chief Financial Officer at $350,000 (a 16.7% increase). In fiscal 2012 Mr. Bylsma 
completed his third full year as CFO. Mr. Bylsma's base salary for fiscal 2012 is below the market median for his position but the increase 
reflects the Committee's determination that he continues gaining experience and effectiveness in this role. 

• The Committee set the base salary of Kenneth L. Goodson, Executive Vice President-Operations at $285,000 (a 5.6% increase). This base 
salary approximates the market median and reflects the fact that he is proficient in his role. 

• The Committee set the base salary of Andrew J. Lock, President Herman Miller International at $365,625 (a 2.3% increase - the percentage 
increase of which is measured in pounds sterling). This base salary is at the market median and reflects Mr. Lock's development in his role 
as President of Herman Miller International, his continued accelerated implementation of the Company's international strategy and the 
improvement in the financial and operational metrics of Herman Miller International. 

• The Committee set the base salary of Curtis S. Pullen, President of Herman Miller North America at $365,000 (a 4.3% increase). Mr. Pullen 
completed his third full year in this role. This increase reflects the fact that his base salary is somewhat below the market median and the 
Committee's determination that he had continued to grow in his role and that his performance helped drive an increase in the Company's 
North American market performance. 

Each of the base salaries set for the NEOs by the Committee were within the range established for their performance and position.
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Base Salary in Fiscal 2013 
The Board and the Committee have decided to grant general merit increases for fiscal 2013 to the Company's employees including most of the 
NEOs. The Committee and Board of Directors approved the following changes in the base salaries of the NEOs for fiscal 2013. 

• The Board of Directors approved an increase in the base salary of Brian Walker, President and Chief Executive Officer to $800,000 (8.1%). 
This increase reflects the Board's determination that Mr. Walker made a significant contribution in managing the Company through the 
recession and continued implementation of the Company's long term strategy while at the same time his compensation is below market 
median. 

• The Committee approved an increase in the base salary of Greg Bylsma, Chief Financial Officer to $375,000 (7.1%).  The increase in Greg 
Bylsma's base salary for fiscal 2013 reflects his accelerated progress in gaining experience and effectiveness as Chief Financial Officer. 

• The Committee approved an increase in the base salary of Ken Goodson, Executive Vice President-Operations to $295,000 (3.5%). This 
increase reflects the fact that he is proficient in his role as head of operations. 

• The Committee approved an increase in the base salary of Andy Lock, President Herman Miller International to $380,000 (6.2% - the percentage 
increase of which is measured in pounds sterling). This increase reflects Mr. Lock's development in his role as President of Herman Miller 
International, his continued accelerated implementation of the Company's international strategy, the improvement in the financial and 
operational metrics of Herman Miller International and that his base salary is approaching market median. 

• The Committee approved an increase in the base salary of Curt Pullen, President of Herman Miller North America to $375,000 (2.7%). Mr. 
Pullen completed his second full year as President of North American Office and Learning Environments. This increase reflects the Committee's 
determination that he had continued to grow in his role and that his performance helped drive an increase in the Company's North American 
market share. 

Each of the base salaries set for the NEOs by the Committee were within the range established for their performance and position.

Annual Executive Incentive Cash Bonus

The annual executive incentive cash bonus for the Corporate Officers is paid pursuant to the Executive Incentive Cash Bonus Plan. This plan 
is intended to link annual incentive compensation to the creation of shareholder value. The Executive Incentive Cash Bonus Plan provides for 
the annual payment of a cash bonus (Incentive Cash Bonus) to selected executives based upon the performance of the Company (and in some 
cases various business units) during the fiscal year. The annual Incentive Cash Bonus is reported in the Summary Compensation Table under 
the column titled “Non-equity Incentive Plan Compensation.” Payments are made following the end of the fiscal year. 

The measure of performance for the Incentive Cash Bonus is EVA. EVA in general terms is equal to net operating income after subtraction 
of taxes and a charge for capital. The Committee believes that the utilization of the EVA measurement system, with its focus on maximizing the 
Company's return on capital investments relative to its cost of capital, is an effective means of evaluating and rewarding executive performance. 

Under the Executive Incentive Cash Bonus Plan a participant is assigned an Incentive Cash Bonus target expressed as a percentage of his 
or her base pay, and the actual bonus payment is determined by comparing the actual improvement in EVA achieved by the Company relative 
to expected improvement. The expected improvement in 2012 was the dollar amount of EVA improvement necessary to earn the targeted EVA 
bonus. The interval was the dollar amount of EVA change, either above or below the expected improvement, necessary to either double the 
EVA bonus amount or reduce it to zero. 

The actual Incentive Cash Bonus amount paid with respect to any year may range from 0 to 2 times of the target based upon the relative 
achievement of our EVA targets described below. The Committee sets the EVA targets annually. The Incentive Cash Bonus earned by participants 
is expected over time to average 100% of his or her individual target. The target Incentive Cash Bonus percentage for the NEOs generally is 
set so that the incentive cash bonus at on-target performance will equal 100% of the market median bonus amount for comparable positions 
as shown in the Published Survey Data, although as explained earlier, base pay and bonus may be adjusted in order to maintain total compensation 
in an amount that is consistent with our compensation philosophy. The Committee believes that this use of Incentive Cash Bonus is consistent 
with the objective of making compensation for senior corporate officers more variable with the Company's performance.  

The Committee is responsible for administering all elements of the Executive Incentive Cash Bonus Plan, except that those elements of the 
plan relating to the CEO (including target percentage payment) are approved by the Board. The Committee approves participants in the Plan, 
the target payment percentage, the EVA improvement goals and the cost of capital. The Audit Committee at the end of each fiscal year approves 
the calculation of EVA results for the year and the EVA change from the previous year and the resulting bonus factor. The Committee certifies 
the use of the bonus factor for use in the Incentive Cash Bonus calculation. 
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Incentive Cash Bonus for Fiscal 2012
For fiscal 2012, the corporate EVA targets established by the Committee were an expected improvement of $16.2 million and an interval of 

$17.4 million. The cost of capital in fiscal 2012 was 10.5%. The Committee also approved basing a portion of certain NEO's incentive cash 
bonus on business unit operating results. The payment target percentage for our CEO and NEOs are listed below.  The incentive cash bonus 
for Brian Walker and Greg Bylsma remained 100% based upon consolidated EVA for the entire Company. The incentive cash bonus for Andy 
Lock, Ken Goodson and Curt Pullen were 25% based upon the modified EVA driven metrics of their respective business units and 75% upon 
the consolidated Company EVA. The business unit EVA bonus for fiscal 2012 was limited such that it could not be paid in full unless the corporate 
EVA is positive. Business unit EVA and specific functional goals were then limited such that they could not exceed the corporate EVA multiple 
plus 100 basis points in the case of Andy Lock and Curt Pullen and the corporate EVA multiple plus 50 basis points in the case of Ken Goodson. 
The Committee believes that the Incentive Cash Bonus target percentages reflect the appropriate market information provided by the Published 
Survey Data and are within the range for each NEO. 

The EVA performance actually achieved by the Company on a consolidated basis was .4943 times the target. The EVA bonus amounts 
awarded to the NEOs was as follows. 

Name
EVA Target 

Bonus Percent
Bonus Amount

Paid

        Bonus 
Amount

Deferred(1) 
Brian Walker 100 % $ 347,888 $ 30,251
Greg Bylsma 65 % $ 102,598 $ 11,400
Ken Goodson 65 % $ 125,039
Andy Lock 65 % $ 201,760
Curt Pullen 65 % $ 166,134 $ 10,604

(1) - This amount represents the portion of their bonus the NEO elected to defer under the Herman Miller, Inc. Executive Equalization Retirement Plan described later in this 
Compensation Discussion and Analysis.

Incentive Cash Bonus for Fiscal 2013 
For fiscal 2013, the corporate EVA targets established by the Committee are an EVA expected improvement of $2.2 million and an interval 

of $14.5 million. The cost of capital will remain at 10.5%. The Committee has again approved basing a portion of certain NEO's incentive cash 
bonus on business unit operating results. The payment target percentage for the NEOs remained unchanged from 2012. The incentive cash 
bonus for Brian Walker and Greg Bylsma is 100% based on consolidated EVA for the entire Company. The incentive cash bonus for Andy Lock 
and Curt Pullen will be based 25% on the business unit operating metrics of their respective business units and 75% upon the consolidated 
EVA. The business unit metric component of the cash bonus will be limited such that it cannot exceed 200% and the blended multiple will be 
limited such that it cannot exceed the corporate EVA multiple by 100 basis points. The incentive cash bonus for Ken Goodson will be based 
25% on the functional metrics of his respective business unit and 75% upon the consolidated EVA, whereas the blended multiple will be limited 
such that it cannot exceed the corporate EVA multiple plus 50 basis points. In all cases the cash bonus cannot be paid unless the corporate 
EVA is positive and total cash bonus payouts are limited such that they cannot exceed 200%. The Committee believes that the Incentive Cash 
Bonus target percentages reflect the appropriate market information provided by the Published Survey Data and are within the range for each 
NEO.

Long-Term Incentives

In fiscal 2012, our shareholders approved our LTI Plan. The plan authorizes the Company to issue stock, restricted stock, options, restricted 
stock units, and other forms of equity-based compensation (LTI Awards). The key objectives of making LTI Awards under the LTI Plan are: 
• To provide an appropriate level of equity reward to key employees that ties a meaningful part of their compensation to the long-term 

returns generated for shareholders. 
• To provide an appropriate equity award to the next level of executives where market data would support their inclusion in an annual equity 

award plan.
• To assist the achievement of our share ownership requirements.
• To attract, retain and reward key employees.
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We believe that a significant portion of executive pay should be aligned with long-term shareholder returns and that encouraging long-term 
strategic thinking and decision-making requires that executives have a significant stake in the long-term success of Herman Miller. The 
Committee is responsible for administering all elements of the LTI Plan and for making all LTI Awards under the LTI Plan, except that the 
Board approves the grants to the CEO. 

The LTI Plan does not permit the issuance of options with reload features, however, some options granted under our prior plan before 2005 
have this feature. 

At their June and July meetings each year, the Committee and the Board normally take three actions in connection with establishing the 
compensation for each NEO; they (a) set the target value for the LTI Awards for the current fiscal year, (b) determine the types of awards to be 
used, and (c) establish the performance criteria, if any, for receiving the awards. The Committee also grants the awards for the just completed 
fiscal year. In granting the awards the Committee determines if any applicable performance measures have been met. The values shown in the 
Summary Compensation Table and the Grant of Plan-Based Awards reflect the grants awarded in Fiscal 2012.

This CD&A will discuss four separate Committee actions with respect to the LTI Awards described in the following matrix.

Description of  Action Date Action taken Award relates to
Grants awarded in fiscal 2012 July 2011 Fiscal year ended May 28, 2011
Award targets established for fiscal 2012 July 2011 Fiscal year ended June 2, 2012
Grants awarded in fiscal 2013  July  2012 Fiscal year ended June 2, 2012
Award targets established for fiscal 2013 July  2012 Fiscal year ending June 1, 2013

The actual LTI grants awarded in July 2012 were divided; one-third restricted stock units, one-third market priced stock options, and one-third 
as selected by the participant. The Committee believes that allowing the NEOs to have some flexibility in modifying the mix between options 
and RSUs gives the NEOs a greater sense of deriving value from the awards. 

The Committee annually creates a pool of shares from which certain forms of equity-based awards to selected participants may be made 
provided that certain operating results are achieved. The Committee retains the authority to award less than the full value of the pool even if 
the performance targets are met. The provisions of this arrangement are intended to meet the requirements of Internal Revenue Code section 
162(m) for the deductibility of certain compensation. In 2012 the value of restricted stock unit awards which could be made from the pool was 
limited to a maximum $2,500,000, with the requirement that the Company needed to achieve $3,000,000 of operating income after taking the 
charge for those awards. The participants in the pool for 2012 were the NEOs. The results achieved by the Company in 2012 permitted granting 
of awards having the $2,500,000 maximum value. The Committee  awarded approximately 47% of the maximum value from the pool. 

The key features of the restricted stock units and options awarded in fiscal 2012 are as follows:

Restricted Stock Units: The restricted stock units (RSU) consist of units representing the right to receive shares of Herman Miller, Inc. common 
stock.  These units reflect the fair market value of the common stock as of the date of grant and cliff vest after three years. If the employee 
leaves the Company for any reason other than death, disability, retirement or termination without cause, during the three year vesting period 
any unvested units are forfeited. If an employee dies or becomes disabled the units vest immediately and if an employee retires during the first 
12 months after grant, one-twelfth of the grant will be eligible for vesting for each month that the employee was employed after the grant date 
and after the initial 12 months, the units will vest in full.  If an employee is terminated for reasons other than cause during the three year period 
then a prorated portion of the units will vest. RSUs convert into shares after they vest. Dividends accrue on the RSUs and are added to the total 
value of the units. 

Stock Options: The options vest equally over three years, have a ten year life and are priced at fair market value on the date of grant.

LTI Grants Awarded in Fiscal 2012 
At the July 2011 meeting, the Committee and Board awarded LTI grants for the just completed fiscal 2011 year. The value of the LTI grants 
awarded (including options and restricted stock units) in July 2011 as a percent of base salary was 281.25% for Brian Walker, 125% for Greg 
Bylsma and Curt Pullen, 93.75% for Andy Lock and 90% for Ken Goodson. The increased levels of awards reflected a return to the normalized 
rates as a result of the improved performance of the Company and the economy during fiscal 2011 and the granting of the balance of the awards 
which had been withheld in July 2010 in response to the “Great Recession.”  The changes did not reflect a change in the performance of any 
individual NEO. 
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LTI Award Targets Established for Fiscal 2012
The Committee at its June 2011 meeting and Board at their July 2011 meeting also established LTI award targets for fiscal 2012. The Committee-
approved LTI awards again consisted of options and restricted stock units with the features described above. The value of the LTI award targets 
established for fiscal 2012 were 100% of the normalized target value. The value of these award targets (including options and restricted stock 
units) as a percent of base salary was 250% for Brian Walker, 100% for Greg Bylsma, Curt Pullen and Ken Goodson and 75% for Andy Lock. 

The following table discloses the actual elections made by the NEOs with respect to the awards received in fiscal 2012. 

Name
Number of 

Options
Option Exercise

Price
 Restricted 
Stock Units 

Brian Walker 184,711 $ 25.75 5,825
Greg Bylsma 12,930 $ 25.75 8,981
Ken Goodson 11,796
Andy Lock 12,598 $ 25.75 8,331
Curt Pullen 15,803 $ 25.75 10,760

LTI Grants Awarded in Fiscal 2013 (July 2012)
The Committee and Board in July 2012 awarded the LTI grants for the just completed 2012 fiscal year. The actual grants awarded were at the 
target amount established by the Committee and Board the previous July.  LTI grants awarded as a percent of base salary was 250% for Brian 
Walker, 100% for Greg Bylsma, Curt Pullen and Ken Goodson and 75% for Andy Lock. These award values reflect  the normal grant award 
values established by the Committee and Board. 

The following table discloses the actual elections made by the NEOs with respect to the awards received in July 2012 (fiscal 2013).

Name
Number of 

Options
Option Exercise

Price
Restricted 

Stock Units
Brian Walker 189,307 $ 18.17 33,939
Greg Bylsma 17,907 $ 18.17 12,842
Ken Goodson 14,582 $ 18.17 10,457
Andy Lock 27,438 $ 18.17 4,919
Curt Pullen 18,675 $ 18.17 13,392

The Committee and Board in July 2012 also approved a special grant of value added Performance Share Unit (PSU) awards, to the CEO and 
other members of the Executive Leadership Team. Brian Walker received 20,000 PSUs, Greg Bylsma, Andy Lock and Curt Pullen each received 
7,500 PSUs and Ken Goodson received 5,000 PSUs. The value of the PSU awards for each NEO was established by the Committee and Board 
at an on-target grant value and this on target grant value is shown below. The Committee and Board approved the awards as a one-time grant 
in connection with the Company's adoption of its new 3 year strategic plan, in order to better align the total LTI grants to the objectives of the 
strategic plan.

Performance Share Unit Awards: The value added PSUs are units representing the right to receive shares of Herman Miller, Inc. at the end 
of the specified performance period. These units reflect the fair market value of the common stock as of the date of grant and represent shares 
of common stock that may be issued if certain EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization) targets are achieved at 
the end of the three year performance period. The PSU provides that the total number of shares which may be issued vary between 0 and 200% 
of the target amount depending upon over or under performance of the established EBITDA goal. The EBITDA goal for on target performance 
is a three year average EBITDA of $209 million. No shares are issued if the three year EBITDA average is below $190 million and 200% of the 
target shares are issuable if the three year EBITDA average is more than $238 million. The PSU also grants the Committee the option to extend 
the performance period to a total of five years, but if the extension is granted, no more than 34% of the target grant may be issued. If the employee 
leaves the Company for any reason other than death, disability, retirement or termination without cause, during the three year vesting period all 
units are forfeited. If an employee dies or becomes disabled the units vest immediately. If an employee retires during the first twelve months 
after grant, one-twelfth of the grant will be eligible for vesting for each month that the employee was employed after the grant date. If the employee 
retires after the initial twelve months, the units will vest in full.  If an employee is terminated for reasons other than cause during the three year 
period then a prorated portion of the units will vest. PSUs convert into shares at the end of the performance period. Dividends will not accrue 
on the PSUs.
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LTI Award Targets Established for Fiscal 2013
The Committee and Board at their July 2012 meeting also established LTI award targets for fiscal 2013. The Committee-approved LTI award 
targets again consist of options and restricted stock units with the features described above. The value of these award targets (including options 
and restricted stock units) as a percent of base salary are 250% for Brian Walker, 100% for Greg Bylsma, Curt Pullen and Ken Goodson and 
75% for Andy Lock. 

Practices Concerning Grant Dates
Grants under the LTI Plan are typically made in connection with the Board of Directors meeting in July of each year. The number of restricted 
stock units is determined using the closing price for the Company's common stock on the date of grant and the number of options is based on 
the Black-Scholes valuation as of the date of grant. The Company does not attempt to influence the amount of executive compensation by timing 
equity grants in connection with the disclosure of material information to the public. The Company's year-end financial information is normally 
disclosed through a press release in the fourth week of June. The backdating of equity award dates is specifically prohibited under policies 
adopted by the Board of Directors.

Retirement and Health Plans

Health Plans
The Company maintains a broad base of health insurance plans available to all full-time and most part-time employees. The NEOs participate 
in such health insurance plans on the same terms as all other employees within their respective geographic region.
Retirement Plans
The Company maintains broad based retirement plans available for all non-union employees in the United States. Our employees in England 
(until March 1, 2012) and union members are covered by separate defined benefit retirement plans. Our retirement plans are designed to provide 
an appropriate level of replacement income upon retirement. The benefits available to NEOs are the same as those available to other non-
executive employees in their respective geographic region subject to limitations provided by law or regulation. The NEOs participate in the full 
range of benefits and are covered by the same plans (with exceptions noted) on the same terms as provided to all non-union U.S. employees.

The retirement plans include:
• The Herman Miller, Inc. Retirement Income Plan
• The Herman Miller, Inc. Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plan
• The Herman Miller Limited Retirement Benefits Plan 

Retirement Income Plan: The Herman Miller, Inc. Retirement Income Plan (Cash Balance Plan) is known as a hybrid plan. Under the Plan 
the Company accrues a benefit for the participant which is expressed as a fixed dollar amount (cash balance). The Company credits each 
employee's account with an amount equal to 4% of his or her salary, up to the maximum salary level permitted by the Internal Revenue Service 
(currently $245,000). Each account is also credited with hypothetical interest earning pegged to a predetermined benchmark (for fiscal 2012 
interest was credited at 4.50%).  The Company closed the Cash Balance Plan to new hires beginning January 1, 2012. In March 2012, the 
Company announced its intention to eliminate future benefit accruals in the cash balance plan in September 2012, to subsequently terminate 
the plan and to transition plan participants to a new defined contribution plan. 

Profit Sharing Plan:  The Herman Miller, Inc. Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plan consists of two parts. The Company annually makes a contribution 
to the profit sharing portion based upon the Company's EVA results for the year that may range from 0% to 6% of base salaries, with a target 
contribution of 3% of base salary.  Based upon our EVA results, the actual percentage contributed for fiscal 2012 was 1.48%. The amount of 
salary included in the base for the calculation is limited to the maximum salary level permitted by the IRS. The 401(k) portion of the plan is a 
salary deferral plan. Each employee may elect to defer up to the maximum amount permitted.  The Company normally matches up to half of 
the amount deferred by the employee up to the first 6% of the employee's compensation contributed. The Company suspended matching 
payments to the plan from March 9, 2009 until January 19, 2011 when it resumed matching contributions. In connection with the plan to terminate 
the Cash Balance Plan, the Company began making a 4% core contribution to the 401(k) plan for all new employees hired after January 1, 
2012 .
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Herman Miller Limited Retirement Plan:  Herman Miller Limited, the Company's wholly owned UK subsidiary maintained an average final pay 
pension plan for all of its retirees through February 29, 2012. Beginning March 1, 2012, Herman Miller Limited froze the plan and in its place 
introduced a defined contribution plan which provides for an age related fixed company contribution and a company matching contribution. The 
fixed company contribution for employees who were covered by the frozen plan varies between 2.8% and 6.4% of the employee's eligible 
compensation depending upon age. The fixed company contribution for employees who were hired after March 1, 2012 is 2.4% of the employee's 
eligible compensation. In addition, the Company will match an employee's contribution up to an additional 2.8% of eligible compensation. Under 
the now frozen plan each employee is entitled to a normal basic pension equal to an equivalent of 1/70th of final pensionable salary for each 
complete year of service. The pension is subject to a maximum of 40/70ths of final pensionable salary. 

Perquisites and Other Executive Compensation Plans

Perquisites
The Company is conservative in its approach to executive perquisite benefits. Company compensation practices in general do not provide for 
personal perquisites and the Committee has adopted a policy which specifically restricts the use of corporate aircraft for non-business purposes. 
We provide a limited number of perquisites to Corporate Officers. The Company normally provides each NEO with a specified dollar amount 
which can be used for a range of perquisites. These perquisites include financial planning, life insurance, spousal travel and other benefits. In 
fiscal 2012 the dollar amount of the benefits used was approximately $15,000 for the CEO and between $12,000 and $33,000 for each of the 
other NEOs.

The Company does not normally provide non-business-related use of chartered aircraft for Corporate Officers and none was provided in 
2012. 

The Company in 2012 did provide the NEOs and all other Corporate Officers with the opportunity to purchase certain additional disability 
insurance and to obtain comprehensive physicals paid for by the Company.
Deferred Compensation Plan

The Herman Miller, Inc. Executive Equalization Retirement Plan was approved by the Committee and the Board in 2008. The plan is a 
supplemental deferred compensation plan and became available for salary deferrals beginning in January 2008. The plan is available to highly 
compensated United States employees who are selected for participation by the Committee. All of the NEOs are currently able to participate, 
except Andy Lock due to his employment outside the United States. The plan allows participants to defer up to 50% of their base salary and 
100% of their Incentive Cash Bonus. Company contributions to the plan “mirror” the amounts the Company would have contributed to the Herman 
Miller Retirement Income Plan and the Herman Miller Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plan had the employee's compensation not been above the 
statutory ceiling (currently $245,000). Investment options under this plan are the same as those available under the 401(k) Plan except for 
Company stock which is not an investment option under this plan. For the part of fiscal 2009 before March 9, 2009, the Company's contribution 
was equal to 50% of the participant's retirement savings contributions until the matching contribution for the NEO brought the Company's 
contribution credited to the Executive Equalization Retirement Plan, the Herman Miller Retirement Income Plan and the Herman Miller Profit 
Sharing and 401(k) Plan up to the amount necessary to accomplish the “mirroring.”  Company contributions for amounts deferred in fiscal 2012 
appear in the 2012 Summary Compensation Table under All Other Compensation.

Executive Long-Term Disability Plan
The plan covers 60% of the rolling two year average of executive incentive compensation.  Executives are eligible to participate when they have 
earned over $6,000 in annual executive incentive compensation.  This benefit continues as long as the executive is disabled until age 65.  The 
monthly benefit is capped at $10,000.  The executive can maintain the plan by paying Unum, the provider, directly when they leave the Company.

Deductibility of Compensation
The income tax laws of the United States limit the amount the Company may deduct for compensation paid to the Company's CEO, CFO and 
the other three most highly-paid executives. Under IRS guidelines compensation that qualifies as “performance based” is not subject to this 
limit. It is the policy of the Committee that compensation should meet the IRS tests for deductibility under Revenue Code section 162(m).  All 
of the compensation paid during fiscal 2012 was deductible under this section.
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Stock Ownership Guidelines 
The Committee believes that significant stock ownership by top management is of critical importance to the ongoing success of the Company, 
as it helps link the interests of senior management and Company shareholders. Stock ownership requirements apply to the ten members of the 
Executive Leadership Team for the Company. Under these requirements, the President and Chief Executive Officer must own shares of Company 
stock with an aggregate market value of at least six (6) times base salary, Corporate Officers having a Long-Term Incentive Plan target equal 
to 100% of base salary must own shares of Company stock with an aggregate market value of four (4) times their respective base salaries and  
all other direct reports to the CEO must own shares with an aggregate market value of three (3) times their respective base salaries. 

All participants must achieve their ownership requirement over a five-year period from the date of their appointment to the position. The 
Committee reviews the NEO's progress toward these goals annually during the Company's fourth quarter. Ownership for the purpose of the 
guidelines is defined to include shares owned by the executives, his or her spouse, immediate family members residing in the same household, 
or a trust for any of the foregoing, as well as shares held in the Company's profit sharing and 401(k) plan, restricted stock and restricted stock 
units (both vested and unvested), and deferred accounts for his or her benefit. Stock options and unissued performance shares are not included 
in the calculation of an executive's total ownership. If a participant fails to meet the ownership guidelines within the specified period, 40% of the 
pretax spread value of vested restricted stock, performance shares, restricted stock units, deferred stock and 40% of the pretax spread value 
of exercised stock options must be retained in Company stock. 

An executive who has met the minimum expectation of ownership of the Company's stock as approved by the Board or the Board Executive 
Compensation Committee within five years of assuming his or her key leadership position shall be certified as compliant with the Executive 
Stock Ownership Guidelines. 

Impact of Prior Compensation in Setting Elements of Compensation
Prior compensation of the NEOs does not normally impact how the Committee sets the current elements of compensation. The Committee 
believes the current competitive environment is more relevant in determining an NEO's current total level of compensation. As described earlier, 
the Committee uses tally sheets to track all of the elements of current compensation to enable the Committee to determine whether the 
compensation which the NEO is currently receiving is consistent with market practices. The Committee, however, has the ability to consider the 
impact of any special equity grants upon the value of future grants made to Corporate Officers under the LTI plan.

Impact of Restatements Retroactively Impacting Financial Goals
The Company has not had any material restatement of prior financial results. If such restatements were to occur, the Committee would review 
the matter and determine what, if any, adjustment to current compensation might be appropriate. The LTI Plan and the Executive Incentive 
Bonus Plan give the Committee the right to “claw back” Incentive Cash Bonus payments and LTI grants in the event of certain restatements.

Post-Employment Compensation
Change in control and discharge for other than cause can result in additional compensation being paid to or for certain NEOs. In addition, as 
described above, certain of the Long-Term Equity Incentives continue if the NEO leaves employment as the result of death, disability or retirement.

Termination and Retention Payments
All of the NEOs are “at will” employees. This means that they can be discharged at any time and for no reason. The Company has agreed to 
pay Corporate Officers and other executives severance if they are terminated for reasons other than malfeasance or voluntary separation. For 
2012 the severance payments for each NEO would have been equal to 18 months of base salary subject to the employee not competing with 
the Company during that period. The Committee's determination as to the amount of severance payments is the result of benchmarking our 
practices to the Published Survey Data.  In addition, the Company maintains the health insurance on such employee during the salary continuation 
period. In exchange for such payments the employee provides the Company with a mutual release of all claims and agrees not to work for a 
competitor or solicit the Company's employees during the salary continuation period.

Andy Lock received a special retention grant of 10,000 shares of Company stock in July 2010. The grant cliff vests after 5 years provided 
that he is still employed by the Company unless special rules related to death, disability or retirement apply. In July 2012 Andy Lock received 
an additional retention grant of 2,000 restricted stock units and Greg Bylsma received a retention grant of 3,000 restricted stock units. Both 
grants cliff vest after 5 years provided that the recipient is still employed by the Company unless special rules related to death, disability or 
retirement apply.
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Change in Control Agreements
Each NEO is party to a change in control agreement with the Company. In 2006 the Committee retained Frederic W. Cook to review the existing 
change in control agreements and to advise the Committee on whether the continued use of such agreements was appropriate and if so whether 
the agreements were consistent with competitive practices. Frederic W. Cook advised the Committee that the continued use of change in control 
agreements is appropriate and that the amounts payable under the agreements were consistent with market practice. In 2006 the Company 
entered into new change in control agreements with the NEOs and certain other Corporate Officers and executives. Effective July 18, 2011 the 
Company and the Corporate Officers who were parties to the change in control agreements amended the agreements to eliminate the provision 
providing for the gross up of change in control agreement payments in the event the payments became subject to the excise tax related to 
“golden parachute payments.” This change was effective immediately. 

The Committee believes that the use of change in control agreements is appropriate as they help ensure a continuity of management during 
a threatened take-over and help ensure that management remains focused on completing a transaction that is likely to maximize shareholder 
value. Potential payments under the change in control agreements are included in the tally sheets provided annually to the Committee.

The narrative and footnotes to the tables entitled Potential Payments upon Termination in Connection with a Change in Control describe the 
change in control payments in greater detail. 

Executive Compensation Committee Report 

The Committee has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis required by Item 402(b) of Regulation S-K with 
Management and, based on such review and discussions, the Committee recommended to the Board that the Compensation Discussion and 
Analysis be included in the Proxy Statement.

J. Barry Griswell (chair) Douglas D. French John R. Hoke III
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Summary Compensation Table

The summary compensation table below shows the compensation for the NEOs for the fiscal years ended June 2, 2012 (2012), May 28, 2011 
(2011) and May 29, 2010 (2010). The details of the Company's executive compensation programs are found in the CD&A.

Name and Principal Position Year Salary
($)

Bonus
($)

Stock
Awards

($)(1)

Option
Awards

($)(1)

Non-Equity
Incentive

Plan
Compensation

($)(2)

Change in
Pension

Value and
Nonqualified

Deferred
Compensation

Earnings
($)(3)

All Other
Compensation ($)

(4)

Total
($)

Brian C. Walker 2012 737,308 149,994 1,875,001 378,140 14,967 140,525 3,295,935

President and Chief Executive Officer 2011 693,969 1,214,999 748,074 15,332 42,292 2,714,666

2010 583,200 756,028 12,300 100,835 1,452,363

Gregory J. Bylsma 2012 343,269 231,261 131,252 113,998 10,166 45,458 875,404

EVP and Chief Financial Officer 2011 288,173 93,749 93,748 185,928 10,014 16,450 688,062

2010 225,000 49,786 49,788 8,122 8,971 341,667

Kenneth L. Goodson 2012 282,981 303,747 125,039 25,551 31,709 769,027

EVP Operations 2011 263,172 15,000 182,256 170,533 26,399 16,464 673,824

2010 230,850 15,000 153,253 20,308 26,446 445,857

Andrew J. Lock 2012 356,470 214,523 127,882 201,761 259,688 50,200 1,210,524

EVP and President, Herman Miller 2011 337,069 296,747 123,748 232,690 149,135 52,188 1,191,577

    International 2010 282,150 52,540 105,070 113,241 24,497 577,498

Curtis S. Pullen 2012 362,981 277,070 160,416 176,738 14,428 51,408 1,043,041

EVP and President, North American 2011 341,149 131,255 131,248 267,555 14,588 16,978 902,773

   Office and Learning Environments 2010 299,250 81,030 81,024 11,915 25,957 499,176

(1) Amounts represent the aggregate grant date fair value of stock awards and option awards computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. The assumptions used in calculating 
these amounts are set forth in Note 9 of the Company's consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 2, 2012 included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

(2) Includes the amounts earned in fiscal 2012 and paid in fiscal 2013 under the Executive Incentive Cash Bonus Plan as described in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis. 
Certain executives have elected to defer a part of the bonus under the Key Executive Deferred Compensation Plan. The amount of the deferrals and the corresponding Company 
contributions will be shown in next year's Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Table.

(3) Amounts represent the aggregate change in the actuarial present value of the accumulated benefits under the Company's Retirement Plans. 
(4) The amounts for fiscal 2012 for all other compensation are described in the table below. The amounts for 2011 reflect a reduction in the Company's Nonqualified Deferred 

Compensation Contribution in conjunction with the temporary compensation reductions for that year.

Bundled 
Benefits(a)

Car allowance
(UK only)

Dividends
on

restricted
stock

Long-term
Disability

Insurance

Vesting of
Registrants

contributions
to Deferred

Compensation
Plan

Nonqualified 
Deferred 

Compensation 
Contribution(b)

Total
Other

Compensation

Brian C. Walker 14,898 2,809 122,818 140,525

Gregory J. Bylsma 18,333 1,162 25,963 45,458

Kenneth L. Goodson 12,000 264 3,899 15,546 31,709

Andrew J. Lock(c) 33,025 17,175 50,200

Curtis S. Pullen 12,000 2,444 36,964 51,408

(a) Bundled Benefits include accounting fees, cell phone fees, club dues, family travel, education and training, home office expenses, vehicle expenses, and life insurance. Benefits 
for Mr. Bylsma include the approved amount for calendar 2012 plus carryover for calendar 2011.

(b) Amounts represent the Company's contribution to the Herman Miller, Inc. Executive Equalization Retirement Plan.
(c) Mr. Lock serves the company through its United Kingdom subsidiary. As such, his benefits are paid according to the benefits paid in the United Kingdom, which are different 

from the benefits in the United States. His benefits include medical insurance, car allowance, spouse travel, and contributions to a pension plan. All amounts are converted 
from GBP to USD.
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The Grants of Plan-Based Awards table below sets forth information on equity awards granted by the Company to the NEOs during fiscal 2012 
under the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTI Plan) and the possible payouts to the NEOs under the Executive Incentive Cash Bonus Plan (Annual 
Cash Bonus Plan) for fiscal 2012. The CD&A provides further details of grants under the LTI Plan, as well as the performance criteria under the 
Annual Cash Bonus Plan. (The LTI grants are discussed in the CD&A under the heading LTI Grants Awarded in Fiscal 2012). 

Name Grant
Date

Estimated Possible Payouts Under
Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards(1)

Estimated Future Payouts
Under Equity Incentive Plan Awards

All Other Stock 
Awards: Number

of Shares of 
Stock

of Units (#)(2) 

All Other 
Option Awards:

Number of 
Securities 

Underlying 
Options

(#)(3) 

Exercise
or

Base Price
of Option 

Awards
($/Sh)(4)

Grant Date
Fair Value

of Stock
and

Option
Awards

($)(5)

Threshold
($)

Target
($)

Maximum
($)

Threshold
(#)

Target
(#)

Maximum
(#)

Brian C. Walker 07/18/11 5,825 149,994

07/18/11 184,711 25.75 1,875,001

0 765,000 1,530,000

Gregory J. Bylsma 07/18/11 8,981 231,261

07/18/11 12,930 25.75 131,252

0 230,625 461,250

Kenneth L. Goodson 07/18/11 11,796 303,747

0 190,688 381,376

Andrew J. Lock 07/18/11 8,331 214,523

07/18/11 12,598 25.75 127,882

0 231,705 463,410

Curtis S. Pullen 07/18/11 10,760 277,070

07/18/11 15,803 25.75 160,416

0 244,687 489,374

(1) Under the Annual Cash Bonus Plan executives can earn incentive compensation based on the achievement of certain company performance goals. The actual Cash Bonus 
amount paid with respect to any year may range from 0 to 2 times of the target based upon the relative achievement of our EVA targets. 

(2) The awards represent restricted stock units consisting of units representing the right to receive shares of Herman Miller, Inc. common stock. These units reflect fair market value 
of the common stock as of the date of grant and cliff vest after three years. 

(3) Each option has a term of ten years and vests pro rata over three years. 
(4) Stock options are awarded at an option price not less than the market value of the Company's common stock at the grant date in accordance with the LTI Plan. 
(5) Aggregate grant date values are computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. 
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End table below shows the option awards and stock awards that were outstanding as of 
June 2, 2012. The table shows both exercisable and unexercisable options. The table also shows share units and equity plan awards that 
have not vested. 

Name Grant Date Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of
Securities

Underlying 
Unexercised
Options (#)(1) 

Exercisable

Number of
Securities

Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)(1) 

Unexercisable

Option
Exercise

Price
($)

Option
Expiration

Date

Number of Shares 
or Units of Stock 

That Have Not 
Vested (#)(2)

Market
Value of

Shares or
Units of

Stock That Have 
Not Vested ($)(3)

Equity
Incentive

Plan Awards: 
Number of 
Unearned

Shares, Units
or Other

Rights That
Have Not

Vested (#)

Equity
Incentive

Plan Awards: 
Market or

Payout Value
of Unearned 

Shares, Units
or Other

Rights That
Have Not

Vested ($)(3)

Brian C. Walker 06/27/05 18,709 33.517 06/27/15
07/24/06 20,066 30.536 07/24/16
07/24/07 67,750 31.840 07/24/17
07/21/08 123,008 25.520 07/21/18
07/20/09 40,420 15.740 07/20/19
07/19/10 119,344 17.300 07/19/20
07/18/11 184,711 25.750 07/18/21 5,844 104,432

Gregory J. Bylsma 05/19/04 1,400 23.870 05/19/14
06/27/05 2,495 33.517 06/27/15
07/24/06 2,676 30.536 07/24/16
07/24/07 2,724 31.840 07/24/17
07/21/08 4,089 25.520 07/21/18
07/20/09 1,730 2,661 15.740 07/20/19 3,201 57,202
07/19/10 4,604 9,208 17.300 07/19/20 5,456 97,499
07/18/11 12,930 25.750 07/18/21 9,010 161,009

Kenneth L. Goodson 06/27/05 7,796 33.517 06/27/15
07/24/06 8,361 30.536 07/24/16
07/19/10 10,608 189,565
07/18/11 11,834 211,474

Andrew J. Lock 06/27/05 12,473 33.517 06/27/15
07/24/06 13,378 30.536 07/24/16
07/24/07 9,937 31.840 07/24/17
07/21/08 25,829 25.520 07/21/18
07/20/09 11,232 5,617 15.740 07/20/19 3,378 60,365
07/19/10 6,077 12,155 17.300 07/19/20 7,203 128,718
07/19/10 10,000 178,700
07/18/11 12,598 25.750 07/18/21 8,358 149,357
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End (continued)

Name Grant Date Option Awards Stock Awards

Number of
Securities

Underlying 
Unexercised
Options (#)(1) 

Exercisable

Number of
Securities

Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)(1) 

Unexercisable

Option
Exercise

Price
($)

Option
Expiration

Date

Number of Shares 
or Units of Stock 

That Have Not 
Vested (#)(2)

Market
Value of

Shares or
Units of

Stock That Have 
Not Vested ($)(3)

Equity
Incentive

Plan Awards: 
Number of 
Unearned

Shares, Units
or Other

Rights That
Have Not

Vested (#)

Equity
Incentive

Plan Awards: 
Market or

Payout Value
of Unearned 

Shares, Units
or Other

Rights That
Have Not

Vested ($)(3)

Curtis S. Pullen 06/27/05 4,178 33.517 06/27/15
07/24/06 4,481 30.536 07/24/16
07/24/07 4,929 31.840 07/24/17
07/21/08 21,437 25.520 07/21/18
07/20/09 8,662 4,331 15.740 07/20/19 5,210 93,103
07/19/10 6,446 12,891 17.300 07/19/20 7,639 136,509
07/18/11 15,803 25.750 07/18/21 10,795 192,907

(1) Options granted on 07/18/11, 07/19/10, 07/20/09, 07/21/08, 07/24/07, 07/24/06 and 06/27/05 vest in three equal annual installments beginning on the first anniversary 
of the grant date. Options granted prior to 06/27/05 or in connection with a reload vest 100 percent on the one year anniversary date of the award.

(2) Awards issued on 07/24/06 and the 07/19/10 award  issued to Mr. Lock  for 10,000 cliff vest after five years. Awards issued on 07/18/11, the remaining awards issued on 
07/19/10 plus the  07/20/09 and 07/24/07 awards cliff vest after three years. These awards reflect credited dividends. 

(3) Assumes a stock price of $17.87 per share, which was the closing price of a share of common stock on the last trading day of fiscal 2012. 

Option Exercises and Stock Vested

This table provides information on the number and value of  options exercised in fiscal 2012 and the vesting of restricted stock (on an aggregate 
basis).

Name Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of

Shares
Acquired on
Exercise (#)

Value
Realized

on Exercise
($)(1)

Number of
Shares

Acquired on
Vesting (#)

Value Realized
on Vesting

($)(2)

Brian C. Walker 100,072 681,592 8,537 224,684

Gregory J. Bylsma 4,024 17,111 189 4,990

Kenneth L. Goodson 6,557 147,226

Andrew J. Lock 5,691 149,780

Curtis S. Pullen 1,906 50,176

(1)  Represents the difference between the exercise price and the fair market value of our common stock on the date of exercise. 
(2)  Value based on the closing market price of the Company's common stock on the vesting date. 
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Pension Benefits

The Pension Benefits table below provides certain information on the retirement benefits available under each retirement plan to each NEO at 
the end of fiscal 2012.
The retirement plans are described in the CD&A.

Name Plan Name Number of Years Credited
Service (#)

Present Value of Accumulated
Benefit ($)

Payments During Last Fiscal
Year ($)

Brian C. Walker Herman Miller, Inc. Retirement Income Plan 23 172,811

Gregory J. Bylsma Herman Miller, Inc. Retirement Income Plan 11 72,529

Kenneth L. Goodson Herman Miller, Inc. Retirement Income Plan 25 376,454
Andrew J. Lock(1) Herman Miller Limited Retirement Plan 13 975,609

Herman Miller, Inc. Retirement Income Plan 10 83,934

Curtis S. Pullen Herman Miller, Inc. Retirement Income Plan 21 153,680

(1) Mr. Lock was covered from 1990-2002 and beginning again during fiscal 2011 under the UK Pension Plan and from 2002 through a portion of 2011 under the Retirement Income 
Plan. 

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation 

The Nonqualified Deferred Compensation table below provides certain information relating to our two defined contribution plans that provides 
for the deferral of compensation on a basis that is not tax-qualified. 

Name Executive Contributions in 
Last Fiscal Year ($)(1) 

Registrant Contributions in 
Last Fiscal Year ($)(2)

Aggregate Earnings in Last 
Fiscal Year ($)(3)

Aggregate Withdrawals/
Distributions ($)

Aggregate Balance at Last
Fiscal Year End ($)

Brian C. Walker 121,045 122,818 (138,245) (256,895) 1,062,163

Gregory J. Bylsma 24,795 25,963 377 77,280

Kenneth L. Goodson 14,668 15,546 562 (31,277) 52,380

Andrew J. Lock (10,167) 152,928

Curtis S. Pullen 38,639 36,964 (12,471) 259,339

(1) Amounts in this column represent the deferral of base salary earned in fiscal 2012. The amounts identified in this column are also reported in the Summary Compensation Table 
under Salary for fiscal 2012.

(2) Amounts in this column represent the Company's contribution and are included in the "All Other Compensation" column of the Summary Compensation Table. 
(3) Amounts reflect increases in value of the employee's account during the year, based upon deemed investment of deferred amounts. 

The Company's Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan, which was terminated in fiscal 2007, allowed certain employees to defer part or 
all of their Executive Incentive Cash Bonus payment each year. The Company matched any such deferral, up to 50 percent of the incentive 
cash bonus payment. The matching payment vested over three years and vesting was dependent upon the executive remaining employed with 
the Company. Amounts deferred were converted into units having the same value as the Company's stock and were credited with amounts at 
the same rate as the Company's dividend on its common stock. Units are converted into shares of the Company's common stock at the time of 
distribution. 

The Committee approved The Herman Miller, Inc. Executive Equalization Retirement Plan for salary deferrals that began in January 2008. 
The Plan allows all United States employees who have compensation above the statutory ceiling to defer income in the same proportion as if 
the statutory ceiling did not exist. The Company makes contributions to the plan such that the amounts in the plan “mirror” the amounts the 
Company would have contributed had the employee's compensation not been above the statutory ceiling. Distributions from the plan are paid 
out in cash based on the deferral election specified by the participant.
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Potential Payments upon Termination, Death, Disability, Retirement or Change in Control 

The following table quantifies both the estimated payments that would be made to each NEO in the event of his termination by the Company 
without cause, and in the event of his termination under circumstances that would trigger payments under the change in control agreements. 
The table also provides information regarding the incremental amounts that would have vested and become payable on June 2, 2012, if a 
change in control occurred on that date or if the NEO's employment had terminated on that date because of death, disability or retirement. The 
amounts potentially payable to each NEO in the event of separation without cause, death, disability, retirement or in connection with a change 
in control in which a termination occurs are illustrated below. The narrative that follows the tables gives more details concerning the plans and 
the circumstances under which either accelerated payment or vesting would occur. 
Assumes termination occurs at end of fiscal 2012 (June 2, 2012) 

Name Benefit Death Disability Retirement Without Cause Change in Control

Brian C. Walker Cash Severance 1,110,000 4,464,222
Prorated Annual Incentive
Equity
   Restricted Stock
   Restricted Stock Units 104,320 104,320 104,320 30,431 104,320
   Performance Shares (at target)
   Unexercisable Options 154,101
   Total 104,320 104,320 104,320 30,431 258,421
Retirement Benefits(1)

Unvested Deferred Stock Units
Other Benefits
   Health and Welfare 25,489 50,977
   Outplacement 25,000 25,000
   Tax Gross-Ups(2)

   Total 50,489 75,977
Total 104,320 104,320 104,320 1,190,920 4,798,620

Gregory J. Bylsma Cash Severance 525,000 1,155,000
Prorated Annual Incentive
Equity
   Restricted Stock
   Restricted Stock Units 312,881 312,881 238,414 162,344 315,384
   Performance Shares (at target)
   Unexercisable Options 10,917
   Total 312,881 312,881 238,414 162,344 326,301
Retirement Benefits(1)

Unvested Deferred Stock Units
Other Benefits
   Health and Welfare 18,104 24,139
   Outplacement 25,000 25,000
   Tax Gross-Ups(2)

   Total 43,104 49,139
Total 312,881 312,881 238,414 730,448 1,530,440
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Potential Payments upon Termination, Death, Disability, Retirement or Change in Control (continued)

Name Benefit Death Disability Retirement Without Cause Change in Control

Kenneth L. Goodson Cash Severance 427,500 940,500
Prorated Annual Incentive
Equity
   Restricted Stock
   Restricted Stock Units 400,615 400,615 374,570 179,802 400,615
   Performance Shares (at target)
   Unexercisable Options
   Total 400,615 400,615 374,570 179,802 400,615
Retirement Benefits(1)

Unvested Deferred Stock Units
Other Benefits
   Health and Welfare 18,645 24,860
   Outplacement 25,000 25,000
   Tax Gross-Ups(2)

   Total 43,645 49,860
Total 400,615 400,615 374,570 650,947 1,390,975

Andrew J. Lock Cash Severance 531,597 1,174,176
Prorated Annual Incentive
Equity
   Restricted Stock 178,700 178,700 178,700 66,939 178,700
   Restricted Stock Units 335,431 335,431 259,377 181,422 338,072
   Performance Shares (at target)
   Unexercisable Options 18,891
   Total 514,131 514,131 438,077 248,361 535,663
Retirement Benefits(1)

Unvested Deferred Stock Units
Other Benefits
   Health and Welfare 22,671 30,228
   Outplacement 25,000 25,000
   Tax Gross-Ups(2)

   Total 47,671 55,228
Total 514,131 514,131 438,077 827,629 1,765,067

Curtis S. Pullen Cash Severance 547,500 1,265,110
Prorated Annual Incentive
Equity
   Restricted Stock
   Restricted Stock Units 417,999 417,999 305,315 230,246 422,072
   Performance Shares (at target)
   Unexercisable Options 16,573
   Total 417,999 417,999 305,315 230,246 438,645
Retirement Benefits(1)

Unvested Deferred Stock Units
Other Benefits
   Health and Welfare 20,315 27,086
   Outplacement 25,000 25,000
   Tax Gross-Ups(2)

   Total 45,315 52,086
Total 417,999 417,999 305,315 823,061 1,755,841

(1) The retirement benefits available to the Named Executive Officers are the same as those available to all salaried employees. 
(2) Subsequent to fiscal 2011 the Company and the Corporate Officers who were parties to the change in control agreements, amended the agreements to eliminate the provision 

providing for the gross up of change in control agreement payments in the event the payments became subject to the excise tax related to “golden parachute payments.” 
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Potential Payments upon Termination, Death, Disability, Retirement or Change in Control (continued)

Potential Payments upon Termination without Change in Control 
The Company under its salary continuation plan has agreed to pay Corporate Officers and other executives severance if they are terminated 
for reasons other than cause. The payments are equal to 18 months base salary continuation for the NEOs. In addition the Company maintains 
the health insurance on such employee during the salary continuation period. In exchange for such payments the employee provides the 
Company with a mutual release of all claims and agrees not to work for a competitor during the salary continuation period. In the event of a 
termination covered by the change in control agreements described below, the payments under those agreements is reduced by any amounts 
received under the salary continuation plan. 

The Executive Long-Term Disability Plan provides a monthly benefit to an executive of 60% of their two year average executive incentive up 
to a monthly maximum of $10,000. Each of the NEOs would be entitled to a $10,000 monthly benefit if they became disabled as of June 2, 2012  
as long as they are disabled or until age 65. 

Potential Payments upon Termination in Connection with Change in Control 
In fiscal 2012, each NEO was party to a change in control agreement with the Company. The change in control agreements are all “dual trigger” 
agreements. This means there both must be a change in control and the employee must incur an actual or constructive termination of employment 
by us in order to be entitled to a payment. 

The agreements define change in control as having occurred (1) when a third party becomes the owner of 35 percent or more of the Company's 
stock, (2) when a majority of the Board of directors is composed of persons who are not recommended by the existing Board, or (3) under certain 
transactions involving a merger or reorganization, sale of all or substantially all of the company's assets or a liquidation in which the Company 
does not maintain certain control thresholds. 

An employee is entitled to a payment under the change in control agreement if within 2 years after a change in control he or she (1) has his 
or her employment with the Company terminated by the Company for reasons other than cause or (2) voluntarily terminates his or her employment  
if (a) the responsibilities of his or her job are significantly reduced, (b) the base salary or bonus he or she receives is reduced, (c) the benefits 
he or she receives are reduced by more than 5 percent, (d) the location of his or her job is relocated more than 50 miles from its current location, 
or (e) the obligations of the change in control agreement is not assumed by any successor company. 

If both triggering events occur, then the NEO is entitled to a change in control payment. The change in control payment consists of three 
elements (1) amounts owed for current year base salary, on target bonus prorated to the date of termination and all amounts of deferred income, 
(2) medical and other insurance benefits, and (3) a separation payment. In addition, all existing unvested options and other equity units become 
immediately vested and exercisable. The separation payment in the case of the CEO is to be equal to three times the amount described below 
and in the case of all other NEOs the payment is equal to two times the amount described below. The separation payment is a lump sum equal 
to either two or three times the sum of (a) the executive's base salary plus (b) the greater of the executive's actual bonus for the preceding year 
or his or her on-target bonus for the current year. This amount is reduced by any severance payment that executive receives under the severance 
program described above. 

The Company has no obligation to make a “gross up” payment to the executive if the amount of the payments under the change in control 
agreements is subject to an excise tax under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. 

In order to receive the payments the NEO is obligated to comply with the non-competition covenant of the agreement, committing him or her 
to refrain from competing with the Company for a period equal to the number of years of compensation received by the NEO under the agreement. 

Accelerated Vesting upon Death, Disability, Retirement or Change in Control 
Various compensation plans contain provisions that permit accelerated vesting upon death, disability or change in control. In the event of a 
change in control, the Key Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, the Long-Term Incentive Plan, and the Executive Incentive Cash Bonus 
Plan provide for the acceleration of vesting and/or payment even if the NEO has not been terminated. These are so called single trigger payment 
provisions. The Long-Term Incentive Plan, Executive Incentive Cash Bonus Plan and Key Executive Deferred Compensation Plan each has 
provisions dealing with vesting upon death, disability or retirement. The definition of change in control for these plans is the definition contained 
in Treasury Regulations for Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code. 

Key Executive Deferred Compensation Plan 
The Key Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, which terminated in fiscal 2007, permits a participant to elect to have his or her account 
distributed immediately upon his death, disability, or termination of employment in addition to change in control. The plan also permits the 
Committee to distribute to the employee amounts deferred before December 31, 2005 in the event of his death, disability or termination of 
employment. 



 2012 Proxy Statement      39

Potential Payments upon Termination, Death, Disability, Retirement or Change in Control (continued)

Long-Term Incentive Plan 
Under our  2011 Long-Term Incentive Plan, except as otherwise provided in an award agreement, in the event of a change in control transaction, 

awards that are not assumed or continued (other than performance-based awards) will be deemed to be immediately vested, or, at the Committee's 
election, it may cancel those awards and pay the value of those awards to participants.  With respect to performance-based awards under a 
change of control transaction in which awards are not assumed, if less than half the performance period has lapsed, those awards will be 
converted into shares or similar securities assuming target performance has been achieved.  If at least half of the performance period has 
lapsed, those performance-based awards will be converted into shares or similar securities based upon actual performance-to-date.  Conversely, 
and except as otherwise provided in an award agreement, upon a change in control in which the Company is the surviving entity or under which 
outstanding awards are assumed or continued, the Plan provides for a corresponding adjustment to the outstanding awards to preserve the 
intrinsic value of those awards; provided, those outstanding awards will be subject to accelerated vesting if, within a two-year period following 
the change in control, the participant's employment is terminated without cause or the participant terminates for good reason. 

Options granted under the LTI Plan to the extent vested at the date of death, disability or retirement, remain exercisable for the balance of 
their original term but not more than 60 months following the date of termination of employment. In all other cases the vested options terminate 
three months after the termination of employment. 

In the case of restricted stock units, if an employee dies or becomes disabled, units granted prior to fiscal 2011 vest ratably up to the date of 
termination; and units granted in fiscal 2011 or later vest immediately. All vest ratably if the employee is terminated for reasons other than cause. 
Vesting is determined by comparing the number of months the employee has been with the Company between the date of grant and the date 
of termination to the original three or five year vesting period. If an employee retires, the grant of restricted stock units prior to fiscal 2011 will 
continue to vest over the original vesting period, provided the employee is available to provide 10 hours per quarter of consulting services and 
does not work for a competitor. Awards granted in fiscal 2011 or later will be prorated over 12 months if retiring within one year of the grant; after 
the initial 12 months they will vest in full.

Performance shares, as explained earlier, are granted at a target value and the actual number of units converted into shares is determined 
at the end of a 3 year measurement period. The percentage of the performance share target grant that is eligible to vest if an employee dies, 
becomes disabled, or is terminated for reasons other than cause is determined by comparing the number of months between the date of grant 
and the date of termination to the original 3 year vesting period. If an employee retires in the first year the percentage of the performance share 
target grant subject to vesting will be equal to the number of months the employee remains employed during the year divided by 12. If the 
employee retires after the first year, 100 percent of the target performance share grant is subject to vesting.

The Executive Incentive Cash Bonus Plan 
The Executive Incentive Cash Bonus Plan requires that an employee be employed by the Company on the last day of a fiscal year in order to 
be eligible to receive the Incentive Cash Bonus, with certain exceptions noted below. The plan provides that in the events of death, disability or 
retirement an employee does not need to be employed on the last day of the fiscal year in order to receive a bonus. The employee's bonus will 
be reduced to reflect the portion of the year that he or she was employed by the Company. In the event of a change in control, the Incentive 
Cash Bonus is immediately vested (based upon EVA results achieved through the date of the change in control) and payable and is not reduced 
by virtue of the fact that it is calculated upon a partial year. The same provisions governing payment in the event of death, disability, retirement 
or change in control are also found in the bonus plan applicable to all other employees. 
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Director Compensation 

The following Director Compensation table provides information on the compensation of each director for fiscal 2012. The standard compensation 
of each director is $127,000 (prorated if a director serves for less than a full year). The Audit Committee Chair receives an additional $17,500, 
the Executive Compensation Committee Chair receives an additional $10,000 and the Nominating and Governance Committee Chair receives 
an additional $7,500. Non-chair members of the Audit Committee receive an additional $2,500 per year due to the increased workload and 
number of meetings of the Audit Committee. The Chairman of the Board of Directors receives additional annual compensation of $127,000 and 
is eligible to participate in the Company's health insurance plan. Brian Walker, the Company's CEO, does not receive any additional compensation 
for serving on the Board of Directors. 

The annual retainer and any chairperson or additional fees (collectively the "Annual Fee") is payable by one or more of the following means, 
as selected by each director: (1) in cash; (2) in shares of our stock valued as of January 15 of each year; (3) credit under the Director Deferred 
Compensation Plan described below; (4) stock options valued as of January 15 of each year under the Black-Scholes Valuation Model; or (5) 
as a contribution to our Company employee scholarship fund. Any director who does not meet the stock ownership guideline must take at least 
50 percent of his or her fee in one of the permissible forms of equity. 

Stock Compensation Plan 
We have in effect a Stock Compensation Plan, approved and adopted by our shareholders, under which nonemployee officers and directors 
may be granted options to purchase shares of our stock if they elect to receive their compensation in stock options. Subject to certain exceptions, 
the options are not exercisable until 12 months after the date of grant and expire 10 years after the date of the grant. The option price is payable 
upon exercise in cash or, subject to certain limitations, in shares of our stock already owned by the optionee, or a combination of shares and 
cash. 

Deferred Compensation Plan 
We also maintain a Nonemployee Officer and Director Deferred Compensation Stock Purchase Plan. The Plan permits participants to defer 
receipt of all or a portion of  his or her Annual Fee to his or her deferred account. The account is held in a Rabbi Trust. Each account is credited 
with a number of stock units equal to a number of shares of the investment selected by the director including Company stock and other investment 
alternatives. The initial value of the deferral is equal to the dollar amount of the deferral, divided by the per share fair market value of the selected 
investment at the time of the deferral. The units are credited with any dividends paid on the investment. 

Stock Ownership Guidelines 
Director stock ownership guidelines have been in effect since 1997. These guidelines, like those of the management team, are intended to 
reinforce the importance of linking shareholder and director interests. Under these guidelines, beginning in 2000, each director is encouraged 
to reach a minimum level of share ownership having a value of at least three times the annual director retainer over a five-year period after first 
becoming a director. 

Other 
Directors are reimbursed for travel and other necessary business expenses incurred in the performance of their services for the Company, and 
they are covered under the Company's business travel insurance policies and under the Director and Officer Liability Insurance Policy. 

Perquisites 
Some directors' spouses accompany them to Board meetings. The Company pays for their expenses and for some amenities for the Directors 
and their spouses, including some meals and social events. The total of these perquisites is less than $10,000 per Director.
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Director Compensation (continued)

Director Compensation Table

Name Fees Earned or 
Paid in Cash ($)(1) 

Stock Awards ($)
(2)

Options Awards 
($)(2)

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan

Compensation ($)

Change in
Pension Value

and Nonqualified
Deferred

Compensation
Earnings

All Other 
Compensation

($)

Total ($)

Mary Vermeer Andringa 49,500 80,000 129,500

David A. Brandon 62,000 65,000 127,000

Douglas D. French 127,000 127,000

J. Barry Griswell 137,000 137,000

John R. Hoke III 68,500 58,500 127,000

James R. Kackley 144,500 144,500

Lisa A. Kro 64,750 64,750 129,500

Dorothy A. Terrell 134,500 134,500

David O. Ulrich 47,000 80,000 127,000

Michael A. Volkema 254,000 254,000

(1) The amounts shown in the “Fees Earned or Paid in Cash” column include amounts which may be deferred under the Non-employee Officer and Director Deferred Compensation Plan. Amounts deferred 
are retained as units equal to shares of stock under the plan. The plan permits non-employee directors to elect to defer amounts which they would otherwise receive as director fees. Amounts deferred 
are credited with earnings at the same rate as the dividend on the Company's stock. Directors at the time of deferral elect the deferral period. The units together with the earnings on the units are 
converted to shares of the Company's common stock at the end of the deferral period and are distributed to the director at the end of the deferral period. These amounts may also reflect contributions 
to the Michael Volkema Scholarship fund which awards college scholarships to children of employees. During fiscal 2012, ten of the directors who received fees contributed a portion of their fees to the 
fund.

(2) Amounts represent the aggregate grant date fair value of stock awards and option awards computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. The assumptions used in calculating these amounts are 
set forth in Note 9, in the Company's consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 2, 2012, included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.

As of June 2, 2102, each Director had the following aggregate number of outstanding options : 

Name Aggregate Number of Outstanding Options

Mary Vermeer Andringa 8,903

David A. Brandon

Douglas D. French 30,673

J. Barry Griswell

John R. Hoke III

James R. Kackley 50,090

Lisa A. Kro

Dorothy A. Terrell 25,183

David O. Ulrich 83,415

Michael A. Volkema
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

As noted in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, we maintain certain equity compensation plans under which common stock is authorized 
for issuance to employees and directors in exchange for services. We maintain the Nonemployee Officer and Director Stock Option Plan, Long-
Term Incentive Plan and Employees' Stock Purchase Plan. 

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the above referenced equity compensation plans as of June 2, 2012.

Plan Category Number of securities to be
issued upon exercise of

outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Weighted-average
exercise price of

outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Number of securities
remaining available for future

issuance under equity
compensation plans
(excluding securities

reflected in column (a))

(a) (b) (c)

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 232,457 $ 22.27 4,853,246(1)

Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders
Total 232,457 $ 22.27 4,853,246(1)

(1) The number of shares that remain available for future issuance under our plans is 4,853,246 which includes 459,062 under the Nonemployee Officer and Director Stock Option 
Plan, 2,985,500 under the Long-Term Incentive Plan, and 1,408,684 under the Employees' Stock Purchase Plan. The 2,985,500 under the Long-Term Incentive Plan is inclusive 
of 1,185,500 shares remaining available for future issuance for awards other than options.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Our directors and officers, as well as any person holding more than 10 percent of our common stock, are required to report initial statements 
of ownership of our securities and changes in such ownership to the Securities and Exchange Commission. Based upon written representations 
by each director and officer, all the reports were timely filed by such persons during the last fiscal year. 

Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions 

The Board of Directors has adopted a policy on Related Party Transactions. Under that policy, with certain limited exceptions, all proposed 
transactions between the Company and any directors or officers or their respective affiliates are required to be reported to the Nominating and 
Governance Committee prior to entering into such a transaction. Management is obligated to provide that committee with information relating 
to the terms and conditions of the proposed transaction, how it complies with the policy, and if the proposed transaction is with a director, advise 
the Committee if the transaction would impact that director's status as an independent director. The Nominating and Governance Committee 
has the authority to determine whether the proposed transaction is exempt from approval or, if not, approve the transaction as compliant with 
the policy or refer the matter to the Board of Directors. All approved or exempted transactions must be reported by the Committee to the full 
Board of Directors. 

In order to approve a transaction under the policy, the Nominating and Governance Committee must determine that either (1) the dollar 
amount of the transaction and other transactions with the director during that year is less than $100,000, and, for any director that is a member 
of the Audit Committee, does not constitute a proscribed consulting, advisory, or other compensated fee, or (2) if the proposed transaction is 
for the acquisition of products or services and is either less than $100,000 or is subject to a bid process involving three or more competing 
parties, and the transaction is in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders, provided that (a) management determined that the 
proposed transaction will provide the best value for the Company, (b) the compensation is consistent with the proposals submitted by the other 
bidders, and (c) the director did not directly participate in the proposal process. 
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Submission of Shareholder Proposals for the 2013 Annual Meeting

Shareholders wishing to submit proposals on matters appropriate for shareholder action to be presented at our 2013 Annual Meeting of 
Shareholders and to be included in our proxy materials for that meeting may do so in accordance with Rule 14a-8 promulgated under the 
Exchange Act, whereby (1) all applicable requirements of Rule 14a-8 must be satisfied, (2) the notice must include various stock ownership and 
related information detailed in our Bylaws, and (3) such proposals must be received by us at our principal executive offices at 855 East Main 
Avenue, PO Box 302, Zeeland, Michigan 49464-0302, no later than April 30, 2013. 

Our bylaws, which are available on our website at www.hermanmiller.com/bylaws, contain certain procedural requirements that shareholders 
must follow to nominate a person for election as a director at an annual meeting or to bring an item of business before the annual meeting. 
These procedures require that notice of an intention to nominate a person for election to the Board and/or to bring an item of business before 
our 2013 annual meeting must be received in writing by our secretary at 855 East Main Avenue, PO Box 302, Zeeland, Michigan 49464-0302 
no earlier than June 10, 2013 and no later than July 10, 2013. The notice must contain certain information about the shareholder making the 
proposal for nomination, including a representation that the shareholder intends to appear in person or by proxy at the annual meeting to nominate 
the person named in the notice or bring the item of business before the meeting, and about the nominee and/or the item of business and, in the 
case of a nomination, must be accompanied by a written consent of the proposed nominee to be named as a nominee and to serve as a director, 
if elected. As of August 28, 2012, no proposals to be presented at the 2012 Annual Meeting have been received by us.

Miscellaneous 

The cost of the solicitation of proxies will be borne by us. In addition to the use of the mails, proxies may be solicited personally or by telephone 
or electronic means by a few of our regular employees. We may reimburse brokers and other people holding stock in their names or in the 
names of nominees for their expenses in sending proxy materials to the principals and obtaining their proxies. 

Our mailing for the fiscal year ended June 2, 2012, includes the Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials. A copy of the Notice of 
2012 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and the 2012 Form 10-K (Annual Report) as well as the Proxy Statement both filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission are available, without charge, upon written request from the Secretary of the Company, 855 East Main Avenue, PO 
Box 302, Zeeland, Michigan 49464-0302. 

Shareholders are urged to vote promptly. Questions related to your holdings can be directed as follows: 

Computershare Investor Services, LLC, 250 Royall Street, Canton, Massachusetts 02021 Phone: 1-866-768-5723 inside the United States 
Phone: 1-781-575-2723 outside the United States http://www.computershare.com 

By Order of the Board of Directors 
Daniel C. Molhoek, Secretary to the Board 
August 28, 2012
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UNITED STATES 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

Washington, DC 20549 
FORM 10-K 

[ X ] ANNUAL REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

[__] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For Fiscal Year Ended June 2, 2012 Commission File No. 001-15141
Herman Miller, Inc. 

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter) 

Michigan        38-0837640        
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation

or organization)
(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

855 East Main Avenue
PO Box 302

Zeeland, Michigan 49464-0302
(Address of principal 

executive offices)
(Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (616) 654 3000
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: None
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: Common Stock, $.20 Par Value

(Title of Class)

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.
Yes [ X ]     No [__]

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.
Yes [__]     No [ X ]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to
such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes [ X ]     No [__]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 229.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or
for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).

Yes [ X ]     No [__]
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to 
the best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any 
amendment to this Form 10-K.   [ X ]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or a smaller reporting company. 
See definition of “accelerated filer,” “large accelerated filer,” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. 
Large accelerated filer [ X ]    Accelerated filer [__]  Non-accelerated filer [__]    Smaller reporting company [__] 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).
Yes [__]     No [ X ]

The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by “nonaffiliates” of the registrant (for this purpose only, the affiliates of the registrant have been 
assumed to be the executive officers and directors of the registrant and their associates) as of December 3, 2011, was $1,218,876,940 (based on 
$21.20 per share which was the closing sale price as reported by NASDAQ). 

The number of shares outstanding of the registrant's common stock, as of July 26, 2012: Common stock, $.20 par value - 58,415,480 shares 
outstanding. 
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 
Certain portions of the Registrant's Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on October 8, 2012, are incorporated into Part 
III of this report. 
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PART I

Item 1 BUSINESS

General Development of Business 

The company researches, designs, manufactures, and distributes interior furnishings, for use in various environments including office, healthcare, 
educational, and residential settings, and provides related services that support organizations and individuals all over the world. The company's 
products are sold primarily to or through independent contract office furniture dealers. Through research, the company seeks to define and 
clarify customer needs and problems existing in its markets and to design, through innovation where appropriate and feasible, products, systems, 
and services as solutions to such problems. Ultimately, the company seeks to enhance the performance of human habitats worldwide, making 
its customers' lives more productive, rewarding, delightful, and meaningful.

Herman Miller, Inc. was incorporated in Michigan in 1905. One of the company's major plants and its corporate offices are located at 855 East 
Main Avenue, PO Box 302, Zeeland, Michigan, 49464-0302, and its telephone number is (616) 654-3000. Unless otherwise noted or indicated 
by the context, the term “company” includes Herman Miller, Inc., its predecessors, and majority-owned subsidiaries. Further information relating 
to principles of consolidation is provided in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this report.

Financial Information about Segments

Information relating to segments is provided in Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this report.

Narrative Description of Business

The company's principal business consists of the research, design, manufacture, and distribution of office furniture systems, seating, products, 
and related services. Most of these systems and products are designed to be used together.

The company works for a better world around our customers by designing furnishings and related services that improve the human experience 
wherever people work, heal, learn and live. The company's ingenuity and design excellence creates award-winning products and services, that 
makes us a leader in design and development of furniture and furniture systems. This leadership is exemplified by the innovative concepts 
introduced by the company in its modular systems (including Action Office®, Canvas Office Landscape™, Ethospace®, Resolve®, and My 
Studio Environments™). The company also offers a broad array of seating (including Embody®, Aeron®, Mirra®, Setu®, Sayl®, Celle®, Equa®, 
and Ergon® office chairs), storage (including Meridian® and Tu™ products), wooden casegoods (including Geiger® products), freestanding 
furniture products (including Abak®, Intent®, Sense™ and Envelop®) and the recently introduced Thrive portfolio of ergonomic solutions.

The company's products are marketed worldwide by its own sales staff, independent dealers and retailers, its owned dealer network, and via 
our e-commerce website. Salespersons work with dealers, the architecture and design community, and directly with end-users. Independent 
dealerships concentrate on the sale of Herman Miller products and some complementary product lines of other manufacturers. It is estimated 
that approximately 78 percent of the company's sales in the fiscal year ended June 2, 2012, were made to or through independent dealers. The 
remaining sales were made directly to end-users, including federal, state, and local governments, and several major corporations, by the 
company's own sales staff, its owned dealer network, or independent retailers.

The company is a recognized leader within its industry for the use, development, and integration of customer-centered technologies that enhance 
the reliability, speed, and efficiency of our customers' operations. This includes proprietary sales tools, interior design and product specification 
software; order entry and manufacturing scheduling and production systems; and direct connectivity to the company's suppliers.

The company's furniture systems, seating, freestanding furniture, storage and casegood products, and related services are used in (1) office/
institution environments including offices and related conference, lobby, and lounge areas, and general public areas including transportation 
terminals; (2) health/science environments including hospitals, clinics, and other healthcare facilities; (3) industrial and educational settings; and 
(4) residential and other environments. 

Raw Materials
The company's manufacturing materials are available from a significant number of sources within the United States, Canada, Europe, and Asia. 
To date, the company has not experienced any difficulties in obtaining its raw materials. The costs of certain direct materials used in the company's 
manufacturing and assembly operations are sensitive to shifts in commodity market prices. In particular, the costs of steel components, plastics, 
and particleboard are sensitive to the market prices of commodities such as raw steel, aluminum, crude oil, lumber, and resins. Increases in the 
market prices for these commodities can have an adverse impact on the company's profitability. Further information regarding the impact of 
direct material costs on the company's financial results is provided in Management's Discussion and Analysis in Item 7 of this report. 
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Patents, Trademarks, Licenses, Etc.
The company has 108 active United States utility patents on various components used in its products and 49 active United States design patents. 
Many of the inventions covered by the United States patents also have been patented in a number of foreign countries. Various trademarks, 
including the name and stylized “Herman Miller” and the “Herman Miller Circled Symbolic M” trademark are registered in the United States and 
many foreign countries. The company does not believe that any material part of its business depends on the continued availability of any one 
or all of its patents or trademarks, or that its business would be materially adversely affected by the loss of any thereof, except for Herman 
Miller®, Herman Miller Circled Symbolic M®, Geiger®, Nemschoff®, Action Office®, Ethospace®, Aeron®, Mirra®, Eames®, PostureFit®, and 
Canvas Office Landscape™. It is estimated that the average remaining life of such patents and trademarks is approximately 5 years and 8 
years, respectively.

Working Capital Practices
Information concerning the company's inventory levels relative to its sales volume can be found under the Executive Overview section in Item 
7 of this report. Beyond this discussion, the company does not believe that it or the industry in general, has any special practices or special 
conditions affecting working capital items that are significant for understanding the company's business.

Customer Base
It is estimated that no single dealer accounted for more than 4 percent of the company's net sales in the fiscal year ended June 2, 2012. It is 
also estimated that the largest single end-user customer, the U.S. federal government, accounted for $164 million, $226 million and $180 million 
of the company's net sales in fiscal 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively. This represents approximately 9.5 percent, 14 percent and 14 percent 
of the company's net sales in fiscal 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively. The 10 largest customers accounted for approximately 22 percent,  28 
percent, and 27 percent of net sales in fiscal 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively

Backlog of Unfilled Orders
As of June 2, 2012, the company's backlog of unfilled orders was $278.0 million. At May 28, 2011, the company's backlog totaled $275.8 million. 
It is expected that substantially all the orders forming the backlog at June 2, 2012, will be filled during the next fiscal year. Many orders received 
by the company are reflected in the backlog for only a short period while other orders specify delayed shipments and are carried in the backlog 
for up to one year. Accordingly, the amount of the backlog at any particular time does not necessarily indicate the level of net sales for a particular 
succeeding period.

Government Contracts
Other than standard provisions contained in contracts with the United States Government, the company does not believe that any significant 
portion of its business is subject to material renegotiation of profits or termination of contracts or subcontracts at the election of various government 
entities. The company sells to the U.S. Government both through a GSA Multiple Award Schedule Contract and through competitive bids. The 
GSA Multiple Award Schedule Contract pricing is principally based upon the company's commercial price list in effect when the contract is 
initiated, rather than being determined on a cost-plus-basis. The company is required to receive GSA approval to apply list price increases during 
the term of the Multiple Award Schedule Contract period.

Competition
All aspects of the company's business are highly competitive. The company competes largely on design, product and service quality, speed of 
delivery, and product pricing. Although the company is one of the largest office furniture manufacturers in the world, it competes with manufacturers 
that have significant resources and sales as well as many smaller companies. In the United States, the company's most significant competitors 
are Haworth, HNI Corporation, Kimball International, Knoll, and Steelcase. 

Research, Design and Development
The company draws great competitive strength from its research, design and development programs. Accordingly, the company believes that 
its research and design activities are of significant importance. Through research, the company seeks to define and clarify customers and the 
problems which they are trying to solve. The company designs  innovative products and services that address customer needs and solve their 
problems. The company uses both internal and independent research and design resources. Exclusive of royalty payments, the company spent 
approximately $41.0 million, $35.4 million, and $33.2 million, on research and development activities in fiscal 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively. 
Generally, royalties are paid to designers of the company's products as the products are sold and are not included in research and development 
costs since they are variable based on product sales. 

Environmental Matters
Living with integrity and respecting the environment stands as one of the company's core values. This is based in part, on the belief that 
environmental sustainability and commercial success are not exclusive ends, but instead exist side by side in a mutually beneficial relationship. 
The company continues to rigorously reduce, recycle, and reuse solid waste generated by its manufacturing processes and the company's 
efforts and accomplishments have been widely recognized. Herman Miller continues to power 100% of our global electrical energy demand 
using green energy. We continue to explore and make progress in achieving our goal of zero impact on the environment by the year 2020. 
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Based on current facts known to management, the company does not believe that existing environmental laws and regulations have had or will 
have any material effect upon the capital expenditures, earnings, or competitive position of the company. However, there can be no assurance  
environmental legislation and technology in this area will not result in or require material capital expenditures or additional costs to our 
manufacturing process.

Human Resources
The company considers its employees to be another of its major competitive strengths. The company stresses individual employee participation 
and incentives, believing that this emphasis has helped attract and retain a competent and motivated workforce. The company's human resources 
group provides employee recruitment, education and development, and compensation planning and counseling. There have been no work 
stoppages or labor disputes in the company's history, and its relations with its employees are considered good. Approximately 8% percent of 
the company's employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements, most of whom are employees of its Nemschoff and Herman Miller 
Limited (U.K.) subsidiaries.

As of June 2, 2012, the company employed 5,482 full-time and 170 part-time employees, representing a 2.4 percent  and a 10.1 percent decrease, 
respectively, compared with May 28, 2011. In addition to its employee work force, the company uses temporary purchased labor to meet uneven 
demand in its manufacturing operations.

Information about International Operations

The company's sales in international markets are made primarily to office/institutional customers. Foreign sales consist mostly of office furniture 
products such as Ethospace®, Abak®, Aeron®, Mirra®, Celle®, Sayl® and other seating and storage products. The company conducts business 
in the following major international markets: Europe, Canada, the Middle East, Latin America, South America and the Asia/Pacific region. In 
certain foreign markets, the company's products are offered through licensing of foreign manufacturers on a royalty basis.

The company's products currently sold in international markets are manufactured by wholly owned subsidiaries in the United States, the United 
Kingdom, and China. Sales are made through wholly owned subsidiaries or branches in Canada, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Mexico, 
Australia, Singapore, China, India, and the Netherlands. The company's products are offered in the Middle East, South America, and Asia through 
dealers.

In several other countries, the company licenses manufacturing and selling rights. Historically, these licensing arrangements have not required 
a significant investment of funds or personnel by the company, and in the aggregate, have not produced material net earnings for the company.

Additional information with respect to operations by geographic area appears in Note 14 of the Consolidated Financial Statements included in 
Item 8 of this report. Fluctuating exchange rates and factors beyond the control of the company, such as tariff and foreign economic policies, 
may affect future results of international operations. Refer to Item 7A, Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk, for further 
discussion regarding the company's foreign exchange risk.

Available Information

The company's annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports 
are made available free of charge through the “Investors” section of the company's internet website at www.hermanmiller.com, as soon as 
practicable after such material is electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). The company's filings 
with the SEC are also available for the public to read and copy in person at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 F Street NE, Washington, 
DC 20549, by phone at 1-800-SEC-0330, or via their internet website at www.sec.gov.
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Item 1A RISK FACTORS

The following risk factors and other information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K should be carefully considered. The risks and 
uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face; others, either unforeseen or currently deemed less significant, may also have a 
negative impact on our company. If any of the following actually occurs, our business, operating results, cash flows, and financial condition could 
be materially adversely affected. 

Our funding obligations and pension expenses are affected by factors outside our control, including the performance of plan assets, 
interest rates, actuarial data and experience and changes in laws and regulations.
The future funding obligations for the company's U.S. defined benefit pension plans depend upon the future performance of assets set aside in 
trusts for these plans, the level of interest rates used to determine funding levels, actuarial data and experience and any changes in government 
laws and regulations. The company has taken steps to mitigate the risk related to the company's pension defined benefit pension plans by 
announcing its intent to change its employee retirement programs from a defined benefit-based model to a defined contribution structure. The 
company approved a plan to freeze future benefit accruals of its primary domestic defined benefit plan as of September 1, 2012. At this time, 
the company will begin to transition employees to a new defined contribution program and subsequently terminate its domestic defined benefit 
plans. The termination process is expected to take 12 to 24 months from the time that the benefit accruals are frozen. In addition, the company 
made pension contributions of $64.9 million to the company's pension and post-retirement plans. Due to the additional contributions and improved 
funded status the company changed the mix of the investments within the plan however, the company's employee benefit plans still hold a 
significant amount of equity securities. If the market values of these securities decline significantly, our future pension expenses and funding 
obligations could increase significantly. Decreases in interest rates that are not offset by contributions and asset returns could also increase the 
company's obligations under such plans. The company may be legally required to make contributions to it's U.S. pension plans in the future, 
and those contributions could be material. In addition, if local legal authorities increase the minimum funding requirements for the company's 
defined benefit pension plan outside the United States, the company could be required to contribute more funds, which would negatively affect 
operating cash flows.

Sustained downturn in the economy could adversely impact our access to capital.
The disruption experienced in the global economic and financial markets has adversely impacted the broader financial and credit markets, at 
times reducing the availability of debt and equity capital for the market as a whole. Conditions such as these could re-emerge in the future. 
Accordingly, our ability to access the capital markets could be restricted at a time when we would like, or need, to access those markets, which 
could have an impact on our flexibility to react to changing economic and business conditions. The resulting lack of available credit, increased 
volatility in the financial markets and reduced business activity could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of 
operations, our ability to take advantage of market opportunities and our ability to obtain and manage our liquidity. In addition, the cost of debt 
financing and the proceeds of equity financing may be materially and adversely impacted by these market conditions. The extent of any impact 
would depend on several factors, including our operating cash flows, the duration of tight credit conditions and volatile equity markets, our credit 
capacity, the cost of financing, and other general economic and business conditions. Our credit agreements contain performance covenants, 
such as a limit on the ratio of debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, and limits on subsidiary debt and incurrence 
of liens. Although we believe none of these covenants are presently restrictive to our operations, our ability to meet the financial covenants can 
be affected by events beyond our control.

We may not be successful in implementing and managing our growth strategy.
We have established a set of key strategic goals for our business. Included among these are specific targets for growth in net sales and operating 
profit as a percentage of net sales. Our strategic plan assumes growth targets will be achieved by pursuing and winning new business in the 
following areas:

• Primary Markets — Capturing additional market share within our primary markets by offering superior solutions to customers who 
value space as a strategic tool.

• Adjacent Markets — Further applying our core skills in space environments such as small business, higher education and residential.
• Developing Economies — Expanding our geographic reach in areas of the world with significant growth potential.
• New Markets — Developing new products and technologies that serve wholly new markets.

While we have confidence that our strategic plan reflects opportunities that are appropriate and achievable and that we have anticipated and 
will manage the associated risks, there is the possibility that the strategy may not deliver the projected results due to inadequate execution, 
incorrect assumptions, sub-optimal resource allocation, or changing customer requirements.

There is no assurance that our current product and service offering will allow us to meet these goals. Accordingly, we believe we will be required 
to continually invest in the research, design, and development of new products and services. There is no assurance that such investments will 
have commercially successful results.

Certain growth opportunities may require us to invest in acquisitions, alliances, and the startup of new business ventures. These investments 
may not perform according to plan.
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Future efforts to expand our business within developing economies, particularly within China and India, may expose us to the effects of political 
and economic instability. Such instability may impact our ability to compete for business. It may also put  the availability and/or value of our 
capital investments within these regions at risk. These expansion efforts expose us to operating environments with complex, changing, and in 
some cases, inconsistently applied legal and regulatory requirements. Developing knowledge and understanding of these requirements poses 
a significant challenge, and failure to remain compliant with them could limit our ability to continue doing business in these locations. 

Pursuing our growth plan in new and adjacent markets, as well as within developing economies, will require us to find effective new channels 
of distribution. There is no assurance that we can develop or otherwise identify these channels of distribution. 

The markets in which we operate are highly competitive, and we may not be successful in winning new business.
We are one of several companies competing for new business within the furniture industry. Many of our competitors offer similar categories of 
products, including office seating, systems and freestanding office furniture, casegoods, storage, and residential and healthcare furniture 
solutions. We believe that our innovative product design, functionality, quality, depth of knowledge, and strong network of distribution partners 
differentiates us in the marketplace. However, increased market pricing pressure could make it difficult for us to win new business with certain 
customers and within certain market segments at acceptable profit margins. 

Adverse economic and industry conditions could have a negative impact on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.
Customer demand within the contract office furniture industry is affected by various macro-economic factors; general corporate profitability, 
white-collar employment levels, new office construction rates, and existing office vacancy rates are among the most influential factors. History 
has shown that declines in these measures can have an adverse effect on overall office furniture demand. Additionally, factors and changes 
specific to our industry, such as developments in technology, governmental standards and regulations, and health and safety issues can influence 
demand. There are current and future economic and industry conditions, which could adversely affect our business, operating results, or financial 
condition.

Our business presence outside the United States exposes us to certain risks that could negatively affect our results of operations 
and financial condition.
We have significant manufacturing and sales operations in the United Kingdom, which represents our largest marketplace outside the United 
States. We also have manufacturing operations in China. Additionally, our products are sold internationally through wholly-owned subsidiaries 
or branches in various countries including Canada, Mexico, Brazil, France, Germany, Italy, Netherlands, Japan, Australia, Singapore, China,  
Hong Kong, and India. In certain other regions of the world, our products are offered primarily through independent dealerships. 

Doing business internationally exposes us to certain risks, many of which are beyond our control and could potentially impact our ability to 
design, develop, manufacture, or sell products in certain countries. These factors could include, but would not necessarily be limited to:

• Political, social, and economic conditions
• Legal and regulatory requirements 
• Labor and employment practices
• Cultural practices and norms
• Natural disasters
• Security and health concerns
• Protection of intellectual property

In some countries, the currencies in which we import and export products can differ. Fluctuations in the rate of exchange between these currencies 
could negatively impact our business. Additionally, tariff and import regulations, international tax policies and rates, and changes in U.S. and 
international monetary policies may have an adverse impact on results of operations and financial condition. 

Disruptions in the supply of raw and component materials could adversely affect our manufacturing and assembly operations.
We rely on outside suppliers to provide on-time shipments of the various raw materials and component parts used in our manufacturing and 
assembly processes. The timeliness of these deliveries is critical to our ability to meet customer demand. Any disruptions in this flow of delivery 
could have a negative impact on our business, results of operations, and financial condition. 

Increases in the market prices of manufacturing materials may negatively affect our profitability.
The costs of certain manufacturing materials used in our operations are sensitive to shifts in commodity market prices. In particular, the costs 
of steel, plastic and aluminum components and particleboard are sensitive to the market prices of commodities such as raw steel, aluminum, 
crude oil, lumber, and resins. Increases in the market prices of these commodities may have an adverse impact on our profitability if we are 
unable to offset them with strategic sourcing, continuous improvement initiatives or increased prices to our customers. 
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Disruptions within our dealer network could adversely affect our business.
Our ability to manage existing relationships within our network of independent dealers is crucial to our ongoing success. Although the loss of 
any single dealer would not have a material adverse effect on the overall business, our business within a given market could be negatively 
affected by disruptions in our dealer network caused by the termination of commercial working relationships, ownership transitions, or dealer 
financial difficulties.

If dealers go out of business or restructure, we may suffer losses because they may not be able to pay for products already delivered to them. 
Also, dealers may experience financial difficulties, creating the need for outside financial support, which may not be easily obtained. In the past, 
we have, on occasion, agreed to provide direct financial assistance through term loans, lines of credit, and/or loan guarantees to certain dealers.  
 
Increasing competition for highly skilled and talented workers could adversely affect our business.
The successful implementation of our business strategy depends, in part, on our ability to attract and retain a skilled workforce. The increasing 
competition for highly skilled and talented employees could result in higher compensation costs, difficulties in maintaining a capable workforce, 
and leadership succession planning challenges. 

Costs related to product defects could adversely affect our profitability.
We incur various expenses related to product defects, including product warranty costs, product recall and retrofit costs, and product liability 
costs. These expenses relative to product sales vary and could increase. We maintain reserves for product defect-related costs based on 
estimates and our knowledge of circumstances that indicate the need for such reserves. We cannot, however, be certain that these reserves 
will be adequate to cover actual product defect-related claims in the future. Any significant increase in the rate of our product defect expenses 
could have a material adverse effect on operations.

We are subject to risks associated with self-insurance related to health benefits.
We are self-insured for our health benefits and maintain per employee stop loss coverage however we retain the insurable risk at an aggregate 
level, therefore unforeseen or catastrophic losses in excess of our insured limits could have a material adverse effect on the company’s financial 
condition and operating results. See Note 1 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding the company’s retention level.

Government and other regulations could adversely affect our business.
Government and other regulations apply to many of our products. Failure to comply with these regulations or failure to obtain approval of products 
from certifying agencies could adversely affect the sales of these products and have a material negative impact on operating results. 
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Item 1B UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS — none 

Item 2 PROPERTIES

The company owns or leases facilities located throughout the United States and several foreign countries. The location, square footage, and 
use of the most significant facilities at June 2, 2012 were as follows:
 

Owned Locations
Square

Footage Use

Holland, Michigan 917,400 Manufacturing, Distribution, Warehouse, Design, Office
Spring Lake, Michigan 582,700 Manufacturing, Warehouse, Office
Zeeland, Michigan 750,800 Manufacturing, Warehouse, Office
Sheboygan, Wisconsin 207,700 Manufacturing, Warehouse, Office
Hildebran, North Carolina 93,000 Manufacturing, Office
England, U.K. 85,000 Manufacturing, Office

Leased Locations

Atlanta, Georgia 176,700 Manufacturing, Warehouse, Office
England, U.K. 100,800 Manufacturing, Warehouse, Office
Ningbo, China 94,700 Manufacturing, Warehouse, Office
Hong Kong 109,300 Warehouse, Office

The company also maintains showrooms or sales offices near many major metropolitan areas throughout North America, Europe, Asia/Pacific, 
and Latin America. The company considers its existing facilities to be in good condition and adequate for its design, production, distribution, 
and selling requirements. 

Item 3 LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The company is involved in legal proceedings and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, the outcome 
of such proceedings and litigation currently pending will not materially affect the company’s operations, cash flows and financial condition. 
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ADDITIONAL ITEM: EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Certain information relating to Executive Officers of the company is as follows. 

Name Age
Year Elected an
Executive Officer Position with the Company

Gregory J. Bylsma 47 2009 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
James E. Christenson 65 1989 Senior Vice President, Legal Services, and Secretary
Steven C. Gane 57 2009 Senior Vice President, President, Geiger & Specialty/Consumer
Donald D. Goeman 55 2005 Executive Vice President, Research, Design & Development
Kenneth L. Goodson, Jr. 60 2003 Executive Vice President, Operations
Andrew J. Lock 58 2003 Executive Vice President, President, International
Curtis S. Pullen 52 2007 Executive Vice President, President, North American Office and Learning

Environments
Michael F. Ramirez 47 2011 Senior Vice President of People, Places and Administration
Jeffrey M. Stutz 41 2009 Treasurer and Vice President, Investor Relations
Brian C. Walker 50 1996 President and Chief Executive Officer
B. Ben Watson 47 2010 Executive Creative Director

Except as discussed below, each of the named officers has served the company in an executive capacity for more than five years. 

Mr. Bylsma joined Herman Miller, Inc. in 2000 as Director of Reporting & Planning for North America prior to being appointed Corporate Controller 
in 2005. 

Mr. Gane joined Herman Miller in 2007 as President of Geiger International. Prior to this he worked for Furniture Brands International for 16 
years serving mostly as President of HBF. 

Mr. Pullen joined Herman Miller in 1991 and served as Chief Financial Officer from 2007 to 2009, Senior Vice President of Dealer Distribution 
from 2003 to 2007, Senior Vice President of Finance for North America from 2000 to 2003, and Vice President of Finance, Herman Miller 
International from 1994 to 2000. 

Mr. Ramirez joined Herman Miller in 1998 and served as Director of Purchasing from 1998 to 2005, Vice President of Inclusiveness and 
Diversity from 2005 to 2009, and Vice President of Sales Operations from 2009 to 2011. 

Mr. Stutz joined Herman Miller in 2009 as Treasurer and Vice President, Investor Relations. Previously he served as Chief Financial Officer for 
Izzy Designs Inc., subsequent to holding various positions within Herman Miller finance. 

Mr. Watson joined Herman Miller in 2010 as Executive Creative Director, and prior to this he served as Managing Director and CEO of Moroso 
USA. Prior to this Mr. Watson served in creative roles as Global Creative Director of Apparel at Nike, and Global Marketing Director at Vitra.

There are no family relationships between or among the above-named executive officers. There are no arrangements or understandings between 
any of the above-named officers pursuant to which any of them was named an officer. 

Item 4 MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES - Not applicable
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PART II

Item 5 MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS, AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF 
EQUITY SECURITIES

Share Price, Earnings, and Dividends Summary 

Herman Miller, Inc., common stock is traded on the NASDAQ-Global Select Market System (Symbol: MLHR). As of July 26, 2012, there were 
approximately 16,300 record holders, including individual participants in security position listings, of the company's common stock. 

Per Share and Unaudited

 

Market 
Price 
High 

(at close) 

Market 
Price 
Low 

(at close) 

Market 
Price 

Close

Earnings 
Per Share- 

Diluted (1) 

Dividends
Declared Per

Share 
Year ended June 2, 2012:
First quarter $ 28.67 $ 16.84 $ 18.33 $ 0.42 $ 0.0220
Second quarter 23.09 16.07 21.20 0.41 0.0220
Third quarter 22.79 18.18 20.62 0.26 0.0220
Fourth quarter 22.99 17.87 17.87 0.20 0.0220
Year $ 28.67 $ 16.07 $ 17.87 $ 1.29 $ 0.0880
Year ended May 28, 2011:
First quarter $ 20.13 $ 16.62 $ 16.93 $ 0.22 $ 0.0220
Second quarter 21.62 16.39 21.54 0.26 0.0220
Third quarter 27.35 21.54 26.36 0.29 0.0220
Fourth quarter 27.77 22.67 24.56 0.30 0.0220
Year $ 27.77 $ 16.39 $ 24.56 $ 1.06 $ 0.0880

(1) The sum of the quarters may not equal the annual balance due to rounding associated with the calculation of earnings per share on an 
individual quarter basis 

Dividends were declared and paid quarterly during fiscal 2012 and 2011 as approved by the Board of Directors. While it is anticipated that the 
company will continue to pay quarterly cash dividends, the amount and timing of such dividends is subject to the discretion of the Board depending 
on the company's future results of operations, financial condition, capital requirements, and other relevant factors. 

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 

The following is a summary of share repurchase activity during the fourth quarter ended June 2, 2012. 

Period

(a) Total Number of
 Shares (or Units) 

Purchased

(b) Average Price 
Paid

 per Share or Unit

(c) Total Number of
Shares (or Units)

Purchased as Part of
 Publicly Announced
 Plans or Programs

(d) Maximum Number (or
 Approximate Dollar

 Value) of Shares (or
 Units) that May Yet be
 Purchased Under the
 Plans or Programs (1) 

3/4/12-3/31/12 351   21.85   351   $ 166,644,948
4/1/12-4/28/12 —   —   —   $ 166,644,948
4/29/12-6/2/12 2,128   17.87   2,128   $ 166,606,920
Total 2,479   18.43   2,479  

(1) Amounts are as of the end of the period indicated 

The company repurchases shares under a previously announced plan authorized by the Board of Directors on September 28, 2007, which 
provided share repurchase authorization of $300,000,000 with no specified expiration date. 
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No repurchase plans expired or were terminated during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012.

During the period covered by this report the company did not sell any of its equity shares that were not registered under the Securities Act of 
1933. 

Stockholder Return Performance Graph 

Set forth below is a line graph comparing the yearly percentage change in the cumulative total stockholder return on the Company's common 
stock with that of the cumulative total return of the Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Index and the NASD Non-Financial Index for the five-year period 
ended June 2, 2012. The graph assumes an investment of $100 on June 2, 2007 in the company's common stock, the Standard & Poor's 500 
Stock Index and the NASD Non-Financial Index, with dividends reinvested.

2007   2008   2009   2010   2011   2012
Herman Miller, Inc. $ 100   $ 69   $ 40   $ 55   $ 71   $ 52
S&P 500 Index $ 100   $ 91   $ 60   $ 71   $ 87   $ 83
NASD Non-Financial $ 100   $ 100   $ 71   $ 92   $ 118   $ 119

Information required by this item is also contained in Item 12 of this report. 
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Item 6 SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Review of Operations

(In millions, except key ratios and per share data) 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Operating Results
Net sales $ 1,724.1 $ 1,649.2 $ 1,318.8 $ 1,630.0 $ 2,012.1
Gross margin 590.6 538.1 428.5 527.7 698.7
Selling, general, and administrative (8) 400.3 369.0 334.4 359.2 400.9
Design and research 52.7 45.8 40.5 45.7 51.2
Operating earnings 137.6 123.3 53.6 122.8 246.6
Earnings before income taxes 119.5 102.5 34.8 98.9 230.4
Net earnings 75.2 70.8 28.3 68.0 152.3
Cash flow from operating activities 90.1 89.0 98.7 91.7 213.6
Depreciation and amortization 37.2 39.1 42.6 41.7 43.2
Capital expenditures 28.5 30.5 22.3 25.3 40.5
Common stock repurchased plus cash dividends
paid 7.9 6.0 5.7 19.5 287.9

Key Ratios
Sales growth (decline) 4.5% 25.1% (19.1)% (19.0)% 4.9%
Gross margin (1) 34.3 32.6 32.5 32.4 34.7
Selling, general, and administrative (1) (8) 23.2 22.4 25.4 22.0 19.9
Design and research expense (1) 3.1 2.8 3.1 2.8 2.5
Operating earnings (1) 8.0 7.5 4.1 7.5 12.3
Net earnings growth (decline) 6.2 150.2 (58.4) (55.4) 18.0
After-tax return on net sales (4) 4.4 4.3 2.1 4.2 7.6
After-tax return on average assets (5) 9.1 9.0 3.7 8.8 21.0
After-tax return on average equity (6) 33.2% 49.7% 64.2 % 433.1 % 170.5%

Share and Per Share Data
Earnings per share-diluted $ 1.29 $ 1.06 $ 0.43 $ 1.25 $ 2.56
Cash dividends declared per share 0.09 0.09 0.09 0.29 0.35
Book value per share at year end 4.25 3.53 1.41 0.15 0.42
Market price per share at year end 17.87 24.56 19.23 14.23 24.80
Weighted average shares outstanding-diluted 58.5 57.7 57.5 54.5 59.6

Financial Condition
Total assets $ 837.4 $ 808.0 $ 770.6 $ 767.3 $ 783.2
Working capital (3) 203.3 205.9 182.9 243.7 182.7
Current ratio (2) 1.8 1.8 1.3 1.6 1.6
Interest-bearing debt and related swap agreements 250.0 250.0 301.2 377.4 375.5
Shareholders' equity 248.3 205.0 80.1 8.0 23.4
Total capital (7) 498.3 455.0 381.3 385.4 398.9

(1) Shown as a percent of net sales. 
(2) Calculated using current assets divided by current liabilities. 
(3) Calculated using current assets less non-interest bearing current liabilities. 
(4) Calculated as net earnings divided by net sales. 
(5) Calculated as net earnings divided by average assets. 
(6) Calculated as net earnings divided by average equity. 
(7) Calculated as interest-bearing debt plus stockholders' equity. 
(8) Selling, general, and administrative expenses include restructuring expenses in years that are applicable. 
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2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

$ 1,918.9 $ 1,737.2 $ 1,515.6 $ 1,338.3 $ 1,336.5 $ 1,468.7
645.9 574.8 489.8 415.6 423.6 440.3
395.8 371.7 327.7 304.1 319.8 399.7
52.0 45.4 40.2 40.0 39.1 38.9

198.1 157.7 121.9 61.2 48.3 (79.9)
187.0 147.6 112.8 51.6 35.8 (91.0)
129.1 99.2 68.0 42.3 23.3 (56.0)
137.7 150.4 109.3 82.7 144.7 54.6
41.2 41.6 46.9 59.3 69.4 112.9
41.3 50.8 34.9 26.7 29.0 52.4

185.6 175.4 152.0 72.6 72.7 30.3

10.5% 14.6% 13.2% 0.1% (9.0)% (34.3)%
33.7 33.1 32.3 31.1 31.7 30.0
20.6 21.4 21.6 22.7 23.9 27.3

2.7 2.6 2.7 3.0 2.9 2.6
10.3 9.1 8.0 4.6 3.6 (5.4)
30.1 45.9 60.8 81.5 141.6 (139.8)

6.7 5.7 4.5 3.2 1.7 (3.8)
19.4 14.4 9.6 5.7 3.0 (6.3)
87.9% 64.2% 37.3% 21.9% 10.3 % (18.2)%

$ 1.98 $ 1.45 $ 0.96 $ 0.58 $ 0.31 $ (0.74)
0.33 0.31 0.29 0.18 0.15 0.15
2.47 2.10 2.45 2.71 2.62 3.45

36.53 30.34 29.80 24.08 19.34 23.46
65.1 68.5 70.8 73.1 74.5 75.9

$ 666.2 $ 668.0 $ 707.8 $ 714.7 $ 757.3 $ 788.0
103.2 93.8 162.3 207.8 189.9 188.7

1.4 1.3 1.5 1.8 1.7 1.8
176.2 178.8 194.0 207.2 223.0 235.1
155.3 138.4 170.5 194.6 191.0 263.0
331.5 317.2 364.5 401.8 414.0 498.1
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Item 7 MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Management's Discussion and Analysis 

You should read the issues discussed in Management's Discussion and Analysis in conjunction with the company's Consolidated Financial 
Statements and the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10-K. 

Executive Overview 

At Herman Miller, we work for a better world around you. We do this by designing and developing award-winning furniture and related services 
and technologies that improve your environment, whether it's an office, hospital, school, home, an entire building, or the world at large. At present, 
most of our customers come to us for interior environments in corporate office and healthcare settings. We also have a growing presence in 
educational and residential markets. Our primary products include furniture systems, seating, storage and material handling solutions, 
freestanding furniture, patient care products, and casegoods. Our other services extend from workplace solutions to furniture asset management. 

More than 100 years of innovative business practices and a commitment to social responsibility have established Herman Miller as a recognized 
global company. A past recipient of the Smithsonian Institution's Cooper-Hewitt "National Design Award,” in 2011, Herman Miller again received 
the Human Rights Campaign Foundation's top rating in its annual Corporate Equality Index and was also named, for the eighth consecutive 
year, to the Dow Jones Sustainability World Index.

The company's products are sold internationally through wholly-owned subsidiaries or branches in various countries including the United Kingdom, 
Canada, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Mexico, Australia, Singapore, China, Hong Kong, India, and the Netherlands. The company's products 
are offered elsewhere in the world primarily through independent dealerships. The company has customers in over 100 countries. 

The company is globally positioned in terms of manufacturing operations. In the United States, the company's manufacturing operations are 
located in Michigan, Georgia, Wisconsin and North Carolina. In Europe, the company's manufacturing presence is located within the United 
Kingdom, which is the company's largest marketplace outside of the United States. In Asia, manufacturing operations includes a facility located 
in Ningbo, China. The company manufactures products using a system of lean manufacturing techniques collectively referred to as the Herman 
Miller Performance System (HMPS). The company strives to maintain efficiencies and cost savings by minimizing the amount of inventory on 
hand. Accordingly, production is order-driven with direct materials and components purchased as needed to meet demand. The standard lead 
time for the majority of our products is 10 to 20 days. These factors result in a high rate of inventory turns and typically cause company inventory 
levels to appear relatively low compared to sales volume. 

A key element of the company's manufacturing strategy is to limit fixed production costs by sourcing component parts from strategic suppliers. 
This strategy has allowed the company to increase the variable nature of our cost structure while retaining proprietary control over those 
production processes that we believe provide us a competitive advantage. As a result of this strategy, our manufacturing operations are largely 
assembly-based. 

The business is comprised of various operating segments as defined by generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. These 
operating segments are determined on the basis of how the company internally reports and evaluates financial information used to make 
operating decisions. For external reporting purposes, the company has identified the following reportable segments:

• North American Furniture Solutions — Includes the operations associated with the design, manufacture, and sale of furniture products 
for work-related settings, including office, education, and healthcare environments, throughout the United States and Canada. The 
North American Furniture Solutions reportable segment is the aggregation of two operating segments in accordance with ASC 
280-10-50-10 through 11. In addition, the company has determined that both operating segments within the North American Furniture 
Solutions reportable segment each represent reporting units.

• Non-North American Furniture Solutions — Includes the operations associated with the design, manufacture, and sale of furniture 
products, primarily for work-related settings, for Mexico and outside of North America as well as the company's Non-North America 
consumer retail business.

• Specialty and Consumer — Includes the operations associated with the design, manufacture, and sale of high-end furniture products 
including Geiger wood products, Herman Miller Collection products and the company's North American consumer retail business. 

The reportable segments described above reflect a change made to the company's reportable segments during the first quarter of fiscal year 
2012. The modification is a result of an organizational realignment whereby the company's operations related to the consumer retail business, 
the Herman Miller Collection, and Geiger are now the responsibility of one segment manager responsible for Specialty and Consumer.
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The company also reports a corporate category consisting primarily of startup business and unallocated corporate expenses including 
restructuring and impairment costs. 

Core Strengths 
The company relies on the following core strengths in delivering workplace solutions to customers.

• Brand - The Herman Miller brand is recognized by customers as a pioneer in design and sustainability, and as an advocate that 
supports their needs and interests. Within the company's industry, Herman Miller is acknowledged as one of the leading brands that 
inspires architects and designers to create their best commercial design solutions. Leveraging the company's brand equity across the 
lines of business to extend the company's reach to customers and consumers is an important element of the company's business 
strategy. 

• Problem-Solving Design and Innovation - The company is committed to developing research-based functionality and aesthetically 
innovative new products and has a history of doing so. The company believes its skills and experience in matching problem-solving 
design with the workplace needs of customers provides the company with a competitive advantage in the marketplace. An important 
component of the company's business strategy is to actively pursue a program of new product research, design, and development. 
The company accomplishes this through the use of an internal research, and engineering staff as well as third party design resources 
generally compensated on a royalty basis.

• Operational Excellence - The company was among the first in our industry to embrace the concepts of lean manufacturing. HMPS 
provides the foundation for all of our manufacturing operations. The company is committed to continuously improving both product 
quality and production and operational efficiency. The company has extended this lean process work to our non-manufacturing 
processes as well as externally to our manufacturing supply chain and distribution channel. The company believes these concepts 
hold great promise for further gains in reliability, quality and efficiency.

• Building and Leading Networks - The company values relationships in all areas of the business. The company considers its network 
of innovative designers, owned and independent dealers, and suppliers to be among the most important competitive factors and vital 
to the long-term success of the business. 

Channels of Distribution 
The company's products and services are offered to most of its customers under standard trade credit terms between 30 and 45 days and are 
sold through the following distribution channels.

• Independent Contract Furniture Dealers and Licensees - Most of the company product sales are made to a network of independently 
owned and operated contract furniture dealerships doing business in many countries around the world. These dealers purchase the 
company's products and distribute them to end customers. The company recognizes revenue on product sales through this channel 
once products are shipped and title passes to the dealer. Many of these dealers also offer furniture-related services, including product 
installation.

• Owned Contract Furniture Dealers - At June 2, 2012, the company owned 6 contract furniture dealerships, some of which have 
operations in multiple locations. The financial results of these owned dealers are included in our Consolidated Financial Statements. 
Product sales to these dealerships are eliminated as inter-company transactions from our consolidated financial results. The company 
recognizes revenue on these sales once products are shipped to the end customer and installation is substantially complete. The 
company believes independent ownership of contract furniture dealers is generally the best model for a financially strong distribution 
network. With this in mind, the company's strategy is to continue to pursue opportunities to transition the remaining owned dealerships 
to independent owners. Where possible, the goal is to involve local managers in these ownership transitions. 

• Direct Customer Sales - The company sometimes sells products and services directly to end customers without an intermediary (e.g. 
sales to the U.S. federal government). In most of these instances, the company contracts separately with a dealership or third-party 
installation company to provide sales-related services. The company recognizes revenue on these sales once products are shipped 
and installation is substantially complete.

• Independent Retailers - Certain products are sold to end customers through independent retail operations. Revenue is recognized 
on these sales once products are shipped and title passes to the independent retailer. 

• E-Commerce - The company sells products through its online store, in which products are available for sale via the company's website, 
hermanmiller.com. This site complements our existing methods of distribution and exemplifies the company's brand to new customers. 
The company recognizes revenue on these sales upon shipment of the product.
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Challenges Ahead 
Like all businesses, the company is faced with a host of challenges and risks. The company believes its core strengths and values, which provide 
the foundation for its strategic direction, have us well prepared to respond to the inevitable challenges the company will face in the future. While 
the company is confident in its direction, the company acknowledges the risks specific to the business and industry. Refer to Item 1A for discussion 
of certain of these risk factors. 

Future Avenues of Growth 
The company believes it's well positioned to successfully pursue its mission in spite of the risks and challenges it faces. That is, the company 
will design and develop furniture and related services and technologies that reflect sustainable business practices that improve environments 
and help to create a better world. In pursuing our mission, the company has identified the following as key avenues for future growth.

• Primary Markets — Capture additional market share within our primary markets by offering superior solutions and ever expanding 
product categories, to customers who value space as a strategic tool.

• Adjacent Markets  — Further apply the company's core skills in space environments such as small business, higher education and 
residential.

• Developing Economies — Expand the company's geographic reach in areas of the world with significant growth potential.

• New Markets — Develop or acquire new products and technologies that serve new markets.

Industry Analysis 
The Business and Institutional Furniture Manufacturer's Association (BIFMA) is the trade association for the U.S. domestic office furniture 
industry. The company monitors the trade statistics reported by BIFMA and considers them an indicator of industry-wide sales and order 
performance. BIFMA publishes statistical data for the contract segment and the office supply segment within the U.S. furniture market. The U.S. 
contract segment relates primarily to large to mid-size corporations installed via a network of dealers. The office supply segment primarily to 
smaller customers via wholesalers and retailers. The company primarily participates, and is a leader in, the contract segment. It is important to 
note that the company's diversification strategy lessens our dependence on the U.S. office furniture market. 

The company also analyzes BIFMA statistical information as a benchmark comparison against the performance of the domestic U.S. business 
and also to that of competitors. The timing of large project-based business may affect comparisons to this data in any one period. Finally, BIFMA 
regularly provides its members with industry forecast information, which the company uses internally as one of several considerations in its 
short and long-range planning process.



Herman Miller, Inc., and Subsidiaries    19 

Discussion of Business Conditions 

Fiscal years ended June 2, 2012 and May 28, 2011 contained 53 and 52 weeks of operations, respectively. 

The company closed fiscal 2012 with net sales of over $1.7 billion, driving a 22 percent increase in earnings per share relative to last fiscal year. 
While delivering solid financial results, the company also made meaningful progress on a number of important initiatives. These include 
significantly decreasing long-term pension obligations  during the year by contributing approximately $65 million in cash to the company's pension 
plans. During fiscal 2012 the company also acquired Sun Hing POSH Holdings Limited (POSH), a Hong Kong-based designer, and distributor 
of office furniture systems, freestanding furniture, seating, filing and storage with distribution in Hong Kong and China. With POSH, the company 
gains immediate access to the Chinese market through the POSH dealer network. As the demand for high quality seating and furniture continues 
to grow in the region, the company anticipates a significant increase in the sales of Herman Miller products through the POSH dealer network. 
With an expanded product offering through POSH, the company expects to look beyond China to other markets and customers not presently 
being served. 

The development of new products has remained a critical element of the company's business strategy as the company continues to deliver 
superior products and services to customers. During fiscal 2012 the company gained market traction with a number of recently introduced 
products - including SAYL® chairs, Canvas Office Landscape™ and the Thrive ergonomic solutions portfolio. Importantly, throughout the year 
the company has aggressively pursued the next generation of new products that, taken together, represent one of the broadest product 
development agendas in Herman Miller's history. The company reached an important strategic milestone earlier this fiscal year with the introduction 
of the Herman Miller Collection - a dynamic product portfolio aimed at further articulating the company's unique heritage and contemporary 
value to architects, designers, and consumers. The Collection offers both classic and newly commissioned Herman Miller designs, along with 
broad offerings from both Magis and Mattiazzi - our Italian alliance partners. The combination of these products significantly expands the 
company's breadth of offer in the workplace. At this year's NeoCon furniture industry trade show the company earned a total of seven Best of 
NeoCon awards - the most of any manufacturer - across a range of product categories. 

Looking forward, the general economic outlook for our industry in the U.S. is expected to be positive. BIFMA issued its most recent report in 
May 2012 expecting that the growth rate of office furniture orders and shipments in the U.S. for calendar 2012 will be 4.2 percent and 3.4 percent, 
respectively. This forecasted growth is based on an improvement in the U.S. economy, primarily driven by an improvement in employment. 
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Financial Results 

The following is a comparison of our annual results of operations and year-over-year percentage changes for the periods indicated. 

(Dollars In millions)
  Fiscal 2012

% Chg from
2011 Fiscal 2011

% Chg from
2010 Fiscal 2010

Net sales $ 1,724.1 4.5 % $ 1,649.2 25.1% $ 1,318.8
Cost of sales 1,133.5 2.0 % 1,111.1 24.8% 890.3
Gross margin 590.6 9.8 % 538.1 25.6% 428.5
Operating expenses 453.0 9.2 % 414.8 10.6% 374.9
Operating earnings 137.6 11.6 % 123.3 130.0% 53.6
Net other expenses 18.1 (13.0)% 20.8 10.6% 18.8
Earnings before income taxes 119.5 16.6 % 102.5 194.5% 34.8
Income tax expense 44.3 39.7 % 31.7 387.7% 6.5
Net earnings $ 75.2 6.2 % $ 70.8 150.2% $ 28.3

The following table presents, for the periods indicated, the components of the company's Consolidated Statements of Operations as a percentage 
of net sales. 

Fiscal Year Ended June 2, 2012 May 28, 2011 May 29, 2010
Net sales 100.0% 100.0%   100.0%
Cost of sales 65.7 67.4   67.5
Gross margin 34.3 32.6   32.5
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 22.9 22.2   24.1
Restructuring and impairment expenses 0.3 0.2   1.3
Design and research expenses 3.1 2.8   3.1
Total operating expenses 26.3 25.2   28.4
Operating earnings 8.0 7.5   4.1
Net other expenses 1.0 1.3   1.4
Earnings before income taxes 6.9 6.2   2.6
Income tax expense 2.6 1.9   0.5
Net earnings 4.4 4.3   2.1

Net Sales, Orders, and Backlog - Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011

For the fiscal year ended June 2, 2012, consolidated net sales increased 4.5 percent  to $1,724.1 million from $1,649.2 million for the fiscal year 
ended May 28, 2011. Net sales increased approximately $4.9 million in fiscal 2012 from the acquisition of Sun Hing POSH Holdings Limited 
(POSH). The overall impact of foreign currency changes for the fiscal year was to increase net sales by approximately $4.9 million. The impact 
of net changes in pricing is estimated to have had a $35.0 million increase on net sales during fiscal 2012 over the prior year. The divestiture 
of the three dealers sold during fiscal 2012 lead to approximately a $53 million decrease in both net sales and orders for fiscal 2012. The extra 
week of operations contributed approximately $32 million towards the increase. The remainder of the fiscal 2012 increase was driven by increased 
unit volumes.

Consolidated net trade orders for fiscal 2012 totaled $1,725.7 million compared to $1,672.3 million in fiscal 2011, an increase of 3.2 percent. 
Order rates began the year at a steady pace with orders averaging approximately $34 million per week through the second quarter. The third 
quarter weekly order rates averaged approximately $28 million per week, which is consistent with the company's typical seasonal slowdown. 
The fourth quarter finished the year with average weekly order rates increasing to approximately $34 million. The overall impact of foreign 
currency changes for the fiscal year increased net orders by approximately $5.7 million. 

Our backlog of unfilled orders at the end of fiscal 2012 totaled $278.0 million, a 0.8 percent increase from the $275.8 million backlog at the end 
of fiscal 2011. 
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BIFMA reported an estimated year-over-year increase in U.S. office furniture shipments of approximately 4.1 percent for the twelve-month period 
ended May 2012. By comparison, the net sales increase for the company's domestic U.S. business was approximately  6.9 percent. The company 
believes that while comparisons to BIFMA are important, the company continues to pursue a strategy of revenue diversification that makes us 
less reliant on the drivers that impact BIFMA. 

Net Sales, Orders, and Backlog - Fiscal 2011 Compared to Fiscal 2010

For the fiscal year ended May 28, 2011, consolidated net sales increased 25.1 percent to $1,649.2 million from $1,318.8 million for the fiscal 
year ended May 29, 2010. Net sales increased approximately $33 million in fiscal 2011 from the acquisitions of Colebrook Bosson Saunders, 
and a contract and retail furniture dealership in Australia, which were both acquired in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010. The overall impact of 
foreign currency changes was to increase fiscal 2011 net sales by approximately $10 million. The impact of deeper discounting is estimated to 
have had a $34.5 million decrease on net sales during fiscal 2011 over the prior year. The remainder of the fiscal 2011 increase was driven by 
increased unit volumes due to a more robust global economic environment and was experienced across nearly all operating segments and 
geographies.

Consolidated net trade orders for fiscal 2011 totaled $1,672.3 million compared to $1,322.4 million in fiscal 2010, an increase of 26.5 percent. 
Order rates began the year at a steady pace with orders averaging approximately $30 million per week through the first quarter. The second 
and third quarter weekly order rates averaged approximately $36 million and $28 million, respectively, with the third quarter experiencing our 
typical seasonal slowdown. The fourth quarter finished the year with average weekly order rates increasing to approximately $35 million. The 
overall impact of foreign currency changes for the fiscal year increased net orders by approximately $8 million. 

Our backlog of unfilled orders at the end of fiscal 2011 totaled $275.8 million, a 13.2 percent increase from the $243.6 million backlog at the 
end of fiscal 2010. 

BIFMA reported an estimated year-over-year increase in U.S. office furniture shipments of approximately 17.6 percent for the twelve-month 
period ended May 2011. By comparison, the net sales increase for the company''s domestic U.S. business was approximately 24.8 percent 
for the same period. 

Gross Margin - Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011

Fiscal 2012 gross margin as a percentage of sales was 34.3 percent which is an increase of 170 basis points from the fiscal 2011 level. 
Approximately 130 basis points of the increase was driven by the benefit captured from recent price increases net of incremental discounting. 
This benefit drove an increase in net sales of approximately $35 million during fiscal 2012 relative to the prior year period. An improvement in 
pricing net of incremental discounting increases net sales relative to prior periods. This has the effect of decreasing the components of the 
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations as a percentage of net sales.

Direct material costs as a percentage of sales in the current year remained consistent with fiscal 2011 levels. 

Direct labor costs remained substantially the same as a percentage of sales compared to fiscal 2011 levels. The reduction in net sales due to 
the dealer divestitures during fiscal 2012 had the effect of increasing the direct labor percent as the incremental dealer sales had a lower direct 
labor component, however, this was offset by the net increase in pricing and favorable product labor content.

Overhead costs as a percent of net sales were lower by 170 basis points. The decrease in manufacturing overhead percent was due to both a 
$16.2 million reduction in overhead costs and a reduction in net sales due to the divested dealers. The additional decrease in manufacturing 
overhead percent was due to a decrease in employee incentive costs of approximately $6.8 million, and the net increase in pricing. The remainder 
of the decrease is due to increased absorption of overhead costs. 

Freight expenses, as a percentage of sales, were modestly higher by 20 basis points compared to fiscal 2011 levels. In dollars these costs were 
higher by $5.5 million due to increased volume. The largest contributing factor to the increase in freight expense was increased fuel costs.

Gross Margin - Fiscal 2011 Compared to Fiscal 2010

Fiscal 2011 gross margin as a percentage of sales was 32.6 percent which is an increase of 10 basis points from the fiscal 2010 level. This 
modest increase was driven primarily by cost leverage on higher production, which was partially offset by deeper discounting, higher employee 
benefit and incentive costs, and higher costs of key direct materials, most notably steel and steel components. Deeper discounting reduced net 
sales relative to prior periods. This has the effect of increasing the components of the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations as a 
percentage of net sales. 
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Direct material costs as a percentage of sales in fiscal year 2011 increased 150 basis points from fiscal 2010. This was primarily driven by an 
increase in the cost of commodities and the increase in discounting, which has the effect of reducing net sales. 

Direct labor costs were lower by 20 basis points as a percentage of sales, although higher in dollars by $19.5 million driven by an increase in 
volume from fiscal 2010 levels. This percentage decrease was driven primarily by improved efficiencies and product mix, which was partially 
offset by deeper discounting and increased employee incentives and benefit costs. 

Overhead costs as a percent of net sales were lower by 170 basis points but increased by $20.7 million driven by higher volumes from fiscal 
2010. The percentage decrease resulted from increased leverage from higher volumes, which was partially offset by deeper discounting and 
increased employee incentives and benefit costs. 

Freight expenses, as a percentage of sales, were modestly higher by 30 basis points compared to fiscal 2010 levels. In dollars these costs were 
higher by $17.4 million due to increased volume. The largest contributing factor to the percentage of sales increase was the increase in fuel 
costs during the year.

Restructuring - Fiscal 2012 and Fiscal 2011

During fiscal 2012, the company took action to decrease its cost structure. In the fourth quarter the company announced a plan ("The 2012 
Plan) to consolidate the Nemschoff manufacturing operations in Sheboygan, Wisconsin with the closure of the Sioux City, Iowa seating plant. 
The 2012 Plan also includes the consolidation of the Nemschoff Sheboygan manufacturing sites into one location. This plan will reduce fixed 
costs and operating expenses in order to improve operating performance, profitability and further enhance productivity. The 2012 Plan will reduce 
our workforce  by approximately 70 employees. The company anticipates it will incur an additional $1.5 million in restructuring expense in future 
periods for the 2012 Plan.

Under the 2012 Plan, the company incurred restructuring expense of $1.6 million of which consisted of $0.2 million related to severance and 
the $1.4 million related to impairment of building and equipment. In addition, the company recorded impairment of $3.8 million for the indefinite-
lived intangible assets related to two healthcare trade names that were terminated during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012. The impairment was 
the result of the company’s strategy to reduce its portfolio of healthcare brands and begin marketing the related products under the Nemschoff 
trade name.

During fiscal 2011 the company incurred $3.0 million of restructuring expense. The restructuring accrual balances of $0.2 million and $1.0 million 
for fiscal years 2012 and 2011, respectively are included in, "Accrued liabilities" within the Consolidated Balance Sheet. 

See Note 15 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on restructuring. 

Operating Expense - Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011

Operating expenses in fiscal 2012 were $453.0 million, or 26.3 percent of net sales, which compares to $414.8 million, or 25.2 percent of net 
sales in fiscal 2011. The company experienced a year-over-year increase in operating expense dollars of $38.2 million, and a 110 basis point 
increase to operating expenses as a percentage of net sales. The fiscal 2012 increase in operating expenses was partially driven by the fiscal 
2011 positive impact of $15.1 million, resulting from the settlement of the liability related to contingent payments associated with the Nemschoff 
acquisition. Restructuring and impairment expenses increased by $2.4 million, in fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011 (see the discussion on 
restructuring expense above for additional detail). The company also incurred approximately $8 million and $1.6 million in additional operating 
expenses due to the extra week of operations and the acquisition of POSH, respectively, during fiscal 2012. Warranty expenses were higher 
by $10.9 million for fiscal 2012 due to increased spend and changes in estimates. The company recorded approximately $7 million less employee 
incentive expense during fiscal 2012 compared to the prior year period.

Year-over-year changes in currency exchange rates, associated with the company's international operations, increased operating expenses by 
an estimated $1 million. 

Design and research costs included in total operating expenses for fiscal 2012 was $52.7 million, or 3.1 percent of net sales, compared to fiscal 
2011 expenses of $45.8 million, or 2.8 percent of net sales. This increase  was primarily driven by the company's increased investment in various 
projects. The remaining increase of $1.3 million was due to an increase in royalty payments to designers due to increases in net sales. Royalty 
payments for the company products, which are included within design and research costs, totaled $11.7 million and $10.4 million in fiscal years 
2012 and 2011, respectively.
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Operating Expense - Fiscal 2011 Compared to Fiscal 2010

Operating expenses in fiscal 2011 were $414.8 million, or 25.2 percent of net sales, which compares to $374.9 million, or 28.4 percent of net 
sales in fiscal 2010. The company experienced a year-over-year increase in operating expense dollars of $39.9 million, and a 320 basis point 
decrease to operating expenses as a percentage of net sales. The increase in operating expenses was primarily driven by the increase in net 
sales during the year. In addition, the company incurred $3.8 million and $16.6 million of additional operating expenses during fiscal 2011 due 
to the reinstatement of all employee benefits and employee incentive expenses, respectively. Restructuring expenses were $3.0 million, compared 
to restructuring and impairment expenses of $16.7 million in fiscal 2010, which included an impairment of $2.5 million for Convia assets. Operating 
expense increases were partially offset during fiscal 2011 by the positive impact resulting from the settlement of the liability related to contingent 
payments associated with the Nemschoff acquisition of $15.1 million. 

Year-over-year changes in currency exchange rates, associated with international operations, increased operating expenses by an estimated 
$2 million in fiscal 2011.

Design and research costs included in total operating expenses for fiscal 2011 was $45.8 million, or 2.8 percent of net sales, compared to fiscal 
2010 expenses of $40.5 million, or 3.1 percent of net sales. This increase in dollars of $5.3 million resulted in a decrease of 30 basis points as 
a percent of sales. This increase in dollars was primarily driven by royalty payments to designers and the reinstatement of employee benefits. 
Royalty payments to designers for company products totaled $10.4 million and $7.3 million in fiscal years 2011 and 2010, respectively.
 
Operating Earnings 

In fiscal 2012 operating earnings were $137.6 million, an 11.6 percent increase from fiscal 2011 operating earnings of $123.3 million. The fiscal 
2011 earnings represented a 130.0 percent increase from fiscal 2010 operating earnings of $53.6 million. Operating earnings as a percentage 
of sales for fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010 were 8.0 percent, 7.5 percent and 4.1 percent, respectively. 

Other Expenses and Income

Net other expenses totaled $18.1 million in fiscal 2012 compared to $20.8 million in fiscal 2011 and $18.8 million in fiscal 2010. Approximately 
$2.4 million of the decrease in fiscal 2012 expense compared to fiscal 2011 was a result of lower interest expense due to the net reduction in 
the company's long-term debt levels in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011. Lower foreign currency transaction losses in fiscal 2012 contributed to 
the remainder of the decrease in expense compared to fiscal 2011.

The increase in fiscal 2011 expense compared to fiscal 2010 was primarily the result of higher foreign currency transaction losses and lower 
interest and investment income, which were partially offset by lower interest expense compared to the prior year.

Income Taxes

The company's effective tax rate was 37.1 percent in fiscal 2012 versus 30.9 percent in fiscal 2011 and 18.8 percent in fiscal 2010. The effective 
tax rate in fiscal 2012 was above the statutory rate of 35 percent, primarily due to a lower than anticipated manufacturing deduction, non-
deductible expenses associated with contingent purchase consideration, and other adjustments required to reconcile income tax expense with 
the tax return of a foreign subsidiary. The effective tax rate in fiscal 2011 was below the statutory rate of 35 percent, primarily due to the domestic 
U.S. manufacturing deduction and realization of foreign tax credits. The effective rate in fiscal 2010 was below the statutory rate of 35 percent, 
primarily due to the release of tax reserves that were no longer needed due to the closure of an IRS audit of the company's tax returns through 
fiscal 2009 and the domestic U.S. manufacturing tax incentive. 

The company expects the effective tax rate for fiscal 2013 to be between 31 and 33 percent. For further information regarding income taxes, 
refer to Note 10 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Net Earnings; Earnings per Share

In fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011 we generated $75.2 million and $70.8 million of net earnings, respectively. This compares to net earnings in fiscal 
2010 of $28.3 million. In fiscal 2012 diluted earnings per share were $1.29 while diluted earnings per share in fiscal 2011 were $1.06 and $0.43 
in fiscal 2010. 
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Discussion of Segments - Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011

North America
Net sales within the North American Furniture Solutions (North America) reportable segment were $1,218.5 million in fiscal 2012, a 0.5 percent 
decrease from fiscal 2011 net sales of $1,224.8 million. The divestiture of the three dealers sold during fiscal 2012 lead to approximately a $53.0 
million decrease in net sales for fiscal 2012. The impact of net changes in pricing is estimated to have had a $31.0 million increase on net sales 
during fiscal 2012 over the prior year. The extra week of operations contributed approximately $23.0 million to the fiscal 2012 net sales increase. 
The impact of foreign currency changes was to increase fiscal 2012 net sales for North America by approximately $0.7 million. The remaining 
change in net sales was due to a decrease in unit volumes during fiscal 2012. 

Operating earnings for North America in fiscal 2012 were $96.9 million, or 8.0 percent of net sales. This compares to operating earnings of $99.4 
million or 8.1 percent of net sales in fiscal 2011. The extra week of operations had the effect of increasing operating earnings in fiscal 2012 by 
approximately $1.8 million. Warranty expenses were higher by $9.2 million for fiscal 2012 due to increased spend and changes in estimates. 
North America also had approximately $15.0 million less employee incentive expense during fiscal 2012 compared to the prior year. The impact 
of foreign currency changes increased fiscal 2012 operating earnings for North America by approximately $0.7 million. In addition, the fiscal 
2011 operating earnings included the positive impact resulting from the settlement of the liability related to contingent payments associated with 
the Nemschoff acquisition of $15.1 million. The remaining change in operating earnings as a percent of net sales in the current fiscal year is 
primarily driven by the ability to spread fixed manufacturing, sales and other costs over increased net sales.  

Non-North America
Net sales from the Non-North American Furniture Solutions (Non-North America) reportable segment were $347.3 million in fiscal 2012, a $56.9 
million or a 19.6 percent increase from fiscal 2011 net sales of $290.4 million. The extra week of operations contributed approximately $6.3 
million towards the increase. Additionally, net sales increased approximately $4.9 million in fiscal 2012 from the acquisition of POSH, which was 
acquired in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012. The impact of foreign currency changes was to increase fiscal 2012 net sales for Non-North America 
by approximately $4.2 million. The remaining year-over-year sales growth was driven primarily from increased unit volumes during fiscal 2012. 

Operating earnings within Non-North America totaled $32.1 million and $18.8 million for fiscal year 2012 and 2011, respectively and represents 
9.2 percent and 6.4 percent of net sales for fiscal year 2012 and 2011, respectively. The extra week of operations had the effect of increasing 
operating earnings in fiscal 2012 by approximately $0.6 million. The acquisition of POSH contributed an additional $0.4 million of operating 
earnings to fiscal 2012. The impact of foreign currency changes increased fiscal 2012 operating earnings for Non-North America by approximately 
$0.4 million. The remaining increase in operating earnings was driven by the ability to spread fixed manufacturing, sales and other costs over 
increased unit volumes.

Specialty and Consumer
Net sales within the Specialty and Consumer reportable segment (Specialty and Consumer) were $158.3 million in fiscal 2012, a $24.1 million 
or a 18.0 percent increase from fiscal 2011 net sales of $134.0 million. The impact of net changes in pricing is estimated to have had a $4.0 
million increase on net sales during fiscal 2012 over the prior year. The extra week of operations contributed approximately $3.0 million towards 
the increase. The remaining increase in net sales was driven primarily from increased unit volumes during fiscal 2012. 

Operating earnings within Specialty and Consumer totaled $15.1 million for the year or 9.5 percent of net sales. This compares to operating 
earnings of $10.7 million or 8.0 percent of net sales in fiscal 2011, an increase of 150 basis points. The extra week of operations had the effect 
of increasing operating earnings in fiscal 2012 by approximately $0.3 million. Specialty and Consumer also had approximately $1.0 million less 
employee incentive expense during fiscal 2012 compared to the prior year. Warranty expenses increased $2.2 million for fiscal 2012 due to 
increased spend and changes in estimates. The remaining increase in operating earnings was driven by the ability to spread fixed manufacturing, 
sales and other costs over increased unit volumes.

Discussion of Segments - Fiscal 2011 Compared to Fiscal 2010

North America
Net sales within the North American Furniture Solutions (North America) reportable segment were $1,224.8 million in fiscal 2011, a 23.7 percent 
increase from fiscal 2010 net sales of $989.7 million. The impact of foreign currency changes was to increase fiscal 2011 net sales for North 
America by approximately $5 million.  The remaining increase in net sales was due to an increase in unit volumes during fiscal 2011. 

Operating earnings for North America in fiscal 2011 were $99.4 million, or 8.1 percent of net sales. This compares to reportable segment earnings 
of $75.8 million or 7.7 percent of net sales in fiscal 2010.  Operating earnings in fiscal 2011 were reduced $20.4 million, $3.4 million, and $3.3 
million due to additional operating expenses during fiscal 2011 related to the reinstatement of all of our employee benefits, employee incentive 
costs, and warranty costs, respectively. These increased operating expenses were partially offset during fiscal 2011 by the $15.1 million settlement 
of the liability related to contingent payments associated with the Nemschoff acquisition. The impact of foreign currency changes increased
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fiscal 2011 operating earnings for North America by approximately $4 million. The remaining increase in operating earnings as a percent of net 
sales in the current fiscal year is primarily driven by the ability to spread fixed manufacturing, sales and other costs over increased unit volumes.

Non-North America
Net sales from the Non-North American Furniture Solutions (Non-North America) reportable segment were $290.4 million in fiscal 2011, a $67.7 
million or a 30.4 percent increase from fiscal 2010 net sales of $222.7 million. The impact of foreign currency changes was to increase fiscal 
2011 net sales for Non-North America by approximately $5 million.  Additionally, net sales increased approximately $33 million in fiscal 2011 
from the acquisitions of Colebrook Bosson Saunders, and a contract and retail furniture dealership in Australia, which were both acquired in the 
fourth quarter of fiscal 2010. The remaining year-over-year sales growth was driven primarily from increased unit volumes during fiscal 2011. 

Operating earnings within Non-North America totaled $18.8 million for the year or 6.4 percent of net sales. This compares to an operating loss 
of $0.2 million or a negative 0.1 percent of net sales in fiscal 2010, an increase of 650 basis points. The operating loss in fiscal 2010 was affected 
by an independent dealer in Australia that went into receivership and resulted in bad debt expense of approximately $5 million. Operating 
earnings in fiscal 2011 were reduced $1.9 million due to additional operating expenses related to employee incentive costs and benefits. 
Additionally, operating earnings increased $1.5 million in fiscal 2011 from the above referenced fiscal 2010 fourth quarter acquisitions. The 
impact of foreign currency changes increased fiscal 2011 operating earnings for Non-North America by approximately $2.0 million.  The remainder 
of the increased operating profitability was driven by the ability to spread fixed manufacturing, sales and other costs over increased unit volumes.

Specialty and Consumer
Net sales within the Specialty and Consumer reportable segment (Specialty and Consumer) were $134.0 million in fiscal 2011, a $28.1 million 
or a 26.5 percent increase from fiscal 2010 net sales of $105.9 million. The increase in net sales was driven primarily from increased unit volumes 
during fiscal 2011. 

Operating earnings within Specialty and Consumer totaled $10.7 million for fiscal 2011 or 8.0 percent of net sales, an increase of 280 basis 
points. This compares to operating earnings of $5.5 million or 5.2 percent of net sales in fiscal 2010. This increase was offset by $2.2 million in 
additional operating expenses related to the reinstatement of all of the company's employee benefits and employee incentive plans. The remainder 
of the increased operating profitability was driven by the ability to spread fixed manufacturing, sales and other costs over increased unit volumes.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The table below presents certain key cash flow and capital highlights for the fiscal years indicated. 

Fiscal Year Ended
(In millions) 2012 2011 2010
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 172.2 $ 142.2 $ 130.5
Marketable securities, end of period $ 9.6 $ 11.0 $ 12.1
Cash generated from operating activities $ 90.1 $ 89.0 $ 98.7
Cash used for investing activities $ (58.4) $ (31.4) $ (77.6)
Cash used for financing activities $ (1.6) $ (50.2) $ (78.9)
Pension and post-retirement benefit plan contributions (4) $ (64.9) $ (52.8) $ (19.3)
Capital expenditures $ (28.5) $ (30.5) $ (22.3)
Stock repurchased and retired $ (2.7) $ (1.0) $ (0.8)
Interest-bearing debt, end of period (1) (3) $ 250.0 $ 250.0 $ 301.2
Available unsecured credit facility, end of period (2) (3) $ 140.3 $ 140.6 $ 138.8

(1) Amounts shown include the fair value of the company's interest rate swap arrangement. The net fair value of this arrangement was $1.2 
million at May 29, 2010.

(2) Amounts shown are net of outstanding letters of credit, which are applied against the company's unsecured credit facility.
(3) During the second quarter of fiscal 2012 and the first quarter of fiscal 2010 we renegotiated the unsecured revolving credit facility. Refer 

to Note 5 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information. 
(4) Amount shown for fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010 includes a $14.6 million and $16.7 million contribution made in the company's common 

stock, respectively.
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Cash Flow — Operating Activities 

Cash generated from operating activities in fiscal 2012 totaled $90.1 million compared to $89.0 million generated in the prior year. This represents 
an increase of $1.1 million compared to fiscal 2011. Changes in working capital balances resulted in a $8.8 million source of cash in the current 
fiscal year compared to a $15.6 million use of cash in the prior year. 

The source of cash related to working capital balances in fiscal 2012 consist primarily of decreases in trade receivables of $17.5 million, prepaids 
of $2.7 million, an increase in trade payables of $4.8 million and an increase in accrued warranty of $5.3 million. These amounts were partially 
offset by decreases in accrued compensation and other accruals of $20.1 million and $1.4 million, respectively. 

The use of cash related to working capital balances in fiscal 2011 consist primarily of increases in trade receivables of $48.5 million, inventory 
of $8.3 million and prepaids of $14.5 million. These changes were partially offset by increases in trade payables of $14.3 million, and regular 
and incentive based compensation of $34.8 million during fiscal 2011.

The source of cash related to working capital balances in fiscal 2010 consisted primarily of decreases in trade receivables of $9.0 million, 
prepaids of $23.6 million and an increase in trade payables of $13.5 million, offset by increased inventory of $7.1 million and a decrease in other 
accruals. The other accruals decreased primarily due to restructuring payments of $15.5 million during fiscal 2010. 

Collections of accounts receivable remained strong throughout fiscal 2012, and the company's recorded accounts receivable valuation allowances 
at the end of the year are believed to be adequate to cover the risk of potential bad debts. Allowances for non-collectible accounts receivable, 
as a percent of gross accounts receivable, totaled 2.7 percent, 2.3 percent, and 3.0 percent at the end of fiscal years 2012, 2011, and 2010, 
respectively. 

During fiscal 2012 $64.9 million in cash contributions were made to the company's employee pension and post-retirement benefit plans. Cash 
contributions during fiscal years 2011 and 2010 made to the company's employee pension and post-retirement benefit plans totaled $38.2 million 
and $2.6 million, respectively. For further information regarding the company's pension and post-retirement benefit plans, including information 
relative to the funded status of these plans, refer to Note 7 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Cash Flow — Investing Activities 

Capital expenditures totaled $28.5 million, $30.5 million  and $22.3 million in fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Outstanding commitments 
for future capital purchases at the end of fiscal 2012 were approximately $8 million. The company expects capital spending in fiscal 2013 to be 
between $50 million and $60 million primarily due to planned investments in the company's facilities. 

Included in the fiscal 2012 investing activities, is a net cash outflow of $47.1 million related to the acquisition of Sun Hing POSH Holdings Limited. 
During fiscal 2012 the company also received proceeds of $13.8 million and $3.6 million from the sale of three furniture dealerships and a 
warehousing facility, respectively. 

Included in the fiscal 2010 investing activities, is a net cash outflow of $46.1 million related to  our acquisitions of Nemschoff, CBS, and two 
furniture dealerships. Also included within fiscal 2010 investing activities is a note receivable for $6.9 million related to our acquisition of Nemschoff. 
In fiscal 2010 we repaid loans held against the value of company owned life insurance policies for $2.9 million. 

Our net marketable securities transactions for fiscal 2012 yielded a $1.4 million source of cash. This compares to a  $1.3 million source of cash 
in fiscal 2011 and a $0.1 million source of cash in fiscal 2010.
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Cash Flow — Financing Activities 

Fiscal Year Ended
(In millions, except share and per share data) 2012 2011 2010
Shares acquired 115,012 49,694 44,654
Cost of shares acquired $ 2.7   $ 1.0   $ 0.8
Shares issued (1) 442,085   1,095,819   3,221,326
Average price per share issued $ 19.2   $ 22.59   $ 14.9
Cash dividends paid $ 5.2   $ 5.0   $ 4.9

(1) Includes 2,041,666 shares issued in connection with the Nemschoff acquisition during fiscal 2010. Includes 582,000 shares and 967,000    
    shares issued as a contribution to the company's pension plans during fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010, respectively. 

During the second quarter of fiscal 2012, the company entered into an amendment and restatement of the syndicated revolving line of credit, 
which provides the company with up to $150 million in revolving variable interest borrowing capacity and includes an "accordion feature" allowing 
the company to increase, at its option and subject to the approval of the participating banks, the aggregate borrowing capacity of the facility by 
$75 million. The facility expires in November 2016 and outstanding borrowings bear interest at rates based on the prime rate, federal funds rate, 
LIBOR, or negotiated rates as outlined in the agreement. Interest is payable periodically throughout the period a borrowing is outstanding.

During the first quarter of fiscal 2010, the company also completed the repurchase of $75 million of registered debt securities. 

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009 we announced a reduction in the cash dividend effective for the first quarter of fiscal 2010 payment. This 
change reduced the cash dividend to $0.088 per share annually versus a total quarterly cash dividend of $0.088 per share that was paid through 
the third quarter of fiscal 2009. As part of our decision to conserve cash we suspended significant share repurchases beginning in fiscal 2009. 
The amount remaining under our share repurchase authorization at the end of fiscal 2012 totaled $166.6 million. Subsequent to the end of fiscal 
2012 the company announced an increase in its quarterly cash dividend to $0.088 per share or $0.35 per share annually.

Interest-bearing debt at the end of fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011 was $250 million compared to $301.2 million at the end of fiscal 2010. The decrease 
in fiscal 2011 is a result of the repayment of the remaining $100 million in principal due under the 2001 public bond issue. The payment was 
made using a combination of existing cash and proceeds from newly-issued senior unsecured private placement notes of $50 million maturing 
in March 2021.

The only usage against the company's unsecured revolving credit facility at the end of fiscal years 2012 and 2011 represented outstanding 
standby letters of credit totaling $9.7 million and $9.4 million, respectively. The provisions of the company's private placement notes and unsecured 
credit facility require the company to adhere to certain covenants and maintain certain performance ratios. The company was in compliance 
with all such covenants and performance ratios during fiscal 2012. 

In fiscal 2012, we received $6.4 million related to the issuance of shares in connection with stock-based compensation plans. This compares 
to receiving $8.6 million and $2.5 million in fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010, respectively. 

At the end of the fourth quarter fiscal 2012, the company had cash of $172.2 million including foreign cash of $47.7 million. In addition, the 
company had foreign marketable securities of $9.6 million. The foreign subsidiary holding the company's marketable securities is taxed as a 
U.S. taxpayer at the company's election; consequently, for tax purposes all U.S tax impacts for this subsidiary have been recorded. The company 
currently plans to repatriate approximately $3.6 million within fiscal 2013 from foreign subsidiaries, for which all U.S taxes have been recorded. 
The company's intent is to permanently reinvest the remainder of the foreign cash amounts outside the U.S. The company's plans do not 
demonstrate a need to repatriate these balances to fund U.S. operations. During fiscal 2011 the company repatriated $18.8 million of undistributed 
foreign earnings. During fiscal 2010 the company did not repatriate any undistributed foreign earnings.

We believe cash on hand, cash generated from operations, and our borrowing capacity will provide adequate liquidity to fund near term and 
future business operations and capital needs, subject to financing availability in the marketplace. 
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Contingencies 

The company leases a facility in the United Kingdom under an agreement that expired in June 2011, and the company is currently leasing the 
facility on a month to month basis. Under the terms of the lease, the company is required to perform the maintenance and repairs necessary to 
address the general dilapidation of the facility over the lease term. The ultimate cost of this provision to the company is dependent on a number 
of factors including, but not limited to, the future use of the facility by the lessor and whether the company chooses and is permitted to renew 
the lease term. The company has estimated the cost of these maintenance and repairs to be between $0 and $3 million, depending on the 
outcome of future plans and negotiations. Based on existing circumstances, it is estimated that these costs will be approximately $1.2 million.  
As a result, this amount has been recorded as a liability reflected under the caption “Other Liabilities” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as 
of June 2, 2012. Based on circumstances existing in fiscal 2010, the amount recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of May 28, 2011 
was $1.3 million.

The company has a lease obligation in the U.K. until May 2014 for a facility that it has exited. Current market rates for comparable office space 
are lower than the rental payments owed under the lease agreement, as such, the company would remain liable to pay the difference if it were 
subleased. As of June 2, 2012 and May 28, 2011 the future cost of this arrangement was estimated to be $1.1 million and $1.7 million, respectively. 
Accordingly this amount is reflected within “Other Liabilities” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of these dates. 

The company is involved in legal proceedings and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. It is the company's opinion that the 
outcome of such proceedings and litigation currently pending will not materially affect the company's operations, cash flows, and financial 
condition.

Basis of Presentation 

The company's fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to May 31. Fiscal year ending June 2, 2012 contained 53 weeks of operations. Fiscal 
years ended May 28, 2011 and May 29, 2010 each included 52 weeks of operations. This is the basis upon which weekly-average data is 
presented. 

Contractual Obligations 

Contractual obligations associated with our ongoing business and financing activities will result in cash payments in future periods. The following 
table summarizes the amounts and estimated timing of these future cash payments. Further information regarding debt obligations can be found 
in Note 5 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. Likewise, further information related to operating leases can be found in Note 6 of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

(In millions) Payments due by fiscal year
Total 2013 2014-2015 2016-2017 Thereafter

Long-term debt $ 250.0 $ — $ 50.0 $ — $ 200.0
Estimated interest on debt 
obligations (1) 87.9 15.6 30.0 25.3 17.0
Operating leases 68.2 18.0 24.2 12.4 13.6
Purchase obligations (2) 49.3 43.8 5.5 — —
Pension plan funding (3) 4.5 3.7 0.2 0.2 0.4
Stockholder dividends (4) 1.3 1.3 — — —
Other (5) 16.9 1.8 3.4 3.2 8.5

Total $ 478.1 $ 84.2 $ 113.3 $ 41.1 $ 239.5

(1) Estimated future interest payments on our outstanding debt obligations are based on interest rates as of June 2, 2012. Actual cash 
outflows may differ significantly due to changes in underlying interest rates and timing of principal payments. 

(2) Purchase obligations consist of non-cancelable purchase orders and commitments for goods, services, and capital assets. 
(3) Pension plan funding commitments are known for a 12-month period for those plans that are funded; unfunded pension and post-

retirement plan funding amounts are equal to the estimated benefit payments. As of June 2, 2012, the total projected benefit obligation for 
our domestic and international employee pension benefit plans was $418.8 million. 

(4) Represents the recorded dividend payable as of June 2, 2012. Future dividend payments are not considered contractual obligations until 
declared. 

(5) Other contractual obligations primarily represent long-term commitments related to deferred and supplemental employee compensation 
benefits, and other post-employment benefits.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

Guarantees 

We provide certain guarantees to third parties under various arrangements in the form of product warranties, loan guarantees, standby letters 
of credit, lease guarantees, performance bonds, and indemnification provisions. These arrangements are accounted for and disclosed in 
accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 460, "Guarantees" as described in Note 13 of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

Our goal is to report financial results clearly and understandably. We follow accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America in preparing our Consolidated Financial Statements, which require us to make certain estimates and apply judgments that affect our 
financial position and results of operations. We continually review our accounting policies and financial information disclosures. These policies 
and disclosures are reviewed at least annually with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors. Following is a summary of our more significant 
accounting policies that require the use of estimates and judgments in preparing the financial statements. 

Revenue Recognition 

As described in the “Executive Overview,” the majority of our products and services are sold through one of four channels: Independent contract 
furniture dealers and licensees, owned contract furniture dealers, direct to end customers, and independent retailers. We recognize revenue 
on sales to independent dealers, licensees, and retailers once the product is shipped and title passes to the buyer. When we sell product directly 
to the end customer or through owned dealers, we recognize revenue once the product and services are delivered and installation thereof is 
substantially complete. 

Amounts recorded as net sales generally include any freight charged to customers, with the related freight expenses recognized within cost of 
sales. Items such as discounts off list price, rebates, and other sale-related marketing program expenses are recorded as reductions to net 
sales. We record accruals for rebates and other marketing programs, which require us to make estimates about future customer buying patterns 
and market conditions. Customer sales that reach (or fail to reach) certain levels can affect the amount of such estimates, and actual results 
could differ from our estimates

Receivable Allowances 

We base our allowances for receivables on known customer exposures, historical credit experience, and the specific identification of other 
potential problems, including the current economic climate. These methods are applied to all major receivables, including trade, lease, and 
notes receivable. In addition, we follow a policy that consistently applies reserve rates based on the age of outstanding accounts receivable. 
Actual collections can differ from our historical experience, and if economic or business conditions deteriorate significantly, adjustments to these 
reserves may be required. 

The accounts receivable allowance totaled $4.4 million and $4.5 million at June 2, 2012 and May 28, 2011, respectively. As a percentage of 
gross accounts receivable, these allowances totaled 2.7 percent and 2.3 percent for fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively. The year-over-
year decrease in the allowance is primarily due to the stabilization of economic conditions and continued financial health of our customers. 

Goodwill and Indefinite-lived Intangibles 

The carrying value of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets as of June 2, 2012 and May 28, 2011, were $184.0 million and $133.6 million, 
respectively. The company is required to perform an annual test of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets to determine if the asset values 
are impaired. 

The company has early-adopted the provisions of ASU 2011-08, which permits the company to perform a qualitative assessment to determine 
whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value to assess goodwill for impairment. The 
quantitative impairment test, when necessary, is based on the present value of projected cash flows and the resulting residual value and includes 
a reconciliation to market capitalization. In completing the test under this approach, the company assumes that one of the drivers of the value 
of a business today is the cash flows it will generate in the future. The company also assumes that such future cash flows can be reasonably 
estimated. While these projected cash flows reflect the best estimate of future reporting unit performance, actual cash flows could differ 
significantly. 

The company completed the required annual goodwill impairment test in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 and concluded through a qualitative 
assessment that it is more likely than not that the goodwill of the reporting units are not impaired and thus the two-step quantitative impairment 
test was unnecessary. The company employs a market-based approach in selecting the discount rates used in our analysis.The discount rates 
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selected represent market rates of return equal to what the company believes is what a reasonable investor would expect to achieve on 
investments of similar size to the company's reporting units. The company believes the discount rates selected in the qualitative assessment 
are appropriate in that, in all cases, they exceed the estimated weighted average cost of capital for our business as a whole. The results of the 
impairment test are sensitive to changes in discount rates, though the testing performed in fiscal 2012 indicates that even a significant increase 
in the discount rate would not have changed the conclusion.

The company employs the relief from royalty method to determine the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible assets which is a both a market-
based approach and an income-based approach. The relief from royalty method focuses on the level of royalty payments that the user of an 
intangible asset would have to pay a third party for the use of the asset if it were not owned by the user. This method involves estimating 
theoretical future after tax royalty payments based on the company's forecasted revenues attributable to the trade names. These payments are 
then discounted to present value utilizing a discount rate that considers the after-corporate tax required rate of return applicable to the asset. 
The projected revenues reflect the best estimate of management for the trade names, however, actual revenues could differ significantly.

The company completed the required annual indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment tests in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 and concluded 
that two healthcare trade names were impaired during fiscal 2012, resulting in an impairment of $3.8 million. The impairment was the result of 
the company’s strategy change during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 to reduce its portfolio of healthcare brands and begin marketing the 
related products under the Nemschoff trade name. The remaining indefinite-lived intangible assets tested were not impaired. The discount rates 
selected represent market rates of return equal to what the company believes is what a reasonable investor would expect to achieve on 
investments of similar size to the company's reporting units. The company believes the discount rates selected are appropriate in that, in all 
cases, they exceed the estimated weighted average cost of capital for our business as a whole. The results of the impairment test are sensitive 
to changes in the discount rates and changes in the discount rate may result in future impairment.

Long-lived Assets 

The company evaluates other long-lived assets and acquired business units for indicators of impairment when events or circumstances indicate 
that an impairment risk may be present. The judgments regarding the existence of impairment are based on market conditions, operational 
performance, and estimated future cash flows. If the carrying value of a long-lived asset is considered impaired, an impairment charge is recorded 
to adjust the asset to its estimated fair value. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 the company recorded an impairment charge of $2.5 million 
that was related to our Convia line of business. These assets related to products that we determined had no future revenue stream to the 
company. The impairment charge was comprised of $1.4 million of expense related to an intangible asset and $1.1 million of expense in relation 
to fixed assets, respectively. 

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 the company recorded a fixed asset impairment charge of $1.4 million. This asset impairment relates to 
the Nemschoff plant closure and consolidation. See note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on the restructuring 
action which included this fixed asset impairment.

Warranty Reserve 

The company stands behind company products and the promises it makes to customers. From time to time, quality issues arise resulting in the 
need to incur costs to correct problems with products or services. The company has established warranty reserves for the various costs associated 
with these obligations. General warranty reserves are based on historical claims experience and periodically adjusted for business levels. Specific 
reserves are established once an issue is identified. The valuation of such reserves is based on the estimated costs to correct the problem. 
Actual costs may vary and may result in an adjustment to these reserves. 

Inventory Reserves 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. The inventories at the majority of our manufacturing operations are valued using the last-
in, first-out (LIFO) method, whereas inventories of certain other subsidiaries are valued using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. The company 
establishes reserves for excess and obsolete inventory, based on prevailing circumstances and judgment for consideration of current events, 
such as economic conditions, that may affect inventory. The reserve required to record inventory at lower of cost or market may be adjusted in 
response to changing conditions. 

Income Taxes 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial 
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities, and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured 
using the enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to reverse. 

See Note 10 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding the company's uncertain tax positions. 
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The company has net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards available in certain jurisdictions to reduce future taxable income. The company also 
has foreign tax credits available in certain jurisdictions to reduce future tax due. Future tax benefits for NOL carryforwards and foreign tax credits 
are recognized to the extent that realization of these benefits is considered more likely than not. This determination is based on the expectation 
that related operations will be sufficiently profitable or various tax planning strategies available to us will enable us to utilize the NOL carryforwards 
and/or foreign tax credits. When information becomes available that raises doubts about the realization of a deferred income tax asset, a valuation 
allowance is established. 

Self-Insurance Reserves 

With the assistance of independent actuaries, reserves are established for workers' compensation and general liability exposures. The reserves 
are established based on expected future claims for incurred losses. The company also establishes reserves for health, prescription drugs, and 
dental benefit exposures based on historical claims information along with certain assumptions about future trends. The methods and assumptions 
used to determine the liabilities are applied consistently, although actual claims experience can vary. The company also maintains insurance 
coverage for certain risk exposures through traditional premium-based insurance policies. The company's health benefits retention level does 
not include an aggregate stop loss policy. The company's retention levels designated within significant insurance arrangements as of June 2, 2012, 
are as follows.

  Retention Level

General liability and auto liability/physical damage $1.00 million per occurrence

Workers' compensation and property $0.75 million per occurrence

Health benefits $1.00 million per employee

Pension and other Post-Retirement Benefits 

The determination of the obligation and expense for pension and other post-retirement benefits depends on certain actuarial assumptions. 
Among the most significant of these assumptions are the discount rate, interest-crediting rate, and expected long-term rate of return on plan 
assets. We determine these assumptions as follows. 

• Discount Rate — This assumption is established at the end of the fiscal year based on high-quality corporate bond yields. The company 
utilizes the services of an independent actuarial firm to assist in determining the rate. For the domestic pension and other post-
retirement benefit plans, the actuary uses a “cash flow matching” technique, which compares the estimated future cash flows of the 
plan to a published discount curve showing the relationship between interest rates and duration for hypothetical zero-coupon fixed 
income investments. The discount rate is set for the international pension plan based on the yield level of a commonly used corporate 
bond index in that jurisdiction. Because the average duration of the bonds underlying this index is less than that of our international 
pension plan liabilities, the index yield is used as a reference point. The final discount rate takes into consideration the index yield and 
the difference in comparative durations.

• Interest Crediting Rate — The company uses this assumption in accounting for our primary domestic pension plan, which is a cash 
balance-type plan. The rate, which represents the annual rate of interest applied to each plan participant's account balance, is 
established at an assumed level, or spread, below the discount rate. The company bases this methodology on the historical spread 
between the 30-year U.S. Treasury and high-quality corporate bond yields. This relationship is examined annually to determine whether 
the methodology is still appropriate. 

• Expected Long-Term Rate of Return — The company bases this assumption on our long-term assumed rates of return for equities 
and fixed income securities, weighted by the allocation of the invested assets of the pension plan. The company considers likely 
returns and risk factors specific to the various classes of investments and advice from independent actuaries in establishing this rate. 
Changes in the investment allocation of plan assets would impact this assumption. A shift to a higher relative percentage of fixed 
income securities, for example, would result in a lower assumed rate. 

While this assumption represents the long-term market return expectation, actual asset returns can and do differ from year-to-year. 
Such differences give rise to actuarial gains and losses. In years where actual market returns are lower than the assumed rate, an 
actuarial loss is generated. Conversely, an actuarial gain results when actual market returns exceed the assumed rate in a given year. 
As of June 2, 2012, and May 28, 2011, the net actuarial loss associated with the employee pension and post-retirement benefit plans 
totaled approximately $195.7 million and $158.2 million, respectively. The majority of this unrecognized loss was associated  with 
lower than expected return on assets for fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010. Changes in the discount rate and return on assets can have a 
significant effect on the expense and obligations related to our pension plans. The company cannot accurately predict these changes 
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in discount rates or investment returns and, therefore, cannot reasonably estimate whether adjustments to the expense or obligation 
in subsequent years will be significant. Both the June 2, 2012 pension funded status and 2013 expense are affected by year-end 2012 
discount rate and expected return on assets assumptions. Any change to these assumptions will be specific to the time periods noted 
and may not be additive, so the impact of changing multiple factors simultaneously cannot be calculated by combining the individual 
sensitivities shown. The effect of the indicated increase/(decrease) in discount rates and expected return on assets is shown below:

(In millions)

Assumption
1 Percent
Change 2013 Expense June 2, 2012 Obligation

U.S. International U.S. International
Discount rate +/- 1.0 $ 1.5 / (1.5) $ (1.1) / 1.3 $ (15.0) / 18.7 $ (16.0) / 20.8
Expected return on
assets +/- 1.0 $(3.1) / 3.1 $ (0.8) / 0.8 — —

For purposes of determining annual net pension expense, the company uses a calculated method for determining the market-related 
value of plan assets. Under this method, the company recognizes the change in fair value of plan assets systematically over a five-
year period. Accordingly, a portion of the net actuarial loss is deferred. The remaining portion of the net actuarial loss is subject to 
amortization expense each year. The amortization period used in determining this expense is the estimated remaining working life of 
active pension plan participants. The company currently estimates this period to be approximately 13 years. As of June 2, 2012, the 
deferred net actuarial loss (i.e. the portion of the total net actuarial loss not subject to amortization) was approximately $8.7 million. 

Refer to Note 7 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information regarding costs and assumptions used for employee 
benefit plans.

Stock-Based Compensation

The company views stock-based compensation as a key component of total compensation for certain employees, non-employee directors and 
officers. The stock-based compensation programs include grants of restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance share units, employee 
stock purchases, and stock options. The company recognizes expense related to each of these share-based arrangements. The Black-Scholes 
option pricing model is used in estimating the fair value of stock options issued in connection with compensation programs. This pricing model 
requires the use of several input assumptions. Among the most significant of these assumptions are the expected volatility of the common stock 
price, and the expected timing of future stock option exercises. 

• Expected Volatility — This represents a measure, expressed as a percentage, of the expected fluctuation in the market price of the 
company's common stock. As a point of reference, a high volatility percentage would assume a wider expected range of market returns 
for a particular security. All other assumptions held constant, this would yield a higher stock option valuation than a calculation using 
a lower measure of volatility. In measuring the fair value of stock options issued during fiscal year 2012, we utilized an expected 
volatility of 42 percent. 

• Expected Term of Options — This assumption represents the expected length of time between the grant date of a stock option and 
the date at which it is exercised (option life). The company assumed an average expected term of 5.5 years in calculating the fair 
values of the majority of stock options issued during fiscal 2012. 

Refer to Note 9 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion on our stock-based compensation plans. 

Contingencies 

In the ordinary course of business, the company encounters matters that raise the potential for contingent liabilities. In evaluating these matters 
for accounting treatment and disclosure, the company is required to apply judgment in order to determine the probability that a liability has been 
incurred. The company is also required to measure, if possible, the dollar value of such liabilities in determining whether or not recognition in 
our financial statements is required. This process involves the use of estimates which may differ from actual outcomes. Refer to Note 13 of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements for more information relating to contingencies. 
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New Accounting Standards 

Refer to Note 1 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for information related to new accounting standards. 

Forward Looking Statements 

Certain statements in this filing are not historical facts but are “forward-looking statements” as defined under Section 27A of the Securities Act 
of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act, as amended. Such statements are based on management's belief, 
assumptions, current expectations, estimates and projections about the office furniture industry, the economy and the company itself. Words 
like “anticipates,” “believes,” “confident,” “estimates,” “expects,” “forecast,” “likely,” “plans,” “projects,” and “should,” and variations of such words 
and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements. These statements do not guarantee future performance and involve certain risks, 
uncertainties, and assumptions that are difficult to predict with regard to timing, expense, likelihood, and degree of occurrence. These risks 
include, without limitation, employment and general economic conditions in the U.S. and in our international markets, the increase in white collar 
employment, the willingness of customers to undertake capital expenditures, the types of products purchased by customers, the possibility of 
order cancellations or deferrals by customers, competitive pricing pressures, the availability and pricing of direct materials, our reliance on a 
limited number of suppliers, currency fluctuations, the ability to increase prices to absorb the additional costs of direct materials, the financial 
strength of our dealers, the financial strength of our customers, the mix of our products purchased by customers, our ability to attract and retain 
key executives and other qualified employees, our ability to continue to make product innovations, the strength of the intellectual property relating 
to our products, the success of newly introduced products, our ability to serve all of our markets, possible acquisitions, divestitures or alliances, 
the outcome of pending litigation or governmental audits or investigations, and other risks identified in this Form 10-K and our other filings with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission. Therefore, actual results and outcomes may materially differ from what we express or forecast. 
Furthermore, Herman Miller, Inc., takes no obligation to update, amend, or clarify forward-looking statements. 

Item 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The company manufactures, markets, and sells its products throughout the world and, as a result, is subject to changing economic conditions, 
which could reduce the demand for its products. 

Direct Material Costs 

The company is exposed to risks arising from price changes for certain direct materials and assembly components used in its operations. The 
largest such costs incurred by the company are for steel, plastics, textiles, wood particleboard, and aluminum components. The impact from 
changes in commodity prices increased the company's costs by approximately $1 million during fiscal 2012 compared to the prior year. The net 
impact of changes in pricing of increased net sales by $35 million, which had the effect of decreasing the company's costs as a percent of net 
sales compared to fiscal 2011.

The net impact of changes in pricing in fiscal 2011 decreased net sales by $12 million, which had the effect of increasing the company's costs 
as a percent of net sales compared to fiscal 2010. The net impact of changes in pricing in fiscal 2010 increased net sales by approximately $24 
million, which had the effect of decreasing the company's costs as a percent of net sales compared to fiscal 2009.

The company believes market prices for commodities in the near term may move higher and acknowledges that over time increases on its key 
direct materials and assembly components are likely. Consequently, it views the prospect of such increases as an outlook risk to the business. 

Foreign Exchange Risk 

The company primarily manufactures its products in the United States, United Kingdom, and China. It also sources completed products and 
product components from outside the United States. The company's completed products are sold in numerous countries around the world. Sales 
in foreign countries as well as certain expenses related to those sales are transacted in currencies other than the company's reporting currency, 
the U.S. dollar. Accordingly, production costs and profit margins related to these sales are affected by the currency exchange relationship between 
the countries where the sales take place and the countries where the products are sourced or manufactured. These currency exchange 
relationships can also affect the company's competitive positions within these markets. 

In the normal course of business, the company enters into contracts denominated in foreign currencies. The principal foreign currencies in which 
the company conducts its business are the British pound sterling, euro, Canadian dollar, Japanese yen, Mexican peso, and Chinese renminbi. 
As of June 2, 2012, the company had outstanding, ten forward currency instruments designed to offset either net asset or net liability exposure 
that is denominated in non-functional currencies. Two forward contracts were placed to offset a 3.9 million euro-denominated net asset exposure 
and two forward contracts were placed to offset a 0.6 million U.S. dollar-denominated net asset exposure. One forward contract was placed to 
offset 0.3 million Australian dollar-denominated net asset exposure. Five forward contracts were placed to offset a 4.2 million U.S.dollar-
denominated net liability exposure.
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As of May 28, 2011, the company had outstanding, sixteen forward currency instruments designed to offset either net asset or net liability 
exposure that is denominated in non-functional currencies. Two forward contracts were placed to offset a 3.1 million euro-denominated net asset 
exposure and five forward contracts were placed to offset a 7.6 million U.S. dollar-denominated net asset exposure. One forward contract was 
placed to offset 0.4 million Australian dollar-denominated net asset exposure. Eight forward contracts were placed to offset a 2.4 million U.S.dollar-
denominated net liability exposure.

A net loss of $1.3 million and $2.0 million related to remeasuring all foreign currency transactions into the appropriate functional currency was 
included in net earnings for fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively. For fiscal year 2010, a net gain of $0.4 million impacted net earnings. 
Additionally, the cumulative effect of translating the balance sheet and income statement accounts from the functional currency into the United 
States dollar increased the accumulated comprehensive loss component of total stockholders' equity by $7.1 million as of the end of fiscal 2012. 
Conversely, the effect decreased the accumulated comprehensive loss component of total stockholders equity by $6.4 million as of the end of 
fiscal 2011. For fiscal 2010 the cumulative effect increased the accumulated comprehensive loss component of total stockholders' equity by 
$2.9 million.

Interest Rate Risk 

The company maintains fixed-rate debt for which changes in interest rates generally affect fair market value but not earnings or cash flows. 
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011 the company's interest rate swap agreement expired as planned on March 15, 2011. At the end of fiscal 
2010 the company held one interest rate swap agreement that effectively converted $50.0 million of fixed-rate debt securities to a variable rate. 

The combined fair market value and net asset amount of the effective interest rate swap instruments was $1.2 million at May 29, 2010. The 
swap arrangement effectively reduced interest expense by $1.5 million and $1.9 million in fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010, respectively. All cash 
flows related to the company's interest rate swap instruments are denominated in U.S. dollars. 

Expected cash flows (notional amounts) over the next five years and thereafter related to debt instruments are as follows. 

(In millions) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter Total
Long-Term Debt:

Fixed rate $ — $ — $ 50.0 $ — $ — $ 200.0 $ 250.0
Wtd. average interest rate = 6.2%
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Item 8 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Fiscal Years Ended

(In millions, except per share data) June 2, 2012 May 28, 2011 May 29, 2010

Net sales $ 1,724.1   $ 1,649.2   $ 1,318.8

Cost of sales 1,133.5   1,111.1   890.3

Gross margin 590.6   538.1   428.5

Operating expenses:

Selling, general, and administrative 394.9   366.0   317.7

Restructuring and impairment expenses 5.4   3.0   16.7

Design and research 52.7   45.8   40.5

Total operating expenses 453.0   414.8   374.9

Operating earnings 137.6 123.3 53.6

Other expenses (income):

Interest expense 17.5 19.9 21.7

Interest and other investment income (1.0) (1.5) (4.6)

Other, net 1.6 2.4 1.7

Net other expenses 18.1 20.8 18.8

Earnings before income taxes 119.5 102.5 34.8

Income tax expense 44.3   31.7   6.5

Net Earnings $ 75.2   $ 70.8   $ 28.3

 

Earnings per share —basic $ 1.29   $ 1.24   $ 0.51

Earnings per share —diluted $ 1.29   $ 1.06   $ 0.43
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In millions, except share and per share data) June 2, 2012 May 28, 2011
Assets  
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 172.2 $ 142.2
Marketable securities 9.6 11.0
Accounts receivable, less allowances of $4.4 in 2012 and $4.5 in 2011 159.7 193.1
Inventories, net 59.3 66.2
Deferred income taxes 20.4 21.2
Prepaid property and other taxes 17.6 25.4
Other 16.5 12.6
Total Current Assets 455.3 471.7

Property and Equipment:
Land and improvements 19.2 19.9
Buildings and improvements 146.0 149.5
Machinery and equipment 533.7 531.0
Construction in progress 12.6 13.0
Gross Property and Equipment 711.5 713.4
Less: accumulated depreciation (555.5) (544.3)
Net Property and Equipment 156.0 169.1

Goodwill 144.7 110.4
Indefinite-lived intangibles 39.3 23.2
Other amortizable intangibles, net 31.1 24.3
Other assets 11.0 9.3
Total Assets $ 837.4 $ 808.0

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 115.8 $ 112.7
Accrued liabilities 136.2 153.1
Total Current Liabilities 252.0 265.8

Long-term debt 250.0 250.0
Pension and post-retirement benefits 37.9 51.6
Deferred compensation 12.1 11.0
Other liabilities 37.1 24.6
Total Liabilities 589.1 603.0

Shareholders' Equity:
Preferred stock, no par value (10,000,000 shares authorized, none issued) — —
Common stock, $0.20 par value (240,000,000 shares authorized, 58,375,931 and
55,048,858 shares issued and outstanding in 2012 and 2011, respectively) 11.7 11.6
Additional paid-in capital 90.9 82.0
Retained earnings 288.2 218.2
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (140.6) (104.2)
Key executive deferred compensation (1.9) (2.6)

Total Shareholders' Equity 248.3   205.0
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity $ 837.4   $ 808.0
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity

(In millions, except share data)

Shares of
Common

Stock
Common

Stock
Additional

Paid-In Capital
Retained
Earnings

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Key Exec.
Deferred Comp.

Total
Stockholders'

Equity

Balance, May 30, 2009 53,826,061 $ 10.8 $ 5.9 $ 129.2 $ (134.1) $ (3.8) $ 8.0

Net earnings — — — 28.3 — — 28.3

Foreign currency translation
adjustment — — — — (2.9) — (2.9)
Pension and post-retirement
liability adjustments (net of tax
benefit of $0.9 million) — — — — 0.6 — 0.6

Unrealized holding gain on
available-for-sale securities — — — — 0.2 — 0.2

Total comprehensive income 26.2

Cash dividends declared ($0.088
per share) — — — (5.1) — — (5.1)
Issuance of common stock in
connection with business
acquisition 2,041,666 0.4 28.3 — — — 28.7

Contribution of common stock to
defined benefit pension plan 967,000 0.2 16.5 — — — 16.7

Exercise of stock options 10,000 — 0.2 — — — 0.2

Employee stock purchase plan 133,048 — 2.2 — — — 2.2

Tax benefit relating to stock-
based compensation — — 0.1 — — — 0.1

Excess tax benefit relating to
stock-based compensation — — (0.5) — — — (0.5)

Repurchase and retirement of
common stock (44,654) — (0.8) — — — (0.8)

Restricted stock units
compensation expense — — 1.0 — — — 1.0

Restricted stock units released 50,877 — 0.2 — — — 0.2

Stock grants compensation
expense — — 0.4 — — — 0.4

Stock option compensation
expense — — 2.5 — — — 2.5

Deferred compensation plan — — (0.4) — — 0.4 —

Directors' fees 18,735 — 0.3 — — — 0.3

Balance, May 29, 2010 57,002,733 $ 11.4 $ 55.9 $ 152.4 $ (136.2) $ (3.4) $ 80.1
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity

(In millions, except share data)

Shares of
Common

Stock
Common

Stock
Additional

Paid-In Capital
Retained
Earnings

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Key Exec.
Deferred Comp.

Total
Stockholders'

Equity

Balance, May 29, 2010 57,002,733 $ 11.4 $ 55.9 $ 152.4 $ (136.2) $ (3.4) $ 80.1

Net earnings — — — 70.8 — — 70.8

Foreign currency translation
adjustment — — — — 6.4 — 6.4
Pension and post-retirement
liability adjustments (net of tax
benefit of $11.8 million) — — — — 25.5 — 25.5

Unrealized holding gain on
available-for-sale securities — — — — 0.1 — 0.1

Total comprehensive income 102.8

Cash dividends declared ($0.088
per share) — — — (5.0) — — (5.0)

Contribution of common stock to
defined benefit pension plan 582,000 0.1 14.5 — — — 14.6

Exercise of stock options 309,252 0.1 6.5 — — — 6.6

Employee stock purchase plan 99,593 — 2.1 — — — 2.1

Excess tax benefit relating to
stock-based compensation — — 0.1 — — — 0.1

Repurchase and retirement of
common stock (49,694) — (1.0) — — — (1.0)

Restricted stock units released 95,865 — 2.0 — — — 2.0

Stock option compensation
expense — — 2.5 — — — 2.5

Deferred compensation plan — — (0.8) — — 0.8 —

Directors' fees 9,109 — 0.2 — — — 0.2

Balance, May 28, 2011 58,048,858 $ 11.6 $ 82.0 $ 218.2 $ (104.2) $ (2.6) $ 205.0
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity

(In millions, except share data)

Shares of
Common

Stock
Common

Stock
Additional

Paid-In Capital
Retained
Earnings

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Key Exec.
Deferred Comp.

Total
Stockholders'

Equity
Balance, May 28, 2011 58,048,858 $ 11.6 $ 82.0 $ 218.2 $ (104.2) $ (2.6) $ 205.0

Net earnings — — — 75.2 — — 75.2

Foreign currency translation
adjustment — — — — (7.1) — (7.1)
Pension and post-retirement
liability adjustments (net of tax
benefit of $12.2 million) — — — — (29.3) — (29.3)

Unrealized holding gain on
available-for-sale securities — — — — — — —

Total comprehensive income 38.8

Cash dividends declared ($0.088
per share) — — — (5.2) — — (5.2)

Exercise of stock options 215,524 0.1 4.2 — — — 4.3

Employee stock purchase plan 109,435 — 2.1 — — — 2.1

Excess tax benefit relating to
stock-based compensation — — (0.1) — — — (0.1)

Repurchase and retirement of
common stock (115,012) — (2.7) — — — (2.7)

Restricted stock units released 99,007 — 2.9 — — — 2.9

Stock option compensation
expense — — 2.8 — — — 2.8

Deferred compensation plan — — (0.6) — — 0.7 0.1

Directors' fees 18,119 — 0.3 — — — 0.3
Balance, June 2, 2012 58,375,931 $ 11.7 $ 90.9 $ 288.2 $ (140.6) $ (1.9) $ 248.3
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Fiscal Years Ended
(In millions) June 2, 2012 May 28, 2011 May 29, 2010

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:  
Net earnings $ 75.2 $ 70.8 $ 28.3

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by
operating activities 14.9 18.2 70.4

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 90.1 89.0 98.7

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Notes receivable issued — — (6.5)
Marketable securities purchases (7.1) (3.1) (16.3)
Marketable securities sales 8.5 4.4 16.4
Capital expenditures (28.5) (30.5) (22.3)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 3.6 1.0 0.7
Proceeds from disposal of owned dealers 13.8 — —
Acquisitions, net of cash received (47.1) — (46.1)
Payments on loan on cash surrender value of life insurance — — (2.9)
Other, net (1.6) (3.2) (0.6)

Net Cash Used for Investing Activities (58.4) (31.4) (77.6)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Long-term debt repayments — (100.0) (75.0)
Long-term debt borrowings — 50.0 —
Dividends paid (5.2) (5.0) (4.9)
Common stock issued 6.4 8.6 2.5
Common stock repurchased and retired (2.7) (1.0) (0.8)
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation (0.1) 0.1 (0.5)
Payment of contingent consideration obligation — (3.0) —
Other, net — 0.1 (0.2)

Net Cash Used for Financing Activities (1.6) (50.2) (78.9)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (0.1) 4.3 (0.7)

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 30.0 11.7 (58.5)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 142.2 130.5 189.0

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year 172.2 142.2 130.5
Other Cash Flow Information
Interest paid 16.4 17.7 17.7
Net income taxes paid $ 19.7 $ 20.3 $ 14.6
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

1. Significant Accounting and Reporting Policies 

The following is a summary of significant accounting and reporting policies not reflected elsewhere in the accompanying financial statements.

Principles of Consolidation 
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Herman Miller, Inc., and its majority-owned domestic and foreign subsidiaries. 
The consolidated entities are collectively referred to as “the company.” All intercompany accounts and transactions, including any involving 
Variable Interest Entities (VIEs), have been eliminated in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Description of Business 
The company researches, designs, manufactures and distributes interior furnishings, for use in various environments including office, healthcare, 
educational, and residential settings, and provides related services that support companies all over the world. The company's products are sold 
primarily through independent contract office furniture dealers. Accordingly, accounts and notes receivable in the accompanying balance sheets 
are principally amounts due from the dealers.

Fiscal Year 
The company's fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to May 31. The fiscal year ended June 2, 2012 contains 53 weeks. The fiscal years 
ended May 28, 2011 and May 29, 2010, each contain 52 weeks. An extra week in the company's fiscal year is required approximately every six 
years in order to realign its fiscal calendar-end dates with the actual calendar months. 

Foreign Currency Translation 
The functional currency for foreign subsidiaries is their local currency. The cumulative effects of translating the balance sheet accounts from the 
functional currency into the United States dollar using fiscal year-end exchange rates and translating revenue and expense accounts using 
average exchange rates for the period is reflected as a component of “Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)” in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets. The financial statement impact of remeasuring all foreign currency transactions into the appropriate functional currency resulted 
in a net loss of $1.3 million and $2.0 million for the fiscal years ended June 2, 2012 and May 28, 2011, respectively. The financial statement 
impact of remeasuring all foreign currency transactions into the appropriate functional currency resulted in a net gain of and $0.4 million for the 
fiscal year ended May 29, 2010. These amounts are included in “Other Expenses (Income)” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

Cash Equivalents 
The company holds cash equivalents as part of its cash management function. Cash equivalents include money market funds, time deposit 
investments, and treasury bills with original maturities of less than three months. The carrying value of cash equivalents, which approximates 
fair value, totaled $4.5 million and $9.7 million as of June 2, 2012 and May 28, 2011, respectively. All cash and cash equivalents are high-credit 
quality financial instruments, and the amount of credit exposure to any one financial institution or instrument is limited.

Marketable Securities
The company maintains a portfolio of marketable securities primarily comprised of investment-grade, fixed-income securities. These investments 
are held by the company's wholly owned insurance captive and are considered “available-for-sale” securities. Accordingly, they have been 
recorded at fair value based on quoted market prices, with the resulting net unrealized holding gains or losses reflected net of tax as a component 
of “Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

All marketable security transactions are recognized on the trade date. Realized gains and losses on disposal of available-for-sale investments 
are included in “Interest and other investment income” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.  See Note 11 of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements for additional disclosures of marketable securities.

Accounts Receivable Allowances 
Reserves for uncollectible accounts receivable balances are based on known customer exposures, historical credit experience, and the specific 
identification of other potentially uncollectible accounts. Balances are written off against the reserve once the company determines the probability 
of collection to be remote. The company generally does not require collateral or other security on trade accounts receivable.
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Concentrations of Credit Risk
Our trade receivables are primarily due from independent dealers who, in turn, carry receivables from their customers. We monitor and manage 
the credit risk associated with individual dealers and direct customers where applicable. Dealers are responsible for assessing and assuming 
credit risk of their customers and may require their customers to provide deposits, letters of credit or other credit enhancement measures. Some 
sales contracts are structured such that the customer payment or obligation is direct to us. In those cases, we may assume the credit risk. 
Whether from dealers or customers, our trade credit exposures are not concentrated with any particular entity. 

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market and include material, labor, and overhead. Inventory cost is determined using the last-in, 
first-out (LIFO) method at the manufacturing sites in Michigan, whereas inventories of the company's other subsidiaries are valued using the 
first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. The company establishes reserves for excess and obsolete inventory, based on prevailing circumstances and 
judgment for consideration of current events, such as economic conditions, that may affect inventory. The reserve required to record inventory 
at lower of cost or market may be adjusted in response to changing conditions. Once elected, the company has applied these inventory cost 
valuation methods consistently from year to year. Further information on the company's recorded inventory balances can be found in Note 3 of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Property, Equipment, and Depreciation 
Property and equipment are stated at cost. The cost is depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the assets, using the straight-line method. 
Estimated useful lives range from 3 to 10 years for machinery and equipment and do not exceed 40 years for buildings. Leasehold improvements 
are depreciated over the lesser of the lease term or the useful life of the asset, not to exceed 10 years. We capitalize certain external and internal 
costs incurred in connection with the development, testing, and installation of software for internal use. Software for internal use is included in 
property and equipment and is depreciated over an estimated useful life not exceeding 5 years. Depreciation and amortization expense is 
included in the statement of operations in the cost of sales, operating expenses; selling, general and administrative, and design and research 
line items.

As of the end of fiscal 2012, outstanding commitments for future capital purchases approximated $8.0 million. 

Goodwill and Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets 
The company performs an annual impairment test, by reporting unit, to determine whether the asset values are impaired. A reporting unit is 
defined as an operating segment or one level below an operating segment. The goodwill  and indefinite-lived assets are primarily within the 
North American reportable segment, which includes two reporting units, and the Non-North American operating segment. The company has 
early-adopted the provisions of ASU 2011-08, which permits the company to perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more 
likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value. If the company determines it is not more likely than not that 
the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then performing the two-step impairment test is unnecessary. However, if a 
company concludes otherwise, then it is required to perform the first step of the two-step impairment test by calculating the fair value of the 
reporting unit and comparing the fair value with the carrying amount of the reporting unit. Goodwill is considered impaired if the fair value of the 
tangible and intangible assets exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit. 

The company also evaluates its acquired intangible assets at acquisition to determine whether any have “indefinite useful lives.” Intangible 
assets with indefinite useful lives, are not subject to amortization. The company's indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of certain trade names 
valued at approximately $39.3 million and $23.2 million as of fiscal year 2012 and 2011, respectively. These assets have indefinite useful lives 
and are evaluated annually for impairment using the relief from royalty method. The company measures and records an impairment loss for the 
excess of the carrying value of the asset over its fair value. 

The company recorded impairment of $3.8 million for the indefinite-lived intangible assets related to two healthcare trade names during the 
fiscal year 2012. The impairment was the result of the company’s strategy to reduce its portfolio of healthcare brands and begin marketing the 
related products under the Nemschoff trade name. The impairment is recorded in the restructuring and impairment expense line in the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and is included in the "Corporate" category within the segment reporting and represents a level 3 fair 
value measurement. 
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Goodwill and other indefinite-lived assets included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet consist of the following:

(in millions) Goodwill
Indefinite-lived

Intangible Assets
Total Goodwill and

Indefinite-lived Assets
Balance, May 28, 2011 $ 110.4 $ 23.2 $ 133.6
Sale of dealers allocation (0.6) — (0.6)
Impairment — (3.8) (3.8)
Acquisition 32.8 19.9 52.7
Currency-related adjustments 2.1 — 2.1
Balance, June 2, 2012 $ 144.7 $ 39.3 $ 184.0

Long-Lived Assets 
The company reviews other long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
of an asset or an asset group may not be recoverable. Each impairment test is based on a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset or 
asset group to the future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset or asset group or in some cases by prices for 
similar assets. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment amount to be recognized is the amount by which the carrying value 
of the assets exceeds their fair value. During fiscal 2010 the company recorded an impairment charge composed of $1.4 million related to an 
amortizable intangible asset and $1.1 million related to fixed assets, respectively. These assets related to products that we determined had no 
future revenue stream to the company. During fiscal 2012 the company recorded an impairment expense of $1.4 million related to fixed assets 
in connection with the 2012 restructuring plan. These impairment charges was recorded in "Restructuring and impairment expenses" within the 
"Corporate" category within the segment reporting.

Amortizable intangible assets within "Other amortizable intangibles, net" consists primarily of patents, trademarks and customer relationships. 
The combined gross carrying value and accumulated amortization for these amortizable intangibles was as follows:

June 2, 2012
(in millions) Patent and Trademarks Customer Relationships
Gross carrying value $ 22.7 $ 24.0
Accumulated amortization 12.4 3.2
Net $ 10.3 $ 20.8

May 28, 2011
Patent and Trademarks Customer Relationships

Gross carrying value $ 22.1 $ 15.1
Accumulated amortization 10.7 2.2
Net $ 11.4 $ 12.9

The company amortizes these assets over their remaining useful lives using the straight-line method over periods ranging from 5 to 20 years. 
It is estimated that the average remaining life of such patents and trademarks is approximately 5 years and 8 years, respectively. The estimated 
average remaining life of the customer relationships is 15 years.

Estimated amortization expense on existing amortizable intangible assets as of June 2, 2012, for each of the succeeding five fiscal years is as 
follows. 

(in millions)

2013 $ 3.0

2014 $ 2.8

2015 $ 2.6

2016 $ 2.5

2017 $ 2.4
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Self-Insurance 
The company is partially self-insured for general liability, workers' compensation, and certain employee health and dental benefits under insurance 
arrangements that provide for third-party coverage of claims exceeding the company's loss retention levels. The company's health benefits 
retention level does not include an aggregate stop loss policy. The company's retention levels designated within significant insurance 
arrangements as of June 2, 2012, are as follows:

(in millions) Retention Level (per occurrence)

General liability and auto liability/physical damage $ 1.00

Workers' compensation and property $ 0.75

Health benefits $ 1.00

The company's policy is to accrue amounts equal to the actuarially-determined liabilities for loss and loss adjustment expenses, which are 
included in “Other liabilities” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The actuarial valuations are based on historical information along with certain 
assumptions about future events. Changes in assumptions for such matters as legal actions, medical costs, and changes in actual experience 
could cause these estimates to change. The general and workers' compensation liabilities are managed through the company's wholly-owned 
insurance captive. 

Research, Development, and Other Related Costs 
Research, development, pre-production, and start-up costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development (R&D) costs consist of 
expenditures incurred during the course of planned research and investigation aimed at discovery of new knowledge useful in developing new 
products or processes. R&D costs also include the significant enhancement of existing products or production processes and the implementation 
of such through design, testing of product alternatives, or construction of prototypes. Research and development costs included in “Design and 
Research” expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations of $41.0 million, 35.4 million, and $33.2 million, in fiscal 2012, 
2011, and 2010, respectively. 

Royalty payments made to designers of the company's products as the products are sold are a variable cost based on product sales. These 
expenses totaled $11.7 million, $10.4 million, and $7.3 million in fiscal years 2012, 2011, and 2010 respectively. They are included in "Design 
and Research" expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and are included in “Selling, general, and administrative” expense in the accompanying Consolidated 
Statements of Operations. Advertising costs were $4.4 million, $2.3 million, and $2.4 million, in fiscal 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.

Customer Payments and Incentives
We offer various sales incentive programs to our customers, such as rebates, discounts, buy-downs and cooperative advertising programs. 
Programs such as rebates, discounts and buy-downs are adjustments to the selling price and are therefore characterized as a reduction to net 
sales. The cooperative advertising program, whereby customers are reimbursed for company approved advertising expenditures, provides us 
with an identifiable benefit from the advertisement at a verifiable market rate. Therefore, the cost of the cooperative advertising program is 
recognized as an operating expense and is included in the "Selling, general and administrative" line in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 
We recognized operating expense related to our cooperative advertising program of $2.0 million, $1.5 million and $1.8 million in fiscal 2012, 
2011, and 2010, respectively.

Revenue Recognition 
The company recognizes revenue on sales through its network of independent contract furniture dealers and independent retailers once the 
related product is shipped and title passes. In situations where products are sold through subsidiary dealers or directly to the end customer, 
revenue is recognized once the related product is shipped to the end customer and installation is substantially complete. Offers such as rebates 
and discounts are recorded as reductions to net sales. Unearned revenue occurs during the normal course of business due to advance payments 
from customers for future delivery of products and services. 

Shipping and Handling Expenses 
The company records shipping and handling related expenses under the caption “Cost of Sales” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 
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Cost of Sales
We include material, labor and overhead in cost of sales. Included within these categories are such items as inbound freight charges, warehousing 
costs, internal transfer costs, and other costs of our distribution network. 
 
Selling, General, and Administrative 
We include costs not directly related to the manufacturing of our products in selling, general, and administrative. Included in these expenses 
are items such as compensation expense, rental expense, royalty expense, warranty expense, and travel and entertainment expense. 
 
Income Taxes 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial 
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities, and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured 
using the enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to reverse.

The company's annual effective tax rate is based on income, statutory tax rates and tax planning strategies available in the various jurisdictions 
the company operates in. Complex tax laws can be subject to different interpretations by the company and the respective government authorities. 
Significant judgment is required in evaluating tax positions and determining our tax expense. Tax positions are reviewed quarterly and tax 
liabilities are adjusted as new information becomes available.

In evaluating the company's ability to recover deferred tax assets within the jurisdiction from which they arise, the company considers all positive 
and negative evidence. These assumptions require significant judgment about forecasts of future taxable income.

Stock-Based Compensation 
The company has several stock-based compensation plans, which are described in Note 9 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. Our policy 
is to expense stock-based compensation using the fair-value based method of accounting for all awards granted.
 
Earnings per Share 
Basic earnings per share (EPS) excludes the dilutive effect of common shares that could potentially be issued, due to the exercise of stock 
options or the vesting of restricted shares, and is computed by dividing net earnings by the weighted-average number of common shares 
outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS for fiscal years 2012, 2011, and 2010, was computed by dividing net earnings by the sum of the weighted-
average number of shares outstanding, plus all dilutive shares that could potentially be issued. During fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010 the numerator 
for diluted earnings per share excluded the earnings impact from the Nemschoff contingent consideration from the Consolidated Statement of 
Operations.  Previously, this contingent consideration could be settled in cash or stock at the discretion of the company and, therefore, any 
income or loss associated with adjustments to these liabilities is excluded from the numerator when computing diluted earnings per share. Refer 
to Note 8 of the Consolidated Financial Statements, for further information regarding the computation of EPS.

Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
Comprehensive income consists of net earnings, foreign currency translation adjustments, and unrealized holding gain (loss) on “available-
for-sale” securities and pension liability adjustments. The following table presents comprehensive income for the periods indicated:

Fiscal Year Ending
(in millions)   June 2, 2012 May 28, 2011 May 29, 2010
Net earnings $ 75.2 $ 70.8 $ 28.3

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Foreign currency translation adjustments (7.1) 6.4 (2.9)
Unrealized holding gain (loss) net of tax — 0.1 0.2
Pension and Post-retirement liability
adjustments (net of tax) (29.3) 25.5 0.6

Total comprehensive income (loss) $ 38.8 $ 102.8 $ 26.2
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Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates.

Fair Value

The Company follows ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, which provides a consistent definition of fair value, focuses 
on exit price, prioritizes the use of market-based inputs over entity-specific inputs for measuring fair value and establishes a three-tier hierarchy 
for fair value measurements. This topic requires fair value measurements to be classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories:  

• Level 1 — Financial instruments with unadjusted, quoted prices listed on active market exchanges.
• Level 2 — Financial instruments lacking unadjusted, quoted prices from active market exchanges, including over-the-counter traded 

financial instruments. Financial instrument values are determined using prices for recently traded financial instruments with similar 
underlying terms and direct or indirect observational inputs, such as interest rates and yield curves at commonly quoted intervals.

• Level 3 — Financial instruments not actively traded on a market exchange and there is little, if any, market activity. Values are determined 
using significant unobservable inputs or valuation techniques.

See Note 11 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the required fair value disclosures.

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts Not Designated as Hedges 
The company transacts business in various foreign currencies and has established a program that primarily utilizes foreign currency forward 
contracts to offset the risks associated with the effects of certain foreign currency exposures. Under this program, the company's strategy is to 
have increases or decreases in our foreign currency exposures offset by gains or losses on the foreign currency forward contracts to mitigate 
the risks and volatility associated with foreign currency transaction gains or losses. These foreign currency exposures typically arise from net 
liability or asset exposures in non-local currencies on the balance sheets of our foreign subsidiaries. These foreign currency forward contracts 
generally settle within 90 days and are not used for trading purposes. These forward contracts are not designated as hedging instruments. 
Accordingly, we record the fair value of these contracts as of the end of the reporting period in the consolidated balance sheet with changes in 
fair value recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. The balance sheet classification for the fair values of these forward contracts 
is to "Prepaid expenses and other" for unrealized gains and to "Accrued liabilities" for unrealized losses. The Consolidated Statement of Operations 
classification for the fair values of these forward contracts is to "Other expenses (income): Other, net", for both realized and unrealized gains 
and losses. 

As of June 2, 2012, the notional amounts of the forward contracts held to purchase and sell U.S. dollars in exchange for other major international 
currencies were $4.8 million and the notional amounts of the foreign currency forward contracts held to sell British pound sterling in exchange 
for other major international currencies were 3.3 million GBP. 

The effects of derivative instruments on the condensed consolidated financial statements were as follows for the fiscal years ended 2012 and 
2011 (amounts presented exclude any income tax effects) are shown below. 

Fair Value of Derivative Instruments in Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet

(in millions) Balance Sheet Location June 2, 2012 May 28, 2011
Foreign currency forward contracts not
designated as hedges Other current assets $ 0.1 $ 0.7
Foreign currency forward contracts not
designated as hedges Other current liabilities $ — $ 0.3

Effects of Derivative Instruments of Income

Fiscal Year

(in millions)
Recognized Income on Derivative (Gain) Loss

Location June 2, 2012 May 28, 2011

Foreign currency forward contracts Other Expense (Income): Other, net $ 0.1 $ (0.5)
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New Accounting Standards
In September 2011, Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standard Update (ASU) No. 2011-08, "Intangibles-
Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Testing Goodwill for Impairment." ASU 2011-08 gives the option to first assess qualitative factors to 
determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining whether it 
is necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impairment test. This ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal 
years, beginning on or after December 15, 2011, although early adoption is permitted. The company adopted the applicable requirements of 
this ASU in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012. The provisions of ASU 2011-08 did not have a material effect on the company's financial 
position, results of operations or cash flows.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-04, "Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (Topic 820): Amendments to Achieve Common 
Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRS." ASU 2011-04 provides common requirements for 
measuring fair value and disclosing information about fair value measurements in accordance with U.S. GAAP and IFRS. This ASU is 
effective for reporting periods beginning on or after December 15, 2011, applied prospectively.  The company plans to adopt the provisions of 
ASU 2011-04 during the first quarter of fiscal 2013 and does not expect the provisions of ASU 2011-04 to have a material effect on its 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-05, "Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentation of Comprehensive Income." ASU 
2011-05 improves the comparability, consistency, and transparency of financial reporting and increases the prominence of items reported in 
other comprehensive income.  This ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning on or after December 
15, 2011, although early adoption is permitted.  In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-12, "Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): 
Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presentation of Reclassifications of Items Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive 
Income in Accounting Standards Update 2011-05," which defers certain aspects of ASU 2011-05 related to the presentation of reclassification 
adjustments. The company plans to adopt the revised guidance during the first quarter of fiscal 2013 and does not expect the provisions of 
ASU 2011-12 to have a material effect on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 

2. Acquisitions and Divestitures 

Acquisitions  
On April 3, 2012, the company acquired Sun Hing POSH Holdings Limited (POSH). POSH is a Hong Kong-based designer, and distributor of 
office furniture systems, freestanding furniture, seating, and filing and storage with distribution in Hong Kong and China. POSH had net sales 
of approximately $50 million during their last fiscal year. Total purchase price to acquire POSH was approximately $59 million, which included 
$47.1 million in net cash and contingent consideration valued at $4.4 million. The contingent consideration will be in the form of a cash payment, 
which the company currently estimates to be within the range of zero and $5.2 million. Any change in value due to change in estimates will be 
reflected within “Total operating expenses” in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. The company acquired assets valued at 
$16.5 million, consisting primarily of cash, accounts receivable, inventory and property plant and equipment, and acquired liabilities valued at 
$14.4 million. The company also established a deferred tax liability of $4.9 million. Resulting goodwill, indefinite-lived intangibles, and amortizable 
intangibles of were $32.8 million, $19.9 million, and $8.9 million, respectively. The allocation of the purchase price is considered preliminary and 
was based upon valuation information, estimates and assumptions available at June 2, 2012. Management is still in the process of verifying 
data and finalizing information related to the valuation and recording of identifiable intangible assets, deferred income taxes, working capital 
adjustments and the resulting effects on the value of goodwill. The company expects to finalize these matters within the measurement period, 
which will end as soon as information becomes available to finalize valuations, not exceeding twelve months from the acquisition date. POSH 
is reported within the Non-North American Furniture Solutions reportable operating segment.

Divestitures
During the first quarter of fiscal 2012 the company completed the sale of two wholly-owned contract furniture dealerships in Texas and Colorado. 
During the second quarter of fiscal 2012 the company completed the sale of one wholly-owned contract furniture dealership in California. The 
effect of these transactions on the company's consolidated financial statements was not material.

3. Inventories 

(In millions) June 2, 2012 May 28, 2011
Finished goods and work in process $ 40.4 $ 46.2
Raw materials 18.9 20.0
Total $ 59.3 $ 66.2
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The inventories of the manufacturing sites in Michigan are valued using the last-in, first-out method (LIFO). The inventories of all other subsidiaries 
are valued using the first-in, first-out method. Inventories valued using LIFO amounted to $18.0 million and $24.1 million as of June 2, 2012 and 
May 28, 2011, respectively. During 2012, a reduction in inventory quantities resulted in a liquidation of applicable LIFO inventory quantities 
carried at lower costs in prior years. This LIFO liquidation decreased cost of goods sold by an negligible amount in 2012.  If all inventories had 
been valued using the first-in first-out method, inventories would have been $70.7 million and $77.8 million  at June 2, 2012 and May 28, 2011, 
respectively. 

4. Accrued Liabilities 

(In millions) June 2, 2012 May 28, 2011
Compensation and employee benefits $ 53.3 $ 75.9
Income taxes 2.4 2.5
Other taxes 5.8 6.8
Deferred revenue 17.4 13.5
Warranty reserves 22.2 17.0
Interest payable 5.4 6.1
Restructuring 0.2 1.0
Pension and post-retirement benefits 1.2 1.2
Contingent consideration — 1.6
Other 28.3 27.5
Total $ 136.2 $ 153.1

5. Long-Term Debt 

Long-term debt consisted of the following obligations:

(In millions) June 2, 2012 May 28, 2011
Series A senior notes, 5.94%, due January 3, 2015 $ 50.0 $ 50.0
Series B senior notes, 6.42%, due January 3, 2018 150.0 150.0
Debt securities, 6.0%, due March 1, 2021 50.0 50.0
Total $ 250.0 $ 250.0

During the second quarter of fiscal 2012, the company entered into an amendment and restatement of the syndicated revolving line of credit, 
which provides the company with up to $150 million in revolving variable interest borrowing capacity and includes an "accordion feature" 
allowing the company to increase, at its option and subject to the approval of the participating banks, the aggregate borrowing capacity of the 
facility by $75 million. The facility expires in November 2016 and outstanding borrowings bear interest at rates based on the prime rate, 
federal funds rate, LIBOR, or negotiated rates as outlined in the agreement. Interest is payable periodically throughout the period a borrowing 
is outstanding. 
 As of June 2, 2012 and May 28, 2011, total usage against this facility was $9.7 million and $9.4 million respectively, all of which related to 
outstanding letters of credit.

Our senior notes and the unsecured senior revolving credit facility restrict, without prior consent, our borrowings, capital leases, and the sale of 
certain assets. In addition, we have agreed to maintain certain financial performance ratios, which include a maximum leverage ratio covenant, 
which is measured by the ratio of debt to trailing four quarter adjusted EBITDA (as defined in the credit agreement) and is required to be less 
than 3.5:1, with a minimum interest coverage ratio, which is measured by the ratio of trailing four quarter EBITDA to trailing four quarter interest 
expense (as defined in the credit agreement) and is required to be greater than 4:1. Adjusted EBITDA is generally defined in the credit agreement 
as EBITDA adjusted by certain items which include non-cash, share-based compensation, non-recurring restructuring costs and extraordinary 
items. At June 2, 2012 and May 28, 2011, the company was in compliance with all of these restrictions and performance ratios. 
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Annual maturities of long-term debt for the five fiscal years subsequent to June 2, 2012, are as follows: 

(In millions)
2013 $ —
2014 $ —
2015 $ 50.0
2016 $ —
2017 $ —

Thereafter $ 200.0

6. Operating Leases 

The company leases real property and equipment under agreements that expire on various dates. Certain leases contain renewal provisions 
and generally require the company to pay utilities, insurance, taxes, and other operating expenses. 

Future minimum rental payments required under operating leases that have non-cancelable lease terms as of June 2, 2012, are as follows: 

(In millions)
2013 $ 18.0
2014 $ 14.1
2015 $ 10.1
2016 $ 7.6

2017 $ 4.8
Thereafter $ 13.6

Total rental expense charged to operations was $20.7 million, $22.8 million, and $22.4 million, in fiscal 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively. 
Substantially all such rental expense represented the minimum rental payments under operating leases.

7. Employee Benefit Plans
 
The company maintains retirement benefit plans for substantially all of its employees.

Pension Plans and Post-Retirement Medical Insurance 
The principal domestic retirement plan is a defined-benefit plan with benefits determined by a cash balance calculation. Benefits under this plan 
are based upon an employee's years of service and earnings. The company also offers certain employees retirement benefits under other 
domestic defined benefit plans.  The company provides healthcare  benefits to employees who retired from service on or before a qualifying 
date in 1998. As of the qualifying date, the company discontinued offering post-retirement medical to future retirees. Benefits to qualifying retirees 
under this plan are based on the employee's years of service and age at the date of retirement. 

In addition to the domestic pension and retiree healthcare plan, one of the company's wholly owned foreign subsidiaries has a defined-benefit 
pension plan based upon an average final pay benefit calculation. 

The measurement date for the company's principal domestic and international pension plans, as well as its post-retirement medical, is the last 
day of the fiscal year.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012, the company announced its intent to change its employee retirement programs from a defined benefit-
based model to a defined contribution structure. The company approved a plan to freeze future benefit accruals of its primary domestic defined 
benefit plan as of September 1, 2012. At this time, the company will begin to transition employees to a new defined contribution program and 
subsequently terminate its domestic defined benefit plans. The termination process is expected to take 12 to 24 months from the time that the 
benefit accruals are frozen. 

Benefit Obligations and Funded Status
The following table presents, for the fiscal years noted, a summary of the changes in the projected benefit obligation, plan assets and funded 
status of the company's domestic and international pension plans and post-retirement plan. 
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Pension Benefits Post-Retirement Benefits
2012 2011 2012 2011

(In millions) Domestic International Domestic International
Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of
year $ 309.9 $ 75.0 $ 296.0 $ 71.6 $ 10.3 $ 11.1
Service cost 7.0 1.3 6.9 1.9 — —
Interest cost 14.4 3.9 15.1 4.3 0.4 0.5
Curtailments (4.3) — — — — —
Foreign exchange impact — (5.5) — 9.2 — —
Actuarial (gain)/loss 22.4 12.8 9.0 (10.5) — (0.4)
Employee contributions — 0.3 — 0.3 — —
Benefits paid (16.7) (1.7) (17.1) (1.8) (0.9) (0.9)

Benefit obligation at end of year $ 332.7 $ 86.1 $ 309.9 $ 75.0 $ 9.8 $ 10.3

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at
beginning of year $ 273.4 $ 69.0 $ 200.1 $ 53.2 $ — $ —

Actual return on plan assets 10.0 (3.9) 40.2 8.2 — —
Foreign exchange impact — (4.9) — 7.4 — —
Employer contributions 50.2 13.8 50.2 1.7 0.9 0.9
Employee contributions — 0.3 — 0.3 — —
Benefits paid (16.7) (1.7) (17.1) (1.8) (0.9) (0.9)

Fair value of plan assets at end of
year $ 316.9 $ 72.6 $ 273.4 $ 69.0 $ — $ —

Funded status:
Under funded status at end of
year $ (15.8) $ (13.5) $ (36.5) $ (6.0) $ (9.8) $ (10.3)

The components of the amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets are as follows.
Current liabilities $ (0.1) $ — $ (0.1) $ — $ (1.1) $ (1.1)
Non-current liabilities $ (15.7) $ (13.5) $ (36.4) $ (6.0) $ (8.7) $ (9.2)

The components of the amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss before the effect of income taxes are as
follows.
Unrecognized net actuarial loss $ 162.8 $ 31.3 $ 144.9 $ 11.6 $ 1.6 $ 1.7
Unrecognized prior service cost
(credit) $ — $ — $ (3.9) $ — $ 0.1 $ 0.1
Accumulated other
comprehensive loss (income) $ 162.8 $ 31.3 $ 141.0 $ 11.6 $ 1.7 $ 1.8
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The accumulated benefit obligation for the company's domestic pension benefit plans totaled $332.7 million and $307.2 million as of the end of 
fiscal years 2012 and 2011, respectively. For its international plans, these amounts totaled $83.3 million and $72.8 million as of the same dates, 
respectively.

The following table is a summary of the annual cost of the company's pension and post-retirement plans.

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Costs and Other Changes Recognized in Other Comprehensive Income
Pension Benefits Post-Retirement Benefits

(In millions) 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010
Domestic:  
Service cost $ 7.0 $ 6.9 $ 8.1   $ — $ — $ —
Interest cost 14.4 15.1 17.9   0.4 0.5 0.6
Expected return on plan assets (19.3) (18.7) (18.9) — — —
Net amortization 7.2 6.0 3.1 0.1 0.1 0.1
Curtailment (gain) (1.7) — — — — —
Net periodic benefit cost $ 7.6 $ 9.3 $ 10.2 $ 0.5 $ 0.6 $ 0.7

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Costs and Other Changes Recognized in Other Comprehensive Income
International:
Service cost $ 1.3 $ 1.9 $ —
Interest cost 3.9 4.3 4.2
Expected return on plan assets (4.8) (4.2) (4.4)
Net amortization 0.3 1.2 1.3  
Net periodic benefit cost $ 0.7 $ 3.2 $ 1.1  

Other Changes in Plan Assets and Benefit Obligations Recognized in Other Comprehensive (Income) 
Loss

Pension Benefits Post-Retirement Benefits
(In millions) 2012 2011 2012 2011
Domestic:
Net actuarial (gain) loss $ 27.4 $ (12.5) $ — $ (0.3)
Net amortization and curtailment (5.5) (6.0) (0.1) (0.1)
Total recognized in other comprehensive
(income) loss $ 21.9 $ (18.5) $ (0.1) $ (0.4)

International:
Net actuarial (gain) loss $ 21.5 $ (14.5)
Effect of exchange rates on amounts included in
accumulated other comprehensive income $ (1.5) $ 2.6
Net amortization $ (0.3) $ (1.2)
Total recognized in other comprehensive
(income) loss $ 19.7 $ (13.1)

The net actuarial loss included in accumulated other comprehensive income (pretax) expected to be recognized in net periodic benefit cost 
during fiscal 2013 is $12.9 million.
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Actuarial Assumptions 

The weighted-average actuarial assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation amounts and the net periodic benefit cost  for the company's 
pension and post-retirement plans are as follows. 

The weighted-average used in the determination of net periodic benefit cost:
2012 2011 2010

(Percentages) U.S. International U.S. International U.S. International
Discount rate 4.75 5.40 4.75 5.40 5.25 5.50
Compensation increase rate 3.00 3.50 3.00 3.50 4.50 4.90

The weighted-average used in the determination of the projected benefit obligations:
Discount rate 3.57 4.20 5.25 5.50 6.75 6.50
Compensation increase rate 3.00 3.00 4.50 4.90 4.50 4.80
Expected return on plan assets 7.00 7.00 7.75 6.80 7.75 7.25

In calculating post-retirement benefit obligations for fiscal 2012, a 7.5 percent annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered healthcare 
benefits was assumed for 2013, decreasing gradually to 4.5 percent by 2029 and remaining at that level thereafter. For purposes of calculating 
post-retirement benefit costs, a 7.6 percent annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered healthcare benefits was assumed for 2012, 
decreasing gradually to 4.5 percent by 2029 and remaining at that level thereafter. 

Assumed health care cost-trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for retiree health care costs. A one-percentage-point 
change in the assumed health care cost-trend rates would have the following effects: 

(In millions)
1 Percent
Increase

1 Percent
Decrease

Effect on total fiscal 2012 service and interest cost components $ — $ —
Effect on post-retirement benefit obligation at June 2, 2012 $ 0.4   $ (0.4)

Plan Assets and Investment Strategies
The company's primary domestic and international employee benefit plans' assets consist mainly of listed common stocks, mutual funds, fixed 
income obligations and cash. The company's primary objective for invested pension plan assets is to provide for sufficient long-term growth and 
liquidity to satisfy all of its benefit obligations over time. Accordingly, the company has developed an investment strategy that it believes maximizes 
the probability of meeting this overall objective. This strategy includes the development of a target investment allocation by asset category in 
order to provide guidelines for making investment decisions. This target allocation emphasizes the long-term characteristics of individual asset 
classes as well as the diversification among multiple asset classes. In developing its strategy, the company considered the need to balance the 
varying risks associated with each asset class with the long-term nature of its benefit obligations. The company's strategy moving forward will 
be to increase the level of fixed income investments as the funding status improves, thereby more closely matching the return on assets with 
the liabilities of the plans.

The company utilizes independent investment managers to assist with investment decisions within the overall guidelines of the investment 
strategy. 

The company has assumed an average long-term expected return on defined benefit plan assets of  7.00 percent  for both its primary domestic 
plan and international plan as of June 2, 2012. The expected return is determined by applying the target allocation in each asset category of 
plan investments to the anticipated return for each asset category based on historical and projected returns. 
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The asset allocation for fiscal 2012 and asset categories for the company's primary pension plans at the end of fiscal 2012 and 2011 are as 
follows:

Primary Domestic Plan

Asset Category

Targeted Asset
Allocation

Percentage

Percentage of Plan Assets at Year
End

2012 2011
Equities 18-22 19 57
Fixed Income 78-82 80 43
Other 0 - 5 1 —
     Total 100 100

International Plan
Asset Category
Equities 40-42 42 58
Fixed Income 48-50 49 39
Other 0-10 9 3
Total 100 100

(In millions) Domestic Plans as of June 2, 2012
Asset Category Level 1 Level 2 Total
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3.6 $ — $ 3.6
US & international equity securities 3.9 — 3.9
Debt securities-corporate 13.6 — 13.6
Common collective trust - equities — 54.3 54.3
Common collective trusts-fixed income — 238.8 238.8
Equities - Herman Miller stock 2.7 — 2.7
     Total $ 23.8 $ 293.1 $ 316.9

(In millions) International Plan as of June 2, 2012
Asset Category Level 1 Level 2 Total
Cash and cash equivalents $ 0.2 $ — $ 0.2
Foreign government obligations — 11.0 11.0
Common collective trusts-balanced — 61.4 61.4
     Total $ 0.2 $ 72.4 $ 72.6

(In millions) Domestic Plans as of May 28, 2011
Asset Category Level 1 Level 2 Total
Cash and cash equivalents $ 0.4 $ — $ 0.4
Common collective trusts-equities — 136.0 136.0
Debt securities-corporate — 4.8 4.8
Common collective trusts-fixed income — 112.2 112.2
Equities - Herman Miller stock 20.0 — 20.0
     Total $ 20.4 $ 253.0 $ 273.4

(In millions) International Plan as of May 28, 2011
Asset Category Level 1 Level 2 Total
Cash and cash equivalents $ 0.2 $ — $ 0.2
Common collective trusts-balanced — 68.8 68.8
     Total $ 0.2 $ 68.8 $ 69.0
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Cash Flows 

Subsequent to the end of fiscal 2012 the company contributed $3.7 million to its pension plans. The company is reviewing whether any additional 
voluntary pension plan contributions will be made in the next year. Actual contributions will be dependent upon investment returns, changes in 
pension obligations, and other economic and regulatory factors. In fiscal 2012 the company made cash contributions totaling $64.9 million to 
its benefit plans. 

The following represents a summary of the benefits expected to be paid by the plans in future fiscal years. These expected benefits were 
estimated based on the same actuarial valuation assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at June 2, 2012.

(In millions)
Pension Benefits

Domestic
Pension Benefits

International
Post-Retirement

Benefits
2013 $ 28.0   $ 1.4   $ 1.1
2014 $ 28.2   $ 1.5   $ 1.0
2015 $ 27.8   $ 1.7   $ 1.0
2016 $ 27.9   $ 1.8   $ 0.9
2017 $ 21.9   $ 1.9   $ 0.9
2018 - 2022 $ 110.7   $ 12.4   $ 3.6

Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plan 

Herman Miller, Inc. has a trusteed profit sharing plan that includes substantially all domestic employees. These employees are eligible to begin 
participating on their date of hire. The plan provides for discretionary contributions, payable in the company's common stock, of not more than 
6 percent of employees' wages based on the company's financial performance. The cost of the profit sharing contribution during fiscal 2012 and 
fiscal 2011 was $3.4 million and $7.7 million, respectively. The company made no profit sharing contribution in fiscal year 2010. 

The company has traditionally matched 50.0 percent of employee contributions to their 401(k) accounts up to 6 percent of their pay. The company 
indefinitely suspended the 401(k) matching program in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009 and the suspension remained in effect until the second 
half of fiscal 2011. The company, therefore, did not incur any costs for this program in fiscal 2010. The cost of the company's matching contributions 
charged against operations was approximately $6.4 million and $2.0 million in fiscal years 2012 and 2011, respectively.

8. Common Stock and Per Share Information

The following table reconciles the numerators and denominators used in the calculations of basic and diluted EPS for each of the last three 
fiscal years. 

(In millions, except shares) 2012 2011 2010
Numerators:
Numerators for basic EPS, net earnings $ 75.2 $ 70.8 $ 28.3

Income from adjustments to contingent consideration that can be settled in
common stock at the company's option, net of tax — (9.5) (3.6)

Numerator for diluted EPS $ 75.2 $ 61.3 $ 24.7
 
Denominators:

Denominators for basic EPS, weighted-average common shares outstanding 58,171,472 57,118,777 55,997,781
Potentially dilutive shares resulting from stock plans 285,404 556,343 1,492,587

Denominator for diluted EPS 58,456,876 57,675,120 57,490,368

Options to purchase 1,917,060 shares, 2,290,471 shares and 2,777,406 shares of common stock have not been included in the denominator 
for the computation of diluted earnings per share for the fiscal years ended June 2, 2012, May 28, 2011, and May 29, 2010, respectively, because 
they were anti-dilutive. The company has certain share-based payment awards that meet the definition of participating securities. The company 
has evaluated the impact on EPS of all participating securities under the two-class method, noting no impact on EPS.
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9. Stock-Based Compensation 

The company utilizes equity-based compensation incentives as a component of its employee and non-employee director and officer compensation 
philosophy. Currently, these incentives consist principally of stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units and performance share units. 
The company also offers a discounted stock purchase plan for its domestic and international employees. The company issues shares in connection 
with its share-based compensation plans from authorized, but unissued, shares.

Valuation and Expense Information 
The company measures the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on their grant-date fair 
market value and to recognize this cost over the requisite service period. 

Certain of the company's equity-based compensation awards contain provisions that allow for continued vesting into retirement. Stock-based 
awards are considered fully vested for expense attribution purposes when the employee's retention of the award is no longer contingent on 
providing subsequent service. 

The company classifies pre-tax stock-based compensation expense primarily within “Operating Expenses” in the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations. Related expenses charged to “Cost of Sales” are not material. Pre-tax compensation expense and the related income tax benefit 
for all types of stock-based programs was as follows for the periods indicated:

(in millions) June 2, 2012 May 28, 2011 May 29, 2010
Employee stock purchase program $ 0.3 $ 0.3 $ 0.3
Stock option plans 2.8 2.5 2.5
Restricted stock grants 0.5 0.5 0.4
Restricted stock units 2.4 1.5 1.2
Total $ 6.0 $ 4.8 $ 4.4

Tax benefit $ 2.1 $ 1.6 $ 1.5

As of June 2, 2012, total pre-tax stock-based compensation cost not yet recognized related to non-vested awards was approximately $7.1 
million. The weighted-average period over which this amount is expected to be recognized is 1.56 years.

The company estimated the fair value of employee stock options on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model. In determining these 
values, the following weighted-average assumptions were used for the options granted during the fiscal years indicated.

2012 2011 2010

Risk-free interest rates (1) 1.75 %   2.00-2.25%   2.71-2.84%

Expected term of options (2) 5.5 years   5.5 years   5.5 years

Expected volatility (3) 42 %   42 %   41 %

Dividend yield (4) 0.34 %   0.49 %   0.56 %
Weighted-average grant-date fair value of stock options:

Granted with exercise prices equal to the fair market value of the
stock on the date of grant $ 10.15 $ 7.01 $ 6.24

(1) Represents the U.S. Treasury yield over the same period as the expected option term.
(2) Represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding. Based on analysis of historical option exercise activity, 

the company has determined that all employee groups exhibit similar exercise and post-vesting termination behavior.
(3) Amount is determined based on analysis of historical price volatility of the company's common stock over a period equal to the expected 

term of the options. The company also utilizes a market-based or “implied volatility” measure, on exchange-traded options in the company's 
common stock, as a reference in determining this assumption.

(4) Represents the company's estimated cash dividend yield over the expected term of options.
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Stock-based compensation expense recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations, has been reduced for estimated forfeitures, as 
it is based on awards ultimately expected to vest. Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods 
if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. Forfeitures were estimated based on historical experience.

Employee Stock Purchase Program 
Under the terms of the company's Employee Stock Purchase Plan, 4 million shares of authorized common stock were reserved for purchase 
by plan participants at 85 percent of the market price. 

Stock Option Plans 
The company has stock option plans under which options to purchase the company's stock are granted to employees and non-employee directors 
and officers at a price not less than the market price of the company's common stock on the date of grant. Under the current award program, 
all options become exercisable between one year and three years from date of grant and expire two to ten years from date of grant. Most options 
are subject to graded vesting with the related compensation expense recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. At 
June 2, 2012, there were 3.0 million shares available for option awards.

The following is a summary of the transactions under the company's stock option plans:

Shares Under
Option

Weighted-Average
Exercise Prices

Weighted-Average
Remaining

Contractual Term
(Years)

Aggregate 
Intrinsic Value
(In millions) 

Outstanding at May 30, 2009 2,824,212 $ 26.83   4.9   $ 0.2
     Granted at market 337,253 $ 15.76
     Exercised (10,000) $ 20.06
     Forfeited or expired (372,829) $ 25.72
 
Outstanding at May 29, 2010 2,778,636 $ 25.66   4.8   $ 1.8
     Granted at market 463,238 $ 18.04
     Exercised (309,251) $ 21.28
     Forfeited or expired (354,033) $ 27.09
 
Outstanding at May 28, 2011 2,578,590 $ 24.62   5.5   $ 6.6
     Granted at market 365,141 $ 25.75
     Exercised (215,524) $ 19.74
     Forfeited or expired (398,958) $ 25.76
 
Outstanding at June 2, 2012 2,329,249 $ 25.06   5.7   $ 0.9

Ending vested + expected to vest 2,305,582 $ 25.08   5.7   $ 0.9
Exercisable at end of period 1,604,406 $ 26.68   4.5   $ 0.6

The total pre-tax intrinsic value of options exercised during fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $1.1 million, $1.6 million, and zero respectively. 
The aggregate intrinsic value in the preceding table represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value, based on the company's closing stock price as 
of the end of the period presented, which would have been received by the option holders had all option holders exercised in-the-money 
options as of that date. 
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The following is a summary of stock options outstanding at June 2, 2012.

Outstanding Stock Options Exercisable Stock Options

Range of Exercise Price Shares

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual Term

(Years)

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Prices Shares

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Prices
$12.33-22.63 783,026   6.2   $ 17.80   414,294   $ 18.20
$23.87-27.99 792,444   7.0   $ 25.73   436,333   $ 25.72
$28.57-38.13 753,779   3.8   $ 31.89   753,779   $ 31.89

2,329,249   5.7   $ 25.06   1,604,406   $ 26.68

Restricted Stock Grants 
The company periodically grants restricted common stock to certain key employees. Shares are granted in the name of the employee, who has 
all the rights of a shareholder, subject to certain restrictions on transferability and risk of forfeiture. The grants are subject to either cliff-based 
or graded vesting over a period not exceeding five years, and are subject to forfeiture if the employee ceases to be employed by the company 
for certain reasons. After the vesting period, the risk of forfeiture and restrictions on transferability lapse. The company recognizes the related 
compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. A summary of shares subject to restrictions are as follows:

2012 2011 2010

Shares

Weighted
Average

Grant-Date
Fair Value Shares

Weighted
Average

Grant-Date
Fair Value Shares

Weighted
Average

Grant-Date
Fair Value

Outstanding, at beginning of year 70,595 $ 18.44 54,729 $ 19.48 116,860 $ 26.25
Granted 24,323 $ 21.46 33,000 $ 20.63 42,481 $ 15.96
Vested (7,787) $ 17.56 (15,041) $ 26.79 (104,112) $ 25.69
Forfeited or expired (3,800) $ 16.44 (2,093) $ 20.26 (500) $ 10.78

Outstanding, at end of year 83,331 $ 19.49 70,595 $ 18.44 54,729 $ 19.48

The weighted-average remaining recognition period of the outstanding restricted shares at June 2, 2012, was 2.45 years. The fair value on the 
dates of vesting for shares that vested during the twelve months ended June 2, 2012, was $0.2 million.
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Restricted Stock Units 
The company grants restricted stock units to certain key employees. This program provides that the actual number of restricted stock units 
awarded is based on the value of a portion of the participant's long-term incentive compensation divided by the fair value of the company's stock 
on the date of grant. In some years the awards have been partially tied to the company's financial performance for the year in which the grant 
was based. The awards generally cliff-vest after a three-year service period, with prorated vesting under certain circumstances and full or partial 
accelerated vesting upon retirement. Each restricted stock unit represents one equivalent share of the company's common stock to be awarded, 
free of restrictions, after the vesting period. Compensation expense related to these awards is recognized over the requisite service period, 
which includes any applicable performance period. Dividend equivalent awards are credited quarterly. The units do not entitle participants the 
rights of shareholders of common stock, such as voting rights until shares are issued after the vesting period.The following is a summary of 
restricted stock unit transactions for the fiscal years indicated. 

2012 2011 2010

Share 
Units

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value in
Millions

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term (Years)
Share 
Units

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value in
Millions

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term (Years)
Share 
Units

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value in
Millions

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term (Years)
Outstanding, at
beginning of year 285,101 $ 6.9 1.5 214,406 $ 4.0 1.2 147,811 $ 2.0 1.7

Granted 125,589 140,357 83,780
Forfeited (10,483) (4,704) (8,289)
Released (78,484) (64,958) (8,896)

Outstanding, at end of
year 321,723 $ 5.7 1.4 285,101 $ 6.9 1.5 214,406 $ 4.0 1.2
Ending vested +
expected to vest 308,645 $ 5.4 1.4 269,679 $ 6.6 1.5 201,266 $ 3.9 1.2

Performance Share Units 
The company has previously granted performance share units to certain key employees, none of which were granted prior to fiscal 2008. The 
number of units initially awarded was based on the value of a portion of the participant's long-term incentive compensation, divided by the fair 
value of the company's common stock on the date of grant. Each unit represents one equivalent share of the company's common stock. The 
number of common shares ultimately issued in connection with these performance share units is determined based on the company's financial 
performance over the related three-year service period. Compensation expense is determined based on the grant-date fair value and the number 
of common shares projected to be issued, and is recognized over the requisite service period. The following is a summary of performance share 
unit transactions for the fiscal years indicated.

2012 2011 2010

Share 
Units

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 
Value in 
Millions

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term (Years)
Share 
Units

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 
Value in 
Millions

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term (Years)
Share 
Units

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 
Value in 
Millions

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term (Years)

Outstanding, at
beginning of year 90,380 $ — 0.2 178,862 $ — 0.7 182,977 $ — 1.7

Granted — —   —  
Forfeited (90,380) (88,482)   (4,115)  

Outstanding, at end of
year — $ — — 90,380 $ — 0.2 178,862 $ — 0.7

Ending vested +
expected to vest — $ — — — $ — — — $ — —
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Deferred Compensation Plans
In 2008 the company discontinued use of the existing Non-qualified Deferred Compensation Plan for new contributions and established the 
Herman Miller, Inc. Executive Equalization Retirement Plan.

The Non-qualified Deferred Compensation Plan allowed selected employees to defer part or all of their executive incentive cash bonus payment 
each year. The company could make a matching contribution of 30 percent of the executive's contribution up to 50 percent of the deferred cash 
incentive bonus. The company's matching contribution vested at the rate of 33 1/3 percent annually. In accordance with the terms of the plan, 
the executive deferral and company matching contribution were placed in a “Rabbi” trust, which invested solely in the company's common stock. 
Rabbi trust arrangements offer the executive a degree of assurance for ultimate payment of benefits without causing constructive receipt for 
income tax purposes. Distributions to the executive from the Rabbi trust can only be made in the form of the company's common stock. The 
assets in the Rabbi trust remain subject to the claims of creditors of the company and are not the property of the executive and are, therefore, 
included as a separate component of stockholders' equity under the caption Key Executive Deferred Compensation. Shares associated with 
the Non-qualified Deferred Compensation Plan are included in the denominator for both basic and diluted EPS.

The Herman Miller, Inc. Executive Equalization Retirement Plan is a supplemental deferred compensation plan and was made available for 
salary deferrals and company contributions beginning in January 2008. The plan is available to a select group of management or highly 
compensated employees who are selected for participation by the Executive Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The plan 
allows participants to defer up to 50 percent of their base salary and up to 100 percent of their incentive cash bonus. Company contributions to 
the plan “mirror” the amounts the company would have contributed to the various qualified retirement plans had the employee's compensation 
not been above the IRS statutory ceiling ($250,000 in 2012). The company does not guarantee a rate of return for these funds. Instead, participants 
make investment elections for their deferrals and company contributions. Investment options are the same as those available under the Herman 
Miller Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plan except for company stock which is not an investment option under this plan. 

In accordance with the terms of the Executive Equalization Plan, the salary and bonus deferrals and company contributions have been placed 
in a Rabbi trust. The assets in the Rabbi trust remain subject to the claims of creditors of the company and are not the property of the participant 
and are, therefore, included as an asset on the company's balance sheet within the other assets line item. A liability of the same amount is 
recorded on the consolidated balance sheet within the other liabilities line item. Investment assets are classified as trading, and accordingly, 
realized and unrealized gains and losses are recognized within the company's consolidated statement of operations in the interest and other 
investment income line item. The associated changes to the liability are recorded as compensation expense within the selling, general and 
administrative line item within the company's consolidated statement of operations. The net effect of any change to the asset and corresponding 
liability is offset and has no impact on the statement of operations.

Director Fees 
Company directors may elect to receive their director fees in one or more of the following forms: cash, deferred compensation in the form of 
shares or other selected investment funds, unrestricted company stock at the market value at the date of election, or stock options that vest in 
one year and expire in ten years. The exercise price of the stock options granted may not be less than the market price of the company's common 
stock on the date of grant. Under the plan, the Board members received the following shares or options in the fiscal years indicated.

2012 2011 2010
Options —   —   8,957
Shares of common stock 18,119   7,464   18,735
Shares through the deferred compensation program 3,301   —   7,148



60     2012 Annual Report 

10. Income Taxes 

The components of earnings before income taxes are as follows. 

(In millions) 2012 2011 2010
Domestic $ 107.6   $ 93.4   $ 38.4
Foreign 11.9   9.1   (3.6)
Total $ 119.5   $ 102.5   $ 34.8

The provision (benefit) for income taxes consists of the following. 

(In millions) 2012 2011 2010
Current: Domestic - Federal $ 21.8   $ 1.4   $ 8.6

Domestic - State 2.0   0.8   0.8
Foreign 6.0   5.7   (0.2)

29.8   7.9   9.2
Deferred: Domestic - Federal 11.2 26.4 (2.6)

Domestic - State 1.4 1.4 (0.2)
Foreign 1.9 (4.0) 0.1

14.5 23.8 (2.7)
Total income tax provision $ 44.3   $ 31.7   $ 6.5

The following table represents a reconciliation of income taxes at the United States statutory rate with the effective tax rate as follows. 

(In millions) 2012 2011 2010

Income taxes computed at the United States Statutory rate of 35% $ 41.8   $ 35.8   $ 12.2
Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from:

Change in unrecognized tax benefits (0.2) (0.3) (4.9)
Foreign statutory rate differences (1.2) (1.6) 0.4
Manufacturing deduction under the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (2.9) (2.4) (1.2)
State taxes 3.0 1.8 0.5
Repatriated earnings and related foreign tax credits (0.2) (1.3) —
Other, net 4.0 (0.3) (0.5)

Income tax expense $ 44.3   $ 31.7   $ 6.5
Effective tax rate 37.1% 30.9% 18.8%

The company was granted a tax holiday from the Ningbo Economic and Technological Development Commission in China. This agreement 
provides, starting with the first year of cumulative profits, for the company to be taxed at a reduced rate for five years. The company's Ningbo, 
China operations started the first year of the tax holiday as of January 1, 2008.
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The tax effects and types of temporary differences that give rise to significant components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities at June 2, 2012 
and May 28, 2011, are as follows:

(In millions) 2012 2011
Deferred tax assets:  

Compensation-related accruals $ 14.6   $ 14.7
Accrued pension and post-retirement benefit obligations 19.1   19.9
Accrued health claims 0.1   —
Reserves for inventory 2.9   2.7
Reserves for uncollectible accounts and notes receivable 1.5   1.6
Other reserves and accruals 3.0 4.0
Warranty 7.4   5.5
State and local tax net operating loss carryforwards 3.7   4.0
Federal net operating loss carryforward 0.2   0.3
State credits 0.7   1.1
Foreign tax net operating loss carryforwards 7.1   8.1
Foreign tax credits 0.1   0.1
Other 4.4   5.8

Subtotal 64.8   67.8
Valuation allowance (10.3) (11.6)

Total $ 54.5 $ 56.2
 
Deferred tax liabilities:

Book basis in property in excess of tax basis $ (17.3) $ (19.4)
Intangible assets (21.0) (12.8)
Other (2.1) (1.1)

Total $ (40.4) $ (33.3)

The future tax benefits of net operating loss (NOL) carry-forwards and foreign tax credits are recognized to the extent that realization of these 
benefits is considered more likely than not. The company bases this determination on the expectation that related operations will be sufficiently 
profitable or various tax planning strategies will enable the company to utilize the NOL carry-forwards and/or foreign tax credits. To the extent 
that available evidence about the future raises doubt about the realization of these tax benefits, a valuation allowance is established.

At June 2, 2012, the company had state and local tax NOL carry-forwards of $58.8 million, the tax benefit of which is $3.7 million, which have 
various expiration periods from one to twenty-one years. The company also had state credits with a tax benefit of $0.7 million that expire in one 
to four years. For financial statement purposes, the NOL carry-forwards and state tax credits have been recognized as deferred tax assets, 
subject to a valuation allowance of $3.2 million.

At June 2, 2012, the company had a federal NOL carry-forward of $0.6 million, the tax benefit of which is $0.2 million, which expires in 16 years. 
For financial statement purposes, the NOL carry-forward has been recognized as a deferred tax asset.

At June 2, 2012, the company had foreign net operating loss carry-forwards of $26.4 million, the tax benefit of which is $7.1 million, which have 
expiration periods from one year to an unlimited term. The company also had foreign tax credits with a tax benefit of $0.1 million which expire 
in four to eight years. For financial statement purposes, NOL carry-forwards and foreign tax credits have been recognized as deferred tax assets, 
subject to a valuation allowance of $6.0 million. 

At June 2, 2012, the company had a foreign deferred asset related to financing costs of $4.4 million, the tax benefit of which is $1.1 million. For 
financial statement purposes, the asset has been recognized as a deferred tax asset, subject to a valuation allowance of $1.1 million.

The company has not provided for United States income taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries totaling approximately $46.7 
million. Recording deferred income taxes on these undistributed earnings is not required, because these earnings have been deemed to be 
permanently reinvested. these amounts would be subject to possible U.S. taxation only if remitted as dividends. The determination of the 
hypothetical amount of unrecognized deferred U.S. taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign entities is not practicable. 
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The components of the company's unrecognized tax benefits are as follows:

(In millions)
Balance at May 29, 2010 $ 2.1
Increases related to current year income tax positions 0.2
Increases related to prior year income tax positions 0.2
Decreases related to prior year income tax positions (0.6)
Decreases related to settlements (0.3)
Balance at May 28, 2011 1.6
Increases related to current year income tax positions 0.2
Increases related to prior year income tax positions —
Decreases related to prior year income tax positions (0.3)
Decreases related to settlements (0.2)
Balance at June 2, 2012 $ 1.3

The company's effective tax rate would have been affected by the unrecognized tax benefits had this amount been recognized as a reduction 
to income tax expense. 

The company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits through income tax expense in its Consolidated Statement 
of Operations. Interest and penalties and the related liability were as follows for the periods indicated:

(In millions) June 2, 2012 May 28, 2011 May 29, 2010
Interest and penalty expense (income) $ — $ (0.2) $ (0.3)

Liability for Interest and penalties $ 0.5 $ 0.5

The company is subject to periodic audits by domestic and foreign tax authorities. Currently, the company is undergoing routine periodic audits 
in both domestic and foreign tax jurisdictions. It is reasonably possible that the amounts of unrecognized tax benefits could change in the next 
12 months as a result of new positions that may be taken on income tax returns, settlement of tax positions and the closing of statutes of 
limitation. It is not expected that any of the changes will be material to the company's Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

During the year, the company has closed the audit of fiscal year 2011 with the Internal Revenue Service under the Compliance Assurance 
Process (CAP). For the majority of the remaining tax jurisdictions, the company is no longer subject to state and local, or non-U.S. income tax 
examinations by tax authorities for fiscal years before 2009.

11. Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The company's financial instruments consist of cash equivalents, marketable securities, accounts and notes receivable, deferred compensation 
plan, accounts payable, debt and foreign currency exchange contracts. The company's estimates of fair value for financial instruments, other 
than marketable securities, approximate their carrying amounts as of June 2, 2012 and May 28, 2011. The carrying value and fair value of the 
company's long-term debt, including current maturities, was as follows for the periods indicated:

(In millions) June 2, 2012 May 28, 2011
Carrying value $ 250.0 $ 250.0
Fair value $ 278.5 $ 270.5

The following describes the methods the company uses to estimate the fair value of financial assets and liabilities, of which there have been 
no significant changes in the current period:

Available-for-sale securities — The company's available-for-sale marketable securities primarily include asset-backed debt securities and 
corporate debt securities and are valued using quoted prices for similar securities.
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Foreign currency exchange contracts — The company's foreign currency exchange contracts are valued using an approach based on foreign 
currency exchange rates obtained from active markets. The estimated fair value of forward currency exchange contracts is based on month-
end spot rates as adjusted by market-based current activity.

Deferred compensation plan assets — The company's deferred compensation plan assets primarily include domestic equity large cap and 
lifestyle mutual funds and are valued using quoted prices for similar securities.

The following tables set forth financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets and the 
respective pricing levels to which the fair value measurements are classified within the fair value hierarchy as of June 2, 2012 and May 28, 2011:

(In millions) Fair Value Measurements
June 2, 2012 May 28, 2011

Financial Assets

Quoted Prices With Other 
Observable Inputs

(Level 2)

Quoted Prices With Other 
Observable Inputs

(Level 2)
Available-for-sale marketable securities:

Asset-backed securities $ 0.2 $ 2.3
Corporate debt securities 2.7 3.6
Government obligations 3.2 1.1
Mortgage-backed securities 3.5 4.0

Foreign currency forward contracts 0.1 0.7
Deferred compensation plan 3.5 2.6
Total $ 13.2 $ 14.3

Financial Liabilities
Foreign currency forward contracts $ — $ 0.3
Total $ — $ 0.3

The following is a summary of the carrying and market values of the company's marketable securities as of the dates indicated. 

June 2, 2012

(In millions) Cost
Unrealized

Gain
Unrealized

Loss Market Value
Asset-backed securities $ 0.2   $ —   $ —   $ 0.2
Corporate debt securities 2.7   —   —   2.7
Government obligations 3.4 0.1 — 3.5
Mortgage-backed securities 3.2   —   — 3.2
Total $ 9.5   $ 0.1   $ — $ 9.6

May 28, 2011

(In millions) Cost
Unrealized

Gain
Unrealized

Loss Market Value
Asset-backed securities $ 2.3   $ —   $ —   $ 2.3
Corporate debt securities 3.6   —   —   3.6
Government obligations 1.1 — — 1.1
Mortgage-backed securities 3.9   0.1   — 4.0
Total $ 10.9   $ 0.1   $ — $ 11.0

The company does not hold any Level 3 financial instruments. 
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Maturities of debt securities included in marketable securities as of June 2, 2012, are as follows:

(In millions) Cost
Market
Value

Due within one year $ 1.5 $ 1.5
Due after one year through five years 8.0 8.1
Due after five years through ten years — —
Total $ 9.5 $ 9.6

There were no investments in unrealized loss positions as of June 2, 2012.

12. Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information 

The following table presents the adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities. 

(In millions) 2012 2011 2010

Depreciation expense $ 34.4 $ 36.2 $ 39.7
Amortization expense 2.8 2.9 2.9
Provision for losses on accounts receivable and notes
receivable 1.6 0.1 5.5
Provision for (gain) loss on financial guarantees — — 0.2

Loss on sales of property, equipment, and other assets 0.9 1.0 0.2
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) 14.5 23.8 (2.7)
Pension expense 8.8 13.1 12.0
Restructuring and impairment expense 5.4 3.0 16.7
Contingent consideration income — (15.0) (5.7)
Stock-based compensation 6.0 4.8 4.4
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation 0.1 (0.1) 0.5
Proceeds from death benefits on cash surrender value of life 
insurance — — 4.8
Other changes in long-term liabilities (66.5) (36.0) (13.3)
Other (1.9) — 0.8
Changes in current assets and liabilities:

Decrease (increase) in assets:
Accounts receivable 17.5 (48.5) 9.0
Inventories 0.2 (8.3) (7.1)
Prepaid expenses and other 2.7 (14.5) 23.6

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable 4.8 14.3 13.5
Accrued liabilities (16.4) 41.4 (34.6)

Total changes in current assets and liabilities 8.8 (15.6) 4.4
Total adjustments $ 14.9 $ 18.2 $ 70.4

13. Warranties, Guarantees, and Contingencies 

Product Warranties
The company provides warranty coverage to the end-user for parts and labor on products sold. The standard length of warranty is 12 years, 
however, this varies depending on the product classification. The company does not sell or otherwise issue warranties or warranty extensions 
as stand-alone products. Reserves have been established for various costs associated with the company's warranty program. General warranty 
reserves are based on historical claims experience and other currently available information and are periodically adjusted for business levels 
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and other factors. Specific reserves are established once an issue is identified with the amounts for such reserves based on the estimated cost 
of correction. Changes in the warranty reserve for the stated periods were as follows:

(In millions) 2012 2011
Accrual balance, beginning $ 17.0 $ 16.0
Accrual for warranty matters 27.8 14.5
Settlements and adjustments (22.6) (13.5)
Accrual balance, ending $ 22.2 $ 17.0

Other Guarantees 
The company is periodically required to provide performance bonds in order to conduct business with certain customers. These arrangements 
are common and generally have terms ranging between one and three years. The bonds are required to provide assurances to customers that 
the products and services they have purchased will be installed and/or provided properly and without damage to their facilities. The performance 
bonds are provided by various bonding agencies and the company is ultimately liable for claims that may occur against them. As of June 2, 2012, 
the company had a maximum financial exposure related to performance bonds of approximately $12.1 million. The company has no history of 
claims, nor is it aware of circumstances that would require it to perform under any of these arrangements and believes that the resolution of any 
claims that might arise in the future, either individually or in the aggregate, would not materially affect the company's financial statements. 
Accordingly, no liability has been recorded as of June 2, 2012 and May 28, 2011.

The company periodically enters into agreements in the normal course of business that may include indemnification clauses regarding patent/
trademark infringement and service losses. Service losses represent all direct or consequential loss, liability, damages, costs and expenses 
incurred by the customer or others resulting from services rendered by the company, the dealer, or certain sub-contractors due to a proven 
negligent act. The company has no history of claims, nor is it aware of circumstances that would require it to perform under these arrangements 
and believes that the resolution of any claims that might arise in the future, either individually or in the aggregate, would not materially affect 
the company's financial statements. Accordingly, no liability has been recorded as of June 2, 2012 and May 28, 2011.

The company has entered into standby letter of credit arrangements for the purpose of protecting various insurance companies against default 
on the payment of certain premiums and claims. A majority of these arrangements are related to the company's wholly-owned captive insurance 
company. As of June 2, 2012, the company had a maximum financial exposure from these insurance-related standby letters of credit of 
approximately $9.7 million. The company has no history of claims, nor is it aware of circumstances that would require it to perform under any 
of these arrangements and believes that the resolution of any claims that might arise in the future, either individually or in the aggregate, would 
not materially affect the company's financial statements. Accordingly, no liability has been recorded as of June 2, 2012 and May 28, 2011.

Contingencies 
The company leases a facility in the United Kingdom under an agreement that expired in June 2011, and the company is currently leasing the 
facility on a month to month basis. Under the terms of the lease, the company is required to perform the maintenance and repairs necessary to 
address the general dilapidation of the facility over the lease term. The ultimate cost of this provision to the company is dependent on a number 
of factors including, but not limited to, the future use of the facility by the lessor and whether the company chooses and is permitted to renew 
the lease term. The company has estimated the cost of these maintenance and repairs to be between $0 and $3 million, depending on the 
outcome of future plans and negotiations. Based on existing circumstances, it is estimated that these costs will most likely approximate $1.2 
million, as of June 2, 2012, and was estimated to be $1.3 million as of May 28, 2011. As a result, these amounts have been recorded as a liability 
reflected under the caption “Accrued Liabilities” and "Other Liabilities" for fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011, respectively in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets. 

The company has a lease obligation in the U.K. until May 2014 for a facility that it has exited. Current market rates for comparable office space 
are lower than the rental payments owed under the lease agreement, as such, the company would remain liable to pay the difference if it were 
subleased. As a result, the estimated liability of $1.1 million and $1.7 million is reflected under the caption “Other Liabilities” in the Condensed 
Consolidated Balance Sheets at June 2, 2012 and May 28, 2011, respectively. 

The company is also involved in legal proceedings and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, the 
outcome of such proceedings and litigation currently pending will not materially affect the company's Consolidated Financial Statements.
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14. Operating Segments 

During the first quarter of fiscal 2012, the company undertook an organizational realignment whereby products sold related to the consumer 
retail business, the Herman Miller Collection, and Geiger became the responsibility of one segment manager reporting to the chief operating 
decision maker. The realignment of these businesses has resulted in a new Specialty and Consumer segment. As a result, the reportable 
segments now consist of North American Furniture Solutions, Non-North American Furniture Solutions, and Specialty and Consumer. Prior year 
results have been revised to reflect this change. 

The North American Furniture Solutions reportable segment includes the operations associated with the design, manufacture, and sale of 
furniture products for work-related settings, including office, education, and healthcare environments, throughout the United States and Canada. 
The North American Furniture Solutions reportable segment is the aggregation of two operating segments in accordance with ASC 280-10-50-10 
through 11. In addition, the company has determined that both operating segments within the North American Furniture Solutions reportable 
segment each represent reporting units.

The Non-North American Furniture Solutions reportable segment includes the operations associated with the design, manufacture, and sale of 
furniture products, primarily for work-related settings for Mexico and outside of North America. 

The Specialty and Consumer reportable segment includes the operations associated with the design, manufacture, and sale of high-end furniture 
products including Geiger wood products, Herman Miller Collection products and the North American consumer retail business. 

The company also reports a “Corporate” category consisting primarily of startup business and unallocated corporate expenses including 
restructuring and impairment expenses.

The performance of the operating segments is evaluated by the company's management using various financial measures. The following is a 
summary of certain key financial measures for the respective fiscal years indicated:
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(In millions) 2012 2011 2010

Net Sales:
North American Furniture Solutions $ 1,218.5   $ 1,224.8   $ 989.7
Non-North American Furniture Solutions 347.3   290.4   222.7
Specialty and Consumer 158.3 134.0 105.9
Corporate —   —   0.5
Total $ 1,724.1   $ 1,649.2   $ 1,318.8

Depreciation and Amortization:
North American Furniture Solutions $ 31.7   $ 34.2   $ 36.2
Non-North American Furniture Solutions 3.7   3.1   2.8
Specialty and Consumer 1.8 1.8 2.1
Corporate —   —   1.5
Total $ 37.2   $ 39.1   $ 42.6

Operating Earnings (Losses):
North American Furniture Solutions $ 96.9   $ 99.4   $ 75.8
Non-North American Furniture Solutions 32.1   18.8   (0.2)
Specialty and Consumer 15.1 10.7 5.5
Corporate (6.5) (5.6) (27.5)
Total $ 137.6   $ 123.3   $ 53.6

Capital Expenditures:
North American Furniture Solutions $ 20.3   $ 25.9   $ 20.6
Non-North American Furniture Solutions 3.3   4.4   0.8
Specialty and Consumer 4.9 0.2 0.9
Corporate —   —   —
Total $ 28.5   $ 30.5   $ 22.3

Total Assets:
North American Furniture Solutions $ 578.5   $ 612.5   $ 602.5
Non-North American Furniture Solutions 202.4   142.5   125.6
Specialty and Consumer 56.5 53.0 41.9
Corporate —   —   0.6
Total $ 837.4   $ 808.0   $ 770.6

Goodwill:
North American Furniture Solutions $ 104.9 $ 104.3 $ 104.4
Non-North American Furniture Solutions 38.8 6.1 5.0
Specialty and Consumer (1) 1.0 — —
Corporate — — —
Total $ 144.7 $ 110.4 $ 109.4

(1) In the first quarter of fiscal 2012, the company changed its reportable segments as noted above. As a result of the 2012 change in 
reportable segments, goodwill was reclassified from North America to Specialty and Consumer based on a relative fair value analysis. 

The accounting policies of the reportable operating segments are the same as those of the company. Additionally, the company employs a 
methodology for allocating corporate costs and assets with the underlying objective of this methodology being to allocate corporate costs 
according to the relative usage of the underlying resources and to allocate corporate assets according to the relative expected benefit. The 
company has determined that allocation based on relative net sales is most appropriate for all expenses. The majority of corporate costs are 
allocated to the operating segments; however, certain costs generally considered the result of isolated business decisions are not subject to 
allocation and are evaluated separately from the rest of the regular ongoing business operations. For example, restructuring and impairment 
expenses that are reflected in operating earnings are allocated to the “Corporate” category. 

The restructuring and asset impairment charges of $5.4 million, $3.0 million, and $16.7 million in fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010, 
respectively are discussed in Note 15 of the Consolidated Financial Statements and were allocated to the “Corporate” category.
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The company's product offerings consist primarily of office furniture systems, seating, freestanding furniture, storage and casegoods. These 
product offerings are marketed, distributed, and managed primarily as a group of similar products on an overall portfolio basis. The following is 
a summary of net sales by product category for the respective fiscal years indicated. Given that formal product line information is not available 
for the company as a whole, this summary is intended to represent a reasonable estimate of net sales by product category based on the best 
information available.

(In millions) 2012 2011 2010
Net Sales:

Systems $ 474.4   $ 482.0   $ 384.1
Seating 630.5   454.0   381.5
Freestanding and storage 395.2   461.5   367.8
Other (1) 224.0   251.7   185.4

Total $ 1,724.1   $ 1,649.2   $ 1,318.8

(1) “Other” primarily consists of miscellaneous or otherwise uncategorized product sales and service sales. 
 
Sales by geographic area are based on the location of the customer. Long-lived assets consist of long-term assets of the company, excluding 
financial instruments, deferred tax assets, and long-term intangibles. The following is a summary of geographic information for the respective 
fiscal years indicated. Individual foreign country information is not provided as none of the individual foreign countries in which the company 
operates are considered material for separate disclosure based on quantitative and qualitative considerations. 

(In millions) 2012 2011 2010
Net Sales:

United States $ 1,271.9   $ 1,265.9   $ 1,028.7
  International 452.2   383.3   290.1
Total $ 1,724.1   $ 1,649.2   $ 1,318.8

(In millions) 2012 2011 2010
Long-lived assets:

United States $ 146.4   $ 151.6   $ 159.7
  International 18.1   24.0   21.6
Total $ 164.5   $ 175.6   $ 181.3

It is estimated that no single dealer accounted for more than 4 percent of the company's net sales in the fiscal year ended June 2, 2012. It is 
also estimated that the largest single end-user customer, the U.S. federal government, accounted for approximately $164 million or 9.5 percent 
of the company's fiscal 2012 net sales within the North American Furniture Solutions reportable segment. The 10 largest customers accounted 
for approximately 22 percent of net sales. 

Approximately 8 percent  of the company's employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements, most of whom are employees of its 
Nemschoff, and Herman Miller Limited (U.K.) subsidiaries. 
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15. Restructuring Charges 

Manufacturing Consolidation Plan
In May and June 2009, the company announced a plan (“the Manufacturing Consolidation Plan”) to consolidate manufacturing operations with 
the closure of its Integrated Metal Technologies (IMT) subsidiary in Spring Lake, Michigan and Brandrud facility in Auburn, Washington. Under 
this plan for the IMT closure, the company retained existing West Michigan production capacity and enhanced operational efficiency, with the 
majority of work and equipment move to other newer, larger facilities in the area. Relocation began during the first quarter of fiscal 2010, with 
final closure completed in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010. For the Brandrud closure, the company further consolidated manufacturing operations 
with the transfer of substantially all of the manufacturing capabilities of Brandrud to its Nemschoff manufacturing plants. The Plan was completed 
during fiscal 2012.

2010 Plan
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, the company executed a restructuring plan (“the 2010 Plan”) that reduced operating expenses in order 
to improve operating performance, profitability and further enhance productivity. This Plan reduced our salaried workforce, primarily in North 
America, by approximately 70 employees. The Plan was completed during fiscal 2012.

2012 Plan
In May 2012, the company announced a plan ("The 2012 Plan") to consolidate the Nemschoff manufacturing operations in Sheboygan, Wisconsin 
with the closure of the Sioux City, Iowa seating plant. The 2012 plan also includes the consolidation of the Sheboygan manufacturing sites into 
one location. This plan will reduce fixed costs and operating expenses in order to improve operating performance, profitability and further enhance 
productivity. This Plan will reduce our workforce in North America, by approximately 70 employees. The company anticipates it will incur an 
additional $1.5 million in restructuring expense during future periods for the 2012 Plan.
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The following is a summary of changes in restructuring accruals during fiscal 2010, fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2012 for the Manufacturing Consolidation 
Plan, the 2010 Plan and the 2012 Plan.

Manufacturing Consolidation Plan

(In millions) Total Plan Costs

Severance and
Outplacement

Costs
Leased Building

Exit Costs
Balance as of May 30, 2009 $ — $ — $ —
Restructuring expenses 9.7 5.3 4.4
Cash payments (5.9) (3.4) (2.5)
Adjustments (1.2) (0.4) (0.8)
Balance as of May 29, 2010 2.6 1.5 1.1
Restructuring expenses 0.9 0.2 0.7
Cash payments (3.0) (1.7) (1.3)
Balance as of May 28, 2011 0.5 — 0.5
Restructuring expenses — — —
Cash payments (0.5) — (0.5)
Balance as of June 2, 2012 $ — $ — $ —

2010 Action Plan Total Plan Costs

Severance and
Outplacement

Costs
Leased Building

Exit Costs
Balance as of May 30, 2009 $ — $ — $ —
Restructuring expenses 3.2 2.9 0.3
Cash payments (0.1) (0.1) —
Balance as of May 29, 2010 3.1 2.8 0.3
Restructuring expenses 2.1 1.5 0.6
Cash payments (4.5) (4.1) (0.4)
Adjustments (0.2) 0.1 (0.3)
Balance as of May 28, 2011 0.5 0.3 0.2
Cash payments — — —
Adjustments (0.5) (0.3) (0.2)
Balance as of June 2, 2012 $ — $ — $ —

2012 Action Plan Total Plan Costs

Severance and
Outplacement
Costs

Building
Impairment Costs

Balance as of May 28, 2011 $ — $ — $ —
Restructuring and impairment expenses 1.6 0.2 1.4
Cash payments (0.1) — (0.1)
Adjustments (1.3) — (1.3)
Balance as of June 2, 2012 $ 0.2 $ 0.2 $ —

In addition to the restructuring expenses noted above, the company recorded an impairment of certain assets for fiscal 2010 and fiscal 2012 
totaling $2.5 million and $3.8 million, respectively. These assets were related to products and trade names that we determined had no future 
revenue stream to the company. 

These charges have been reflected separately as restructuring expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Refer to Note 14 of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the Plan's impact on the company's reportable operating segments. 
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16. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Set forth below is a summary of the quarterly operating results on a consolidated basis for the years ended June 2, 2012,  May 28, 2011, and 
May 29, 2010.

(In millions, except per share data) First Quarter
Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

2012 Net sales (1) $ 458.1   $ 445.6 $ 399.8 $ 420.7
Gross margin (1) 154.3   152.1 134.2 150.1
Net earnings (1) 24.6   23.7 14.9 11.9
Earnings per share-basic (1) 0.42   0.41 0.26 0.21
Earnings per share-diluted 0.42   0.41 0.26 0.20

2011 Net sales $ 380.7   $ 412.2   $ 414.8 $ 441.5
Gross margin 123.6   135.8   133.0 145.7
Net earnings (1) 16.1   17.9   19.8 17.1
Earnings per share-basic 0.28   0.31   0.35 0.30
Earnings per share-diluted (1) 0.22   0.26   0.29 0.30

2010 Net sales $ 324.0   $ 343.7   $ 329.6 $ 321.5
Gross margin 107.5   110.8   104.8 105.4
Net earnings (1) 8.4   9.6   8.3 2.1
Earnings per share-basic 0.15   0.17   0.15 0.04
Earnings per share-diluted 0.14   0.17   0.12 —

(1) The sum of the quarters does not equal the annual balance reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Operations due to rounding 
associated with the calculations on an individual quarter basis. 
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Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Herman Miller, Inc. 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Exchange Act 
Rule 13a-15(f). The internal control over financial reporting at Herman Miller, Inc., is designed to provide reasonable assurance to our stakeholders 
that the financial statements of the company fairly represent its financial condition and results of operations. 

Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted 
an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of June 2, 2012, based on the framework in Internal Control 
— Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, our 
management believes the company's internal control over financial reporting was effective as of June 2, 2012. 

Ernst & Young LLP has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, which appears on page 
73. 

/s/ Brian C. Walker 
Brian C. Walker
Chief Executive Officer 

/s/ Gregory J. Bylsma 
Gregory J. Bylsma
Chief Financial Officer 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Herman Miller, Inc. 

We have audited Herman Miller Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of June 2, 2012, based on criteria established in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Herman Miller, 
Inc.'s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness 
of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was 
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk 
that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, 
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis 
for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A 
company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, 
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Herman Miller, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of June 2, 2012, based 
on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the fiscal 2012 
consolidated financial statements of Herman Miller, Inc., and our report dated July 31, 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Grand Rapids, Michigan 
July 31, 2012



74     2012 Annual Report 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Financial Statements
 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Herman Miller, Inc. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Herman Miller, Inc. as of June 2, 2012 and May 28, 2011, and the related 
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three fiscal years in the period ended June 2, 2012. 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An 
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Herman 
Miller, Inc. at June 2, 2012 and May 28, 2011, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three fiscal 
years in the period ended June 2, 2012, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Herman Miller, 
Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of June 2, 2012, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated July 31, 2012 expressed an unqualified 
opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Grand Rapids, Michigan 
July 31, 2012
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Item 9 CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

As defined in Item 304 of Regulation S-K, there have been no changes in, or disagreements with, accountants during the 24-month period ended 
June 2, 2012. 

Item 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Under the supervision and with the participation of management, the company's Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of the company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) as of June 2, 2012, and have concluded that as of that date, the company's disclosure 
controls and procedures were effective. 

(b) Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and Attestation Report of the Independent Registered 
Public Accounting Firm. Refer to Item 8 for “Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.” The effectiveness  
of the company's internal control over financial reporting has been audited by Ernst and Young LLP, and independent registered 
accounting firm, as stated in its report included in Item 8. 

(c) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. There were no changes in the company's internal control over financial reporting 
during the fourth quarter ended June 2, 2012, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal 
control over financial reporting. 

Item 9B OTHER INFORMATION - None
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PART III

Item 10 DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Directors, Executive Officers, Promoters and Control Persons 

Information relating to directors and director nominees of the registrant is contained under the caption “Director and Executive Officer Information” 
in the company's definitive Proxy Statement, relating to the company's 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, and the information within that 
section is incorporated by reference. Information relating to Executive Officers of the company is included in Part I hereof entitled “Executive 
Officers of the Registrant.” 

Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act 

Information relating to compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act is contained under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership 
Reporting Compliance” in the company's definitive Proxy Statement, relating to the company's 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, and the 
information within that section is incorporated by reference. 

Code of Ethics 

The company has adopted a Code of Conduct that serves as the code of ethics for the executive officers and senior financial officers and as 
the code of business conduct for all directors and employees of the registrant. This code is made available free of charge through the “Investors” 
section of the company's internet website at www.hermanmiller.com. Any amendments to, or waivers from, a provision of this code also will be 
posted to the company's internet website. 

Corporate Governance 

Information relating to the identification of the audit committee, audit committee financial expert, and director nomination procedures of the 
registrant is contained under the captions “Board Committees” and “Corporate Governance and Board Matters — Director Nominations” in the 
company's definitive Proxy Statement, relating to the company's 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, and the information within these sections 
is incorporated by reference. 

Item 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information relating to management remuneration is contained under the captions “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Summary 
Compensation Table,” “Grants of Plan-Based Awards,” “Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End,” “Option Exercises and Stock Vested,” 
“Pension Benefits,” “Nonqualified Deferred Compensation,” “Potential Payments Upon Termination, Death, Disability, Retirement or Change in 
Control,” “Director Compensation,” “Director Compensation Table,” and “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” in the 
company's definitive Proxy Statement, relating to the company's 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, and the information within these sections 
is incorporated by reference. The information under the caption “Compensation Committee Report” is incorporated by reference, however, such 
information is not deemed filed with the Commission. 

Item 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER 
MATTERS

The sections entitled “Voting Securities and Principal Stockholders,” “Director and Executive Officer Information,” and “Equity Compensation 
Plan Information” in the definitive Proxy Statement, relating to the company's 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, and the information within 
these sections is incorporated by reference. 

Item 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information concerning certain relationships and related transactions contained under the captions “Related Person Transactions,” and “Corporate 
Governance and Board Matters — Determination of Independence of Board Members” in the definitive Proxy Statement, relating to the company's 
2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and the information within these sections is incorporated by reference. 
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Item 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information concerning the payments to our principal accountants and the services provided by our principal accounting firm set forth under the 
caption “Disclosure of Fees Paid to Independent Auditors” in the Definitive Proxy Statement, relating to the company's 2012 Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders, and the information within that section is incorporated by reference. 
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PART IV

Item 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

(a) The following documents are filed as a part of this report:

1. Financial Statements

The following Consolidated Financial Statements of the company are included in this Form 10-K on the pages noted:

Page Number in
this Form 10-K

Consolidated Statements of Operations
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedule

The following financial statement schedule and related Report of Independent Public Accountants on the Financial Statement Schedule 
are included in this Form 10-K on the pages noted:

Page Number in
this Form 10-K

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Financial Statement Schedule
 

Schedule II- Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves for the Years Ended June 2, 2012, 
May 28, 2011, and May 29, 2010

All other schedules required by Form 10-K Annual Report have been omitted because they were not applicable, included in the Notes 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements, or otherwise not required under instructions contained in Regulation S-X.

3. Exhibits

Reference is made to the Exhibit Index which is included on pages 82-84.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

HERMAN MILLER, INC.

 
/s/ Brian C. Walker and /s/ Gregory J. Bylsma

By Brian C. Walker
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Duly Authorized Signatory for Registrant)

  Gregory J. Bylsma
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer and Duly Authorized 
Signatory for Registrant)

Date:  July 31, 2012   

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below on, July 31, 2012 by the following 
persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities indicated. Each Director of the Registrant, whose signature appears below, hereby appoints 
Brian C. Walker as his attorney-in-fact, to sign in his or her name and on his or her behalf, as a Director of the Registrant, and to file with the 
Commission any and all amendments to this Report on Form 10-K.

 /s/ Michael A. Volkema /s/ Lisa Kro
Michael A. Volkema
(Chairman of the Board)

Lisa Kro 
(Director)

/s/ David O. Ulrich /s/ Mary Vermeer Andringa
David O. Ulrich
(Director)

Mary Vermeer Andringa
(Director)

/s/ Dorothy A. Terrell /s/ James R. Kackley
Dorothy A. Terrell
(Director)

James R. Kackley
(Director)

/s/ David A. Brandon /s/ John R. Hoke III
David A. Brandon
(Director)

John R. Hoke III
(Director)

/s/ Douglas D. French /s/ Brian C. Walker
Douglas D. French
(Director)

Brian C. Walker
(President, Chief Executive Officer, and 
Director)

/s/ J. Barry Griswell
J. Barry Griswell
(Director)
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Financial Statement Schedule 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Herman Miller, Inc. 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Herman Miller, Inc. and subsidiaries as of June 2, 2012 and May 28, 2011, and for 
each of the three fiscal years in the period ended June 2, 2012, and have issued our report thereon dated July 31, 2012 (included elsewhere 
in this Form 10-K). Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in Item 15(a) of this Form 10-K. This schedule is the 
responsibility of the company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion based on our audits.

In our opinion, the financial statement schedule referred to above, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a 
whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Grand Rapids, Michigan
July 31, 2012 
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SCHEDULE II — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS 
(In millions)

Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E

Description
Balance at

beginning of period

Charges to
expenses or net

sales Deductions (3)
Balance at

end of period
Year ended June 2, 2012:    

Accounts receivable allowances — 
uncollectible accounts(1) $ 4.1   $ 1.6 $ (1.6) $ 4.1
 
Accounts Receivable allowances — credit 
memo(2) $ 0.4   $ — $ (0.1) $ 0.3
 

Allowance for possible losses on notes
receivable $ 0.3   $ — $ (0.1) $ 0.2
 

Valuation allowance for deferred tax asset $ 11.6   $ (0.7) $ (0.6) $ 10.3
 
Year ended May 28, 2011:    

Accounts receivable allowances — 
uncollectible accounts(1) $ 4.0   $ 0.1 $ — $ 4.1
 
Accounts Receivable allowances — credit 
memo(2) $ 0.4   $ 0.3 $ (0.3) $ 0.4
 

Allowance for possible losses on notes
receivable $ 0.4   $ — $ (0.1) $ 0.3
 

Valuation allowance for deferred tax asset $ 11.0   $ 1.8 $ (1.2) $ 11.6
 
Year ended May 29, 2010:

Accounts receivable allowances — 
uncollectible accounts(1) $ 6.9   $ 0.3 $ (3.2) $ 4.0
 
Accounts receivable allowances — credit 
memo (2) $ 0.4   $ 2.5 $ (2.5) $ 0.4
 

Allowance for possible losses on notes
receivable $ 0.5   $ 2.0 $ (2.1) $ 0.4
 

Valuation allowance for deferred tax asset $ 9.2   $ 2.0 $ (0.2) $ 11.0
(1) Activity under the “Charges to expense or net sales” column are recorded within selling, general and administrative expenses. 
(2) Activity under the “Charges to expenses or net sales” column are recorded within net sales. 
(3) Represents amounts written off, net of recoveries and other adjustments. Includes effects of foreign translation. 
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EXHIBIT INDEX 

  (3) Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws

(a) Articles of Incorporation are incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3(a) and 3(b) of the Registrant's 1986 Form 10-K
Annual Report.

(b) Certificate of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation, dated October 15, 1987, is incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 3(b) of the Registrant's 1988 Form 10-K Annual Report.

(c) Certificate of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation, dated May 10, 1988, is incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 3(c) of the Registrant's 1988 Form 10-K Annual Report.

(d) Amended and Restated Bylaws, dated April 18, 2011, are incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant's 
Form 10-K dated July 26, 2011.

  (4) Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holders

(a) Specimen copy of Herman Miller, Inc., common stock is incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4(a) of Registrant's
1981 Form 10-K Annual Report.

(b) Other instruments which define the rights of holders of long-term debt individually represent debt of less than 10% of
total assets. In accordance with item 601(b)(4)(iii)(A) of regulation S-K, the Registrant agrees to furnish to the
Commission copies of such agreements upon request.

(c) Dividend Reinvestment Plan for Shareholders of Herman Miller, Inc., dated January 6, 1997, is incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 4(d) of the Registrant's 1997 Form 10-K Annual Report.

(d) Note purchase agreement dated as of December 18, 2007 is incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 of the
Registrant's Form 10-Q Quarterly Report for quarter ended December 1, 2007.

  (10) Material Contracts

(a) Officers' Supplemental Retirement Income Plan is incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10(f) of the Registrant's 1986
Form 10-K Annual Report. *

(b) Officers' Salary Continuation Plan is incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10(g) of the Registrant's 1982 Form 10-K
Annual Report.*
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(c) Form of Herman Miller, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award, is incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant's Form 10-Q Quarterly Report for quarter ended September 3, 2011. *

(d) Herman Miller, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan as amended, effective January 1, 2005, is incorporated by reference
from Exhibit 10.2 of the Registrants Form 10-Q Quarterly Report for quarter ended September 3, 2011. *

(e) Herman Miller, Inc. Amended and Restated Nonemployee Officer and Director Deferred Compensation Stock
Purchase Plan, is incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.3 of the Registrant's Form 10-Q Quarterly Report for
quarter ended September 3, 2011. *

(f) Form of Change in Control Agreement of the Registrant, is incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 of the
Registrant's Form 10-K dated July 26, 2011.

(g) Herman Miller, Inc. Amended and Restated Key Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, dated January 23, 2006, is
incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.4 of the Registrant's Form 10-Q Quarterly Report for quarter ended
September 3, 2011. *

(h) Herman Miller, Inc. Executive Equalization Retirement Plan is incorporated by reference from Exhibit 99.1 of the
Registrant's Form 8-K dated July 25, 2007.*

(i) Herman Miller, Inc. Executive Incentive Cash Bonus Plan dated April 24, 2006 is incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 10.5 of the Registrant's Form 10-Q Quarterly Report for quarter ended September 3, 2011. *

(j) Second Amended and Restated Credit agreement dated as of November 18, 2011 among Herman Miller, Inc. and
various lenders, is incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant's Form 8-K dated November 18, 2011.

(k) Form of Herman Miller, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan Stock Option Agreement is incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 99.1 of the Registrant's Form 8-K dated July 24, 2008. *

(l) Form of Herman Miller, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan Performance Share Award is incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 99.2 of the Registrant's Form 8-K dated July 24, 2008. *

(m) Form of Herman Miller, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan Stock Option Agreement is incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant's Form 10-K dated July 27, 2010. *

(n) Form of Herman Miller, Inc., Long-Term Incentive Plan Stock Option Agreement is incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 99.1 of the Registrants Form 8-K dated July 23, 2012.*

(o) Form of Herman Miller, Inc., Long-Term Incentive Restrictive Stock Unit Award is incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 99.2 of the Registrants Form 8-K dated July 23, 2012.*

(p) Form of Herman Miller, Inc., Long-Term Incentive Performance Stock Unit EBITDA Award is incorporated by reference
from Exhibit 99.3 of the Registrants Form 8-K dated July 23, 2012.*

* denotes compensatory plan or arrangement.
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  (21) Subsidiaries

  (23)(a) Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

  (24) Power of Attorney (Included in Item 15)

  (31)(a) Certificate of the Chief Executive Officer of Herman Miller, Inc., pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

  (31)(b) Certificate of the Chief Financial Officer of Herman Miller, Inc., pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

  (32)(a) Certificate of the Chief Executive Officer of Herman Miller, Inc., pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

  (32)(b) Certificate of the Chief Financial Officer of Herman Miller, Inc., pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

  101.INS XBRL Instance Document**

  101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document**

  101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document**

  101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document**

  101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document**

  101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document**

**In accordance with Regulation S-T, the XBRL-related information in Exhibit 101 shall be deemed “furnished” and not “filed” under 
sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933 and/or under section 18 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, and otherwise is 
not subject to liability under these sections. 
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